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To our Shareholders:

During 2006 we reached new milestones for the NMP22® BladderChek® Test; sales of the test in 2036
exceeded those attained in 2005 by 31%. In addition, a number of articles appeared in leading medical
journals recommending the use of the test, and there was growing acceptance of using it in screening high risk

individuals, mecluding firefighters, for bladder cancer.

In mid-2006, we re-focused our U.S. marketing and sales teams on a new strategy: driving the use of the
NMP22 BladderChek Test in urclogist practices with high volume potential — customers that we call HUB
accounts. In uddition, we expanded sales in the gynecology market in Germany. During the year, we also
strengthened our sales organization with the addition of David Kolasinski, V.P. Sales, as well as organizing our
U.S. sales force into three areas, each managed by an experienced diagnostic industry veteran. The result: we
achieved reccrd levels of sales of the NMP22 BladderChek Test in the fourth quarter. Our plan is to build

upon these successes in 2007,

In 2006, the NMP22 BladderChek Test was featured in the Journal of the American Medical Association
(JAMA) for the second time in less than a year. An article in the American Cancer Society’s journal Cancer
reported on the potential cost-effectiveness of the NMP22 BladderChek Test in screening high risk individuals,
noting that the test could save lives and reduce overall medical expenses. All other cancer screening programs
save lives but increase expenses. In studies presented at the May 2006 American Urological Association
(AUA) annual meeting, clinical investigators recommended the test be included in standard practice for

diagnosing and monitoring bladder cancer.

During the year, communities in a number of states conducted testing programs for individuals at risk for
bladder cancer, including firefighters, using the NMP22 BladderChek Test. These included communities in
Colorado, Wisconsin, Texas, California, Arizona, Massachusetts, New York, and Rhode Island. The majority
of these programs were locally generated, resulting from the increasing awareness of bladder cancer high risk
groups and tte convenience of testing with the NMP22 BladderChek Test.

Another emerging trend is the filing of legislation at the state level providing for the routine testing of
firefighters, vho have an increased risk for bladder cancer. Legislation is pending in Rhode Island, Florida,

Massachusetts, and New York.

Other noteworthy business activities were our agreements with Inverness Medical Innovations, Inc., a
leading manufacturer and supplier of rapid diagnostic products for the consumer and professional markets. In
November 2C06 we signed an agreement with Inverness for the manufacture of the NMP22 BladderChek Test.
In addition tc. manufacturing, Inverness became the exclusive U.S. distributor of the NMP22 BladderChel: Test
to be sold through over-the-counter {OTC) retail channels. Inverness and Matritech are collaborating to assess
the market opporiunity, with a goal of submitting a regulatory filing secking FDA approval to distribute and
sell the NMP22 BladderChek Test as a non-prescription or OTC product.

We are continuing to look for additional strategic opportunities and partners. The recognition and
adoption of the NMP22 BladderChek Test by urologists in the United States and by both urologists and



OB/GYNs in Germany has been encouraging. We expect that both of these factors will continue in 2007. It is
our goal to expand the NMP22 BladderChek Test into the U.S. primary care market and we are in discussions
with potential strategic partners.

Since the founding of the company, our corporate mission has been to develop superior cancer detection
products using our proprietary NMP technotogy. Our goal has not changed — help save lives by detecting
cancer early. While the NMP22 BladderChek Test has been the principal driver of our business, we are
continuing work on our breast cancer detection program and our partner, Sysmex Corporation, is continuing its

development of an automated cervical cancer detection system incorporating our NMP179® technology.

The addition of three new directors (two in January 2007) increased the depth and expertise of our Board
of Directors. Joining the Board were Bruce Lehman, co-founder and CEO of LehmanMillet, Incorporated,
David Musket, president of Musket Research Associates, Inc., Robert J. Rosenthal, Ph.D., president, chief

executive officer and a member of the board of directors of Magellan Biosciences, Inc.

We are proud of the progress we have made and remain optimistic about the future prospects for the
NMP22 BladderChek Test.

We value the loyalty of our shareholders and appreciate your support.

Sincerely,
it A0 27
Stephen D. Chubb David L. Corbet

Chairman and CEQ President and COO
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
Overview

Matritech, Inc. is a biotechnology company principally engaged in the development, manufacture,
marketing, distribution and licensing of cancer diagnostic technologies and products. We are focused primarily
on the early detection of various types of cancer because treatment options may be greater and/or more
successful and treatment costs may be lower when tumors are detected in their early stages. Our revenues are
derived primarily from product sales.

The products we have developed are based on our proprietary nuclear matrix protein (“NMP") technology.
The nuclear matrix, a three-dimensional protein framework within the nucleus of cells, plays a fundamental
role in determining cell type by physically organizing the contents of the nucleus, including DNA. We focus
our research on finding differences in the types and amounts of proteins found in the tissue, blood and urine
of patients with and without cancer. We design our products to detect these differences and to provide
medically useful information to physicians throughout their screening, diagnosis and treatment activities.

Our first two products, the NMP22! Test Kit and NMP22 BladderChek Test, sales of which represent
approximately 91% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, are designed to detect the
presence of a specific protein marker in urine correlated with the presence of bladder cancer. On four separate
occasions, the Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) has approved one of these products for detecting
the recurrence of or aiding in the initial diagnosis of bladder cancer. Our sales of the NMP22 BladderChek
Test are concentrated in the United States and Germany, where our own sales forces sell the NMP22
BladderChek Test directly to prescribing physicians. The NMP22 Test Kit is sold to clinical laboratories by
distributors and by our sales force in Germany.

We have discovered other proteins associated with cervical, breast, prostate, and colon cancer. Sysmex
Corporation has licensed our NMP179 technology for use in an automated cervical cancer detection system it
is developing. Our goal is to utilize these other protein markers to develop, through our own research staff and
through strategic alliances, clinical applications to detect other forms of cancer. Our internal research and
development resources are currently focused on our NMP66 program to develop a blood-based test for breast
cancer. Our German subsidiary, Matritech GmbH, also sells allergy and other diagnostic products manufactured
by others.

Cancer Diagnostic Market

The principal role of a diagnostic product is to provide information that physicians or patients find useful
in managing a patient’s health. Whether testing urine, blood, tissue or the entire body, the resulis of a
diagnostic product or procedure include information that may assist physicians in making a diagnosis or in
guiding therapeutic choices. The products of our own research and development are intended to indicate the
elevated risks of cancer at early stages when treatment options may be greater and/or more successful and
treatment costs may be lower.

The size of cancer diagnostic markets can be measured at two different levels: the patient or insurer
payments for test results generated by diagnostic products (the “Patient Market”) and the payments made by
physicians or laboratories for the diagnostic products themselves (the “Product Market”). Generally laborato-
ries and physicians performing tests in their offices receive patient or insurer payments in the Patient Market
and buy the products needed to perform these tests from device manufacturers such as Matritech. In the United
States, we estimate that the current size of the Patient Market for urine and blood testing for bladder, prostate,
and colon cancer exceeds $1.5 billion per year, the Patient Market for breast cancer mammograms exceeds

T NMP22%, NMP179%®, BladderChek® and Matritech® are registered trademarks and NMP66™ is a trade-
mark of Mairitech, Inc. All other trademarks, service marks or trade names used in this report are the property
of their respective owners.




$2 billion per year and the Patient Market for cervical cancer testing exceeds $1.5 billion per year. We also
believe that th: Patient Market for these tests in the rest of the world is roughly equal to that of the United
States. For a Fatient Market, the cancer testing products used to perform the service can cost as little as 1C%
to more than 0% of the patient payment or insurer reimbursement for such service. As a result, we estimate
that the worldwide potential Product Market for blood, urine and cervical cellular testing for bladder, cervical,
breast, prostate: and colon cancer testing could exceed 31 billion.

We recenly signed a distribution agreement with Inverness Medical Innovations, Inc. (“Inverness”)
whereby we appointed Inverness as our exclusive distributor for the non-prescription, over-the-counter
(*OTC™), sale of our NMP22 BladderChek Test in the United States. We expect to collaborate with Invernuss
in assessing the market opportunity, with a goal of submifting a regulatory filing seeking approval from the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FIDA™) to distribute and sell this test as a non-prescription or OTC test,
If we are successful in securing FDA approval, we would be able, through our distributor, to reach the Patient
Market directly.

Cancer Diagnostic Product Development
Medical Inc'ications — the Medically Useful Information

The medizal diagnostics market covers more medical activities than just the diagnosis of disease. The
cancer diagnostics market, for example, is composed of several overlapping categories, each corresponding to
a different stage in the identification and management of cancer. The major categories include screening,
diagnosing, steging, selecting therapies, monitoring and evaluating prognosis. The three for which our
currently deve oped technotogies and products are best suited are screening, diagnosis and monitoring.

Screening: Cancer screening tests and procedures are used to identify asymptomatic disease in individ-
uals who may (or may not) have risk factors for the disease, but who have no specific evidence of the disease.
Screening tests. such as mammograms for breast cancer, Prostate Specific Antigen (“PSA™} tests for prostate
cancer and Pap smears for cervical cancer are widely used but do not yield a final diagnosis.

Instead they prompt a physician to perform additional tests and procedures in order to make a diagnosis.

Diagnosis:  While a definitive diagnosis of cancer is usually made after microscopic examination of the
suspected cancerous cells by a specially trained physician, numerous tests may be used to indicate the
presence and/cr location of disease even though cancer specific cells cannot be immediately identified.

Monitoring: Following diagnosis and treatment, additional tests can be used to monitor the course of the
disease and the patient’s response 1o treatment. These monitoring tests may be repeated at regular intervals
(often every three months) and may be continued for the life of an individual in order to detect possible
recurrence of cancer. In addition, monitoring tests are also used to evaluate a patient’s prognosis and to selzct
appropriate therapy. Patients identified as having a high risk of recurrence will be monitored more closely und
may receive more aggressive treatment.

In the United States, blood-based or urine-based cancer detection assays have generally been approved by
the FDA for monitoring patients with known history of disease. Only two such protein marker tests have been
approved for use in detecting cancer in previously undiagnosed individuals — the PSA test for prostate cancer
and our NMP22 test for bladder cancer.

The considerations that influence the design of our products are the clinical data needs of physicians and
the formats most useful for delfivering information to physicians in practice. The nuclear matrix protein based
products we have developed and have under development ourselves or through our strategic partners utilize
three different formats:

+ Point-Of-Care Tests — our NMP22 BladderChek Test works like a home pregnancy test and is
principzlly sold directly to physicians. As mentioned in our discussion of our agreement with Inverness,
we embarked on a course of action which, if successful, may lead to the sale of our NMP22
BladderChek Test directly to consumers;




* Lab Test Kits — our NMP22 Test Kit consists of reagents and components sold to medical laboratories,
and are used to perform testing procedures using patient specimens pursuant to a physician’s order; and

» Cellular Analysis Systems — complex medical instruments that examine cells both visually and
biologically.

We believe that our technology could also be incorporated in a Proprietary Laboratory Procedure, which
would provide diagnostic information much like a Lab Test Kit. Each of these is described more fully in
Technology — Product and Service Formats.

Summary of Matritech’s Preduct Development Programs

The following table summarizes some of the important aspects of each of our product development
programs. The information in the table is qualified by the more expansive and detailed sections following the

table.
Principal FDA
FDA Approved Major
Technology Clinical Stage of Review Competitive Commercialization
Program Format Application Development Status Products(1) Arrangements(2)
NMP22 Lab Test Kit Monitoring Commercialized Approved UroVysion (1) Matritech direct
Bladder (1996) marketing — Germany
(2) Wampole Laboratories —
U.S. — Distributor
NMP22 Lab Test Kit Diagnosis Commercialized Approved UroVysion (1) Matritech direct
Bladder (2000} marketing — Germany
(2) Wampole Laboratories ——
U.S. — Distributor
(3) Kenica Minolta — Japan —
Distributor
NMP22 BladderChek Monitoring Commercialized Cleared BTA Stat (1) Matritech direct
Bladder Point-Of-Care (2002) marketing — U.S. and Germany
Test (2) Distributors — Other
Territories
NMP22 BladderChek Diagnosis Commercialized Approved None (1) Matritech direct
Bladder Point-Of-Care (2003) marketing — U.S. and Germany
Test (2) Medical and Biological
Laboratories — Japan
(3) Other Distributors — Other
Territories
NMP22 BladderChek Over-the- Investigation * Not None (1) Inverness Medical
Bladder Point-of-Care Counter of market submitted Innovations, Inc. — U.S.
Test Non- opportunity
prescription
NMPI79 Automated  Screening Sysmex, * Not Imaging Directed (1) Sysmex — World —
Cervical Cellular our licensee. submitted Cytology™ Manufacturer and Marketer for
Analysis is conducting {Cytyc) Non-Slide-Based System
System further Focal Point™
pre-clinical Slide Verifier
trials (TriPath Imaging)
NMP66 To be Not Research and  * ** Mammography, (}) Mitsubishi Kagaku
Breast determined  Determined Development  Not TRUQUANT®BR RIA Iastron, — Japan
submitted CA27.29, CAI5.3
NMP48 To be Not Deferred * Not PSA None
Prostate determined  Determined submitted




Principal FDA

FDA Approved Major
Te :hnology Clinical Stage of Review Competitive Commercialization
Program l'ormat Application Development Status Products(1) Arrangements(2)
NMP33 Non: Not Inactive * k% CEA, CA199 None
Colon Determined Not
submitted

*  If submitied for a screening or diagnosis application, FDA will require Premarket Approval (“PMA”"). If
submittec| as a monitoring test, FDA may only require Premarket Clearance (“510(k)”).

#* If offered (as intended) as a service, a FDA submission may not be required. If the service includes a
reagent sich as an antibody provided by a party other than the laboratory conducting the test, the FDA will
likely recuire an Analyte Specific Reagent notification at a minimum.

(1) Each competitive product may compete for use in each indication for our NMP products, not simply those
specifically listed in a category. Those listed for each category represent the competitive products most
directly comparable in technology or clinical use for the given indication.

(2) Distributors not listed under major commercialization arrangements have paid less than $50,000 in ugfront
fees, do 1ot have cumulative sales in excess of $500,000 and do not have rights other than those of a con-
ventional distributor.

Technology -— Nuclear Matrix Protein Markers

The nuc,ear matrix, a three-dimensional protein framework within the nucleus of cells, helps organize
active genes in the nucleus, In this way, the nuclear matrix plays a fundamental role in determining cell t/pe
and cell funciion. Although the specific mechanisms of action are not yet fully understood, our scientists and
independent scientists have demonstrated that there are differences in the types and amounts of nuclear matrix
proteins found in cancerous and normal tissues and also among different types of normal cells. These
differences cieate opportunities to develop tests which may be correlated with cancer for a certain organ or
type of tissue, thus providing greater information to physicians and patients. Independent academic investiga-
tors have reported, in papers published in scientific journals, the cell type specificity of nuclear matrix proteins
specific to bane, kidney, prostate, breast and colon cancer tissues. We have also demonstrated that cell death,
including cell death related to early tumor development, results in the release of nuclear matrix proteins into
bodily fluids. As a result. elevated levels of certain nuclear matrix proteins have been found in the bodily
fluids of cancer patients. We are not aware of any other cancer protein, or class of proteins, which exhibit this
level of clinical specificity and sensitivity.

We licensed our original nuclear matrix protein technology exclusively from the Massachusetts Institute
of Technology (“MIT™) and most of these licensed patents expired in 2006. We do not believe the expiration
of those licensed patents will have any significant impact on our current product line or programs under
development. In the last nine years, we have made additional discoveries related to nuclear matrix proteins and
other useful proteins and have obtained |4 additional U.S. patents which expire on various dates ranging {Tom
2011 to 2020 U.S. patents relating to our NMP22 product line have scheduled expiration dates through 2015.

Mass spectrometry has been an important tool for discovering potentiaily vuseful diagnostic proteins. Mass
spectrometry (both research mass spectrometry and high-throughput mass spectrometry) aclivates proteins
(both nuclear matrix proteins and others) from a specially prepared serum or urine sample and detects the
molecular weight of those proteins present by measuring the time it takes for them to reach a detector in ihe
instrument, This technology enables us to characterize useful proteins by their molecular weight and then
begin the pro:ess of identifying and isolating them and developing antibodies to the most useful of those
identified.

Developing products from promising proteins {nuclear matrix proteins as well as others) discovered using
our original tvo-dimensional gel procedure and, more recently, mass spectrometry has invariably involved
serious reproclucibility problems. In our early history, independent research scientists using the methods
disclosed in cur patents and two-dimensional gels reported different cancer-related nuclear matrix proteins.
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than our own scientists, In recent years, we, as well as other scientists using the procedures and equipment
provided by mass spectrometry manufacturers, have generated different test results than earlier stage research.
We are continuing efforts to prepare samples according to a reproducible and controlled protocol because we
believe this is a critical technical step required to eliminate substances which may interfere with the detection
of targeted proteins and the utility of mass spectrometry data reports. We believe that our experience in
reducing variability and making reproducible, controlled tests and test protocels is an important strength.
However, as has been the case in the development of all our products, we expect to encounter technical
challenges during product development that we will need to overcome in order to achieve the reproducibility
needed to provide medically useful products.

Medically useful products derive their value from the medical or clinical utility of the information
generated, not from their technology base or their performance in discovery research. Therefore, while we
must base our research programs on the data we have generated during discovery research, our physician
customers will base their leng-term purchasing decisions on the clinical information provided by our products
and whether that information helps them make medical decisions.

One of the most important roles of the FDA is to require manufacturers like us to conduct reproducible
and controiled clinical trials to demonstrate that our products generate information which is, among other
things, limited in variability from one lab to another and likely 10 be of value to physicians. While minimally
invasive laboratory tests like ours can reduce the need for more invasive or expensive procedures, the
information they provide, just like that from the more expensive and invasive tests, is not perfect.

Ideally, the results from any medical test should be both sensitive and specific. Clinical sensitivity refers
to the percentage of cases in which the assay correctly identifies the presence of disease. Clinical specificity
refers to the percentage of cases in which the assay correctly identifies the absence of disease. Clinical
sensitivity and specificity percentages reported from FDA applications as well as other studies and trials may
not be directly comparable, as results may be affected by laboratory-to-laboratory variation, differences in
specimen handling, the number of subjects studied, variability in the stages of disease present in the subject
population and the demographic composition of the subject population, among other factors. Nonetheless, the
data described above (not the data reported during our discovery phase) are the only basis upon which
physicians can initially appraise the clinical value of a test.

However, it should also be understood that there is no “gold standard” with regard to such information,
and the perceived value of this clinical information (even if generated by an FDA-approved study protocol) is
likely to differ from physician to physician and must ultimately be judged useful by the physician himself or
herself (not by the FDA) to have long term use in his or her practice.

Technology — Product and Service Formats

Each “product” or “service” format for our technology provides testing technology at a modest cost that
can be used on blood, urine or other specimens obtained with minimal invasion into the body. These tests are
generally less expensive and involve less patient discomfort than other invasive procedures for detecting and
managing cancer, such as biopsy, surgery, bone scans and other in vivo imaging procedures. As discussed
below, each test format vses our technology in different ways to generate useful information.

Product Formats

Point-Of-Care Tests, such as our NMP22 BladderChek Test for bladder cancer, generally are sold for use
in a physician’s office by personnel who are not required to be licensed to perform laboratory tests. Qur
point-of-care Test is similar to qualitative urine-based pregnancy test devices and blood-based glucose test
strips sold in pharmacies, however our NMP22 BladderChek Test is currently sold for use only by, or on the
order of, physicians. Our point-of-care test generates the highest revenue per test for us, and enables physicians
to earn money each time they perform a test.

We recently signed a distribution agreement with Inverness appointing [nverness as our exclusive
distributor for the non-prescription, OTC sale of our NMP22 BladderChek Test in the United States. We
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expect to col aborate with Inverness in assessing the market opportunity, with a goal of submitting a regulatory
filing seeking: approval from the FDA to distribute and sell our test as a non-prescription or OTC test. If we
are successful ar securing FDA approval, we would be able to reach patients directly in addition to selling our
products to physicians or laboratories.

Lab Tes. Kits, such as our NMP22 Test Kit, are generally sold for use in appropriately licensed clinical
laboratories cr doctors’ office laboratories to perform lab testing services, These laboratories perform a service,
only upon a treating physician’s request, using our products to test patient specimens. After testing, the
laboratory provides test results from the Lab Test Kit to the treating physician in a written report. In the U.S,,
until 2003 when we began to market and sell our NMP22 BladderChek Test, the principal product format for
delivering ou: bladder cancer technology was the NMP22 Test Kit. Our revenue per test for NMP22 Test Kits
is less than for cur NMP22 BladderChek Tests, but the laboratory using our product reaches treating
physicians who are required to or prefer to send their specimens to an outside lab facility, thus creating an
additional merket for us.

Cellular Analysis Systems, such as the cervical cancer system under development by Sysmex, employ our
technologies o identify markers such as the NMP179 protein in cells. We expect the Sysmex system will
utilize imagir.g analysis techniques to detect abnormal cells by examining thousands of cells in a short period
of time (“flow cytometry™) and will include NMP179 technology to detect abnormal cell proteins indicating
the presence of cancerous or precancerous conditions. If aberrations from normal are found, the cells will be
further examined visually by a pathologist to make the actual diagnosis of disease. Systems like these rely on
reagents as a critical component to enhance instrument performance. If Sysmex is successful in commercial-
izing its system, we will receive a royalty on the NMP179 reagents they sell to users of their systems.

Service Format

Proprietery Laboratory Procedures, which is a format we may use in certain settings to introduce our
breast cancer and prostate cancer technologies, are laboratory analytical procedures custom designed to the
instrumentation and techniques of a specific clinical laboratory to measure clinically useful proteins.
Proprietary Liboratory Procedures are likely to be confined to a limited number of licensed clinical
laboratories, which would be expected to invest in the development and marketing of a lab testing service
specific to their equipment, processes and personnel. If we develop this procedure in compliance with
appropriate regulations, we may not require FDA approval of the Proprietary Laboratory Procedures prior to
launch. We dv not expect these Proprietary Laboratory Procedures to be profitable for us, but instead we may
use these Prorietary Laboratory Procedures to help us gain early market exposure and to enable physicians
and laboratories to gain preliminary clinical experience with our technologies prior to our introducing Lat Test
Kits or point-of-care Tests.

After we develop a product or service we validate the information it generates in one or more clinical
trials. These :ctivities are designed to confirm the most appropriate and useful ways to use the data generated
by our products and services to help physicians diagnose and manage disease. As indicated by our NMP22
products, diffizrent clinical applications require different FDA approvals. While our NMP22 technology has
demonstrated an ability to generate information useful in more than one indication, the demonstrated success
in one indication will not necessarily ensure success in another, The differences in the proteins we are working
with combined with the variability in the disease we are targeting and the performance of other diagnostic
technologies make the process of developing a commercially viable product or service subject to numerous
uncertainties ‘which can only be overcome by large, successful clinical trial studies. For most products or
services, we intend to develop a claim for aiding in the diagnosis of the disease for patients who have no prior
history of the disease and a claim for monitoring the course of the disease. The order in which these claims
are developed may be different for each product.




Commercial Products
NMP22 Bladder Cancer Program

Our first program to reach commercialization is a product line of diagnostic devices to detect bladder
cancer, This program employs discoveries made by our scientists that detect the presence of a protein and its
fragments (which we refer to as NMP22} in the urine of bladder cancer patients which are generally present at
much lower levels or absent from the urine of individuals who are disease free.

Bladder cancer has the 3™ highest prevalence and the 4™ highest incidence in U.S. males — levels that
we believe are not recognized by individuals at risk. New cases of bladder cancer are almost as common in
men as colon cancer, and occur in:

* Males — 4 times greater occurrence than females
* Older people — over 97% of initial diagnoses occur in individuals over the age of 40;
* Smokers — are twice as likely as non-smokers to develop the disease; and

* Certain occupations — firefighters, truck drivers, petrochemical and rubber workers, hairdressers,
painters and textile workers are among those at higher risk due to exposure to toxic fumes and
substances

Our NMP22 program has created two complementary products designed to detect bladder cancer — the
point-of-care NMP22 BladderChek Test (“NMP22 BladderChek Test™) and our NMP22 Test Kit (“NMP22
Test Kit") — each of which has been approved by the FDA to provide medically useful information for both
diagnosing and monitoring bladder cancer.

We have directed our selling efforts to the United States and Germany because we believe those countries
provide major revenue opportunities for us in four different, but related categories of patient needs.

Screening At-Risk

Monitoring Patients  Diagnosing Patients  Evaluating Patients Asymptomalic
Patient Calegory with Cancer with Symptoms with Symptoms Individuals(i)
Physician Focus . .. ............ Urologist Urologist PCF + ObGyn PCP + ObGyn
Estimated Number of Patients .. ... 750,000(2) 2,000,000(3) 5,000,000(3) 20,000,000(4}
Estimated Available Market :

Opportunity(5) .. ............ $33,000.000(6) $33,000,000 $  83.000.000 $ 330.000,000

(1) Additional regulatory approval not likely to be required in Germany, but may be required in the U.S. for
us to promote this application

{2) Based on prevalence of 499,000 patients in the U.S. (2002 NCI-SEER data) and an estimated
250,000 patients in Germany {derived by us from incidence data reported by Robert Koch Institute in
2004)

{3) Based on our estimates

(4) Based on our estimates including estimates of the population of male smokers over the age of 40

(5) Based on projected average pricing of NMP22 BladderChek Test in United States and Germany
(6) Our estimate based on American Urological Association monitoring guidelines

Urologist Market

To accelerate product adoption of our NMP22 BladderChek Test in the United States and Germany, we
have established our own sales forces which have been principally focused on selling the product directly to
urologists. This direct selling activity to urologists began in Germany in the summer of 2001 and in the United
States in November, 2003. The NMP22 BladderChek Test is sold to urologists and can be performed in the
doctor’s office during patient visits, This test generates income for the urologist from the patient or the
patients’ insurer. Our NMP22 Test Kit, which is sold by cur sales force in Germany and by distributors in the
United States and elsewhere, is distributed principally to clinical laboratories. These laboratories perform our
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proprietary bladder cancer detection test pursuant to a physician's order and they are typically the sole
recipient of any reimbursement provided by the patient or the patient’s insurer.

Results f:om clinical trials are an important way to demonstrate the performance and clinical utility of a
new diagnosti> test to physicians. In one clinical study reported in the Journal of the American Medical
Association “TAMA”, urologists evaluating patients with no previous history of bladder cancer performed an
invasive cystoscopy exam as well as our noninvasive NMP22 BladderChek Test and detected over 90% of ail
cases of bladder cancer, including virtually all invasive, life-threatening cases. In a second clinical trial also
reported in JAMA, urologists monitoring patients for recurrence of disease reported that the combination of
cystoscopy and NMP22 BladderChek Test detected significantly more cancers (99%) than cystoscopy alone. In
over 40 preseutations and peer-reviewed papers, urologists have reported NMP22 products to be accurate,
convenient and inexpensive tests that, when used with other detection and monitoring methods, improve
patient management. Further, some of these papers reported that our NMP22 products can reduce costs and
identify patierts with cancer which was missed during the cystoscopic examination.

Primary Car: Market

As our NMP22 products become more widely accepted by urologists, we believe that their growing use
will influence vse of the NMP22 BladderChek Test by gynecologists and primary care physicians. Qur early
experience in the German marketplace has demonstrated that German gynecologists have an interest in a test
providing bettzr cancer detection, particularly for those individuals with traditional bladder cancer symptoins
such as microscopic blood in the urine (also known as microscopic hematuria) and risk factors such as a
history of smcking, dangerous occupations or other factors. We estimate that over 20 million people in
Germany and the United Srates have microscopic hematuria each year. The American Urological Association
recommends txat an appropriate renal or urologic evaluation be performed in all patients with microscopic
hematuria who are at risk for urologic disease or primary renal disease. We believe that such an evaluation
could include a urine-based test using one of our NMP22 products and if so, that this application could
represent a major marketing opportunity for us. We began selling the NMP22 BladderChek Test to gynecol-
ogists in Germany during the summer of 2005 and increased our sales 1o them in 2006. We conducted a pilot
program to sell the test to family practice physicians in Germany. Our goal is to begin a program to market
the NMP22 B adderChek Test to gynecologists and/or family practice physicians in the U.S. in 2007.

Other Private and Public Sector Markets

Firefighters, truck drivers, petrochemical workers and others are at an increased risk for bladder cancer
due to the toxic materials to which they are exposed in the course of their work. In 1999, the Michigan
Environmental Science Board reporied that the incidence of bladder cancer in firefighters is more than twice
as high as in ron-firefighters. A number of states already recognize that firefighter disability and mortality are
caused by occupational exposure to carcinogens and have passed laws providing funds to address these
problems. Oth:r legislative proposals for firefighter testing are pending in Rhode Island, New York and
Florida.

It is widely recognized that other workers such as truck drivers, petrochemical and rubber workers,
hairdressers, painters, and textile workers are among those at elevated risk of bladder cancer due to exposure
to toxic substances during the course of their employment. We believe that industrial or government testing of
people employed in these at-risk occupations is a potential source of growth for NMP22 products.

Point-of-Care NMP22 BladderChek Test. 92% of our NMP22 product sales in the fourth quarter of
2006 came from our NMP22 BladderChek Test. In this point-of-care format, the reagents that identify the
NMP22 marker are configured in a device similar to a urine-based home pregnancy test and detect the NMP22
marker in paticnt urine specimens. Because the device delivers a test result in about 30 minutes, physicians or
the staff in their offices can perform the NMP22 BiadderChek Test during a patient’s visit. 1In addition, in
contrast to laboratory testing, the physician earns income by using the product to provide medical information
{a test result) which is paid for by patients or their insurers.
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Approach to Market: In the United States and Germany we sell our NMP22 BladderChek Test directly
to physicians. We began selling directly to physicians in Germany in 2001 and began selling directly to
physicians in the United States in November 2003. We recently signed a distribution agreement with Inverness
whereby we appointed Inverness as our exclusive distributor for the non-prescription, QTC sale of our NMP22
BladderChek Test in the United States. We expect to collaborate with Inverness in assessing the market
opportunity, with a goal of submitting a regulatory filing seeking approval from the FDA to distribute and sell
this test as a non-prescription or OTC test. If we are successful in securing FDA approval, we would be able
to reach patients directly in addition to selling our products to physicians or laboratories.

In Germany the cost of our NMP22 BladderChek Test is not reimbursed by the national or regional health
plans but is instead paid for directly by private supplemental insurance that some people carry (or, in some
instances, by the patient). In the United States, the NMP22 BladderChek Test is reimbursed by all 50 state
Medicare insurers and, we believe, by a majority of private insurers.

We have NMP22 BladderChek Test distribution agreements in certain other parts of the world.

NMP22 Test Kit for Bladder Cancer. Our first product, the NMP22 Test Kit for bladder cancer, uses
our proprietary reagents to detect the NMP22 marker in a semi-automated 96-well microtiter plate formart used
by licensed clinical laboratories to test urine specimens. Excluding the time to transport the specimen to the
lab and the time to deliver the test report to the physician, the test provides a completed result in about four
hours, With the NMP22 Test Kit, the laboratories typically receive a fee directly from the patient or his
msurer.

Approach to Market: Currently, Wampole Laboratories, Inc. (“Wampole™), a subsidiary of Inverness,
sells the NMP22 Test Kit in the United States and our German subsidiary sells the NMP22 Test Kit directly to
hospital, clinic and physician office laboratories in Germany and to distributors in other parts of Europe.

In Germany, the cost of diagnostic test services using our NMP22 Test is not reimbursed by national or
regional health plans, but is instead paid for directly by private supplemental insurance that some people carry
(or, in some instances, by the patient). In the United States, such cost is reimbursed by all 50 state Medicare
insurers and, we believe, by a majority of the private insurers.

We have several NMP22 Test Kit product distribution arrangements in certain other parts of the world.

Fully-Automated Format of NMP22 Test Kir:  In 2001, we entered into an eight-year, non-exciusive
product supply and marketing agreement with Diagnostic Products Corporation (“DPC”) (NYSE:DP) enabling
DPC to develop and market an automated format of our NMP22 Test Kit. We terminated this agreement
effective December 31, 2005.

Other Commercial Diagnostic Products.

Our German subsidiary distributes allergy and other diagnostic testing products for several primary
manufacturers. Until September 30, 2005, the most significant of these distribution agreements was an eight
year agreement with Hitachi Chemical Diagnostics (“Hitachi”). In 2005 we provided notice of non-renewal of
the Hitachi agreement and after its effective date of termination, our German subsidiary began selling
competing allergy products manufactured by another company. We expect sales of these allergy products by
our German subsidiary to continue for at least the remainder of 2007.

Research and Pevelopment Programs

Our primary research focus is on the identification of proteins in the body which are associated with or
created by cancerous processes and which, when measured, can provide useful medical information to
physicians. Previously, our research focused on discovering the characteristics of these substances using low-
throughput research mass spectrometry. Because the cost of research mass spectrometry technology was
determined to be too high to create commercially viable products or services, in the last three years we have
focused our research on applying high-throughput mass spectrometry methods to measure the proteins
characterized as clinical candidates during discovery research and to improving the controls and reproducibility
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of our mass spectrometry technology. In addition, since 2003, we have been working on programs to adapt
immunoassay based technology to measure these proteins, particularly NMP66 proteins.

Cervical Cancer Program (NMP179)

QOur scieatists have identified a nuclear matrix protein associated with cervical cancer and cervical
precancerous conditions {(“NMP179"). Traditional cervical cancer testing (often referred to as “Pap smear™
testing) uses specialized medical technologists (“cytotechnologists” or “cytotechs™) to analyze cervical cells
visually using; a microscope and to refer to pathologists those specimens needing further examination to
diagnose disease. Our NMP179 technology was developed to reduce the time and increase the accuracy of
identifying those cervical cells which need further visual inspection by a pathologist. We conducted three
preclinical studies comparing the accuracy of Pap smear testing using this protein to testing without it.

Approaci to Market:  In 2002, we granted an exclusive worldwide license for the use of our NMP179
technology for automated, non-slide-based laboratory instruments to Sysmex Corporation (“Sysmex"). As a
part of this transaction, Sysmex purchased shares of our common stock at a premium, agreed to pay us
milestone payments based on reaching certain research and product development goals, committed to make
minimum quarterly payments to support our research, contracted to purchase all NMP179 reagents from us
and pay us a oyalty on all reagent sales related to their cervical cancer screening system.

Sysmex :s developing new systems which will automate the process of screening cervical cell specimens
(currently dore by cytotechs using a microscope) by combining our NMP179 technology with Sysmex’s
expertise in flow cytometry, image analysis and laboratory automation. Sysmex believes that this automation
will reduce cytotech errors and reduce the overall cost of screening cervical specimens. In the spring of 2004,
Sysmex commenced pre-clinical trials in Europe of their new cellular analysis system incorporating our
NMP179 technology. Following completion of clinical trials, we expect Sysmex will file an FDA submission
for a Class Il device subject to a premarket approval (“PMA™) regulatory process. Sysmex has indicated that
its goal is to introduce this product to the market in the U.S. and Europe.,

Breast Cancer Prbgram (NMP66)

In 1999, our scientists, using a research configured, low-throughput mass spectrometer instrument
(“research mass spectromeiry”), discovered some characteristics of a distinct set of proteins (“NMP667) in the
blood of breastt cancer patients that were generally not present in the blood of women without known breast
malignancy. V/e believe that measurement of certain NMP66 proteins and/or nucleic acids associated with the
NMP66 protein complex may enable physicians to obtain breast cancer diagnostic information that is mor:
accurate than the blood testing services that are currently available and could complement and supplement
mammographv. Our current development goal is to complete sample preparation and testing methods including
high-throughput mass spectrometers, reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (“RT-PCR™) and conven-
tional immuncassay techniques that will be more reproducible, controlled and cost effective than the research
methods used to make the initial discovery. During 2006, we found that some immunoassays we developed
were sensitive, others were specific but no one assay achieved acceptable levels of both. Qur scientists are
now testing acditional existing antibody pairs as well as developing new antibodies targeted to portions of the
NMP66 comp ex and other nuclear matrix proteins and their fragments which have been selected because they
may be more highly correlated with breast cancer than the previous targets, After appropriate targets are
identified and verified, our goal is to begin clinical trials for a submission to the FDA.,

Approach to Market: We have entered into an agreement with Mitsubishi Kagaku Iastron, Inc, (“MKI")
whereby they or their designees will serve as our Japanese clinical laboratory partner for further validation of
our NMP66 technology and development of a Proprietary Laboratory Procedure using some of the technology
described in the preceding paragraph. Pursuant to this agreement we may negotiate with MKI for distribution
rights for the l'apanese market for products and services incorporating the NMP66 technology. We may enter
into an agreement with U.S. clinical laboratory if and when our Proprietary Laboratory Procedure has been
optimized.

11




We have collected over 800 blood specimens according to an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”)-
approved protocol for use in generating reproducible and controlled clinical data. Like all blood-based research
specimens we hold, these specimens have been stored in freezers at -80 degrees Celsius since they were
collected and are available for immediate evaluation as soon as appropriate tests are developed. We believe
these specimens will be suitable for use as part of our submission to the FDA for regulatory approval.

Prostate Cancer Program (NMP48}

In 1999, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Alan Partin, M.D., Ph.D., Professor of Urology
at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, to develop an improved, blood-based prostate cancer test.
During 1999, our scientists, using a research mass spectrometer, discovered some characteristics of a distinct
set of proteins (“NMP48"} in the blood of prostate cancer patients that were generally not present in the blood
of individuals without known prostate malignancy.

We have collected over 600 blood specimens according to an IRB-approved protocol for use in generating
reproducible and controlled clinical data prior to launching a Proprietary Laboratory Procedure. We believe
that these specimens will be suitable for use as part of our submission to the FDA for regulatory approval.

Beginning in 2004, we chose to focus virtually all our research and development resources on our
NMP66 program and deferred further development of our NMP48 technology. We do not yet have any
distribution arrangements for potential Lab Test Kits or point-of-care Tests using our NMP48 technology. If a
test for prostate cancer is developed, we intend to utilize our own urology sales force in the United States and
Germany to sell such products and would consider using some of our NMP22 distributors in other parts of the
world to sell the finished product.

Colon Cancer Program (NMP35)

During 1999, our scientists, using research mass spectrometry, discovered some characteristics of a
distinct set of proteins (“NMP35”) in the blood of patients with colon cancer, that were generally not present
in the blood of individuals without cancer or in the blood of patients with certain benign conditions of the
lower digestive tract. This program is currently inactive due to our focus on the NMP66 breast cancer
program. We intend to use our research and development resources to develop blood-based colon cancer tests
based on the NMP35 marker after developing Proprietary Laboratory Procedures or products for NMP66
proteins (breast cancer) and NMP48 proteins (prostate cancer).

Blood specimens for use in generating reproducible and controlied clinical data prior to launching a
Proprietary Laboratory Procedure have been collected pursuant to an IRB-approved protocol. We believe that
these specimens will be suitable for use as part of our submission to the FDA for regulatory approval.

Marketing and Sales

Distribution of diagnostic tests poses challenging sales and marketing issues to test developers and
manufacturers, especially for new tests measuring proteins heretofore not widely used. These challenges arise
because the purchasers of diagnostic Lab Test Kits (i.e., the clinical laboratories) are not typically the orderers
of the test (i.c., the treating physicians), Usually laboratories will purchase a new test only after treating
physicians start to order the test. However, tests which are purchased by physician office laboratories (where
the ordering physician owns all or part of the purchasing laboratory) or devices which can be sold directly to
the treating physician (like our NMP22 BladderChek Test) are less encumbered by these challenges, because
the purchase by a treating physician requires no involvement by a clinical laboratory.

We believe that in major cancer diagnostic product markets such as the U.S. and Germany, a dedicated
sales force is more effective at product introduction than distributors in influencing physicians to make a new
diagnostic test part of a physician’s standard of care. Qur prior experiences with distributors in these markets
and others have confirmed the value of our own dedicated sales force. Qur German subsidiary has a direct
sales force that is devoted principally to selling both our NMP22 products in Germany to urologists,

12




gynecologists iind laboratories while our U.S. sales force has been focused on developing greater demand for
our NMP22 BladderChek Test among urologists.

Notwithstinding our direct sales efforts, we also rely on distributors to sell our products. Qur U.S. disiri-
bution partner, Wampole, distributes our NMP22 Test Kit to hospitals and commercial laboratories within the
United States. Our German subsidiary’s direct sales force is responsible for sales of our NMP22 Test Kit i
Germany and its management oversees the distribution of all NMP22 products to distributors in European
countries other than Germany.

We have retained rights to sell all of our products in the United States except for any flow-cytometry-
based products using NMP179 technology in a manner that is competitive to those being developed by
Sysmex. We currently have sixteen NMP22 BladderChek Test distributors worldwide.

In November, 1994, we entered into a supply and distribution agreement with Konica Corporation (now
Konica Minolta Medical & Graphic, Inc., “Konica”) granting Konica the exclusive right to sell the NMP22
Test Kit in Japan. The term of this agreement was originally six years from the date of Japanese regulatory
approval and was amended and restated in December, 2001, to extend the term for additional two year periods
until timely notice of termination is given by either party.

In 2001, vve entered into an eight-year, non-exclusive product supply and marketing agreement with DPC
enabling DPC 10 develop and market an automated version of our NMP22 Test Kit. We terminated this
agreement effective December 31, 2005.

In March 2002, we entered into a supply and distribution agreement with MBL granting MBL the
exclusive right in Japan to sell the NMP22 BladderChek Test. Under the agreement, MBL is responsible for
conducting clinical trials and securing the necessary regulatory approvals in Japan, MBL received regulatory
approval and commenced sales of the NMP22 BladderChek Test during the summer of 2005.

In November 2002, we entered into an exclusive license and supply agreement with Sysmex, which
granted Sysmex the use of our NMP179 technology for automated non-slide-based laboratory instruments.
Under the terms of the agreement, Sysmex purchased shares of our common stock at a premium of
approximately $500,000, which amount we are recognizing as revenue over the fourteen-year term of the
related patents. This agreement also contains future royalty, milestone and research and development
payments.

In March 2003, we entered into a collaboration and commercialization agreement with MKI whereby they
or their designees will serve as our Japanese clinical laboratory partner for further validation of our NMP6t)
technology and pursuant to which we may negotiate the terms for distribution rights for the Japanese market
for products and services incorporating our NMPG6 technology.

In November 2006, we executed a five-year distribution agreement with Inverness whereby we appointed
Inverness as orr exclusive distributor for the non-prescription, OTC, sale of our NMP22 BladderChek Test in
the United Staies. Under the distribution agreement, we agreed to secure all necessary regulatory approvals for
the marketing and sale of the NMP22 BladderChek Test in the non-prescription OTC market in the United
States and 1o bz responsible for the conduct of necessary clinical trials and submission of all regulatory filiags
with the FDA or elsewhere. Inverness agreed to pay the cost of clinical trials above a set floor amount and to
otherwise cooperate with us in efforts to secure regulatory approval. We expect to collaborate with Inverness
in assessing the: market opportunity, with a goal of submitting a regulatory filing seeking FDA approval to
distribute and :ell the test as a non-prescription or OTC test. Inverness’ commencement of distribution of the
test in the OTC: market is subject to receipt of FDA approval and there is no guarantee that clinical trials we
conduct will stpport a non-prescription, OTC use of the NMP22 BladderChek Test, that we will be able to
secure FDA approval for sale in that market or that Inverness will ever commence sate of the NMP22
BladderChek Test in that market.

No customer accounted for more than 5% of our total revenues in fiscal 2004, 2005 or 2006.
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Foreign Operations

In 2000, we acquired all of the ouistanding shares of capital stock of Gesellschaft fur Allergie,
Diagnostika und Laborkonzepte (“ADL"), now called Matritech GmbH, a European distributor of diagnostic
testing products, including our NMP22 Test Kit. Matritech GmbH is located in Freiburg, Germany. We refer to
Matritech GmbH as “our German subsidiary” in this document.

During 2004, 2005 and 2006, 33%, 38% and 33%, respectively, of our total product sales were from
customers in the United States and 67%, 62% and 67% respectively, were from customers in foreign countries.
Product sales generated outside the United States during 2004, 2005 and 2006, were primarily in Europe. See
Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — “Segment and Geographic Information”.

At December 31, 2006, approximately 24% of our total assets were located at our German subsidiary, and
for fiscal year 2006, approximately 59% of our revenue and 24% of our expenses, including cost of product
sales were related to our European operations.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Our ability to successfully commercialize our products depends in part on the extent to which reimburse-
ment is available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other third-
party payors. We believe that FDA approval of a diagnostic product facilitates third-party reimbursement for
the testing service based on that diagnostic product, but reimbursement for testing services based on FDA
approved products may not be available or, if available, may be inadequate.

In the case of private insurance, the reimbursement of any medical test, whether it is FDA approved or
for investigational or research use only, is at the sole discretion of a patient’s individual carrier. The decision
to reimburse can be made on a case-by-case basis (as is done for research therapies) or on a system-wide basis
(such as screening mammography). Historically, the decision to reimburse the cost of a new medical procedure
or test is made by an insurance carrier’s medical director or review committee. This group will base its
reimbursement decision on published clinical data and information provided by treating physicians. Even if a
procedure has been approved for reimbursement, the insurance carrier may elect at any time in the future to
discontinue reimbursement for the procedure.

Health care reform is an area of continuing national and international attention and a priority of many
government officials. Health care policies and regulations may impose limitations on the prices we are able to
charge now and in the future in the United States and elsewhere for our products or the amount of
reimbursement available for tests based on our products from government agencies or third-party payors.

Currently we believe that U.S. laboratories performing NMP22 tests using our NMP22 Test Kit and
physicians performing such tests using our NMP22 BladderChek Test are being reimbursed by most insurance
carriers, including the carriers managing Medicare reimbursement programs. However, as with all new medical
products, reimbursement is not universal, and we are working, on a case-by-case basis, with individual
physicians and laboratories to obtain reimbursement where requested. In Germany we believe that most
patients receiving a test result from either the NMP22 Test Kit or our NMP22 BladderChek Test are not
reimbursed by insurance carriers or federal healthcare reimbursement programs and are paying for the test
themselves (or in some instances by private supplemental insurance that many people carry).

Manufacturing and Facilities

We currently assemble our NMP22 Test Kits in a portion of our 22,500 square-foot facility in Newton,
Massachusetts and rely on subcontractors for certain components and processes for these test kits. Qur NMP22
BladderChek Test is manufactured by a supplier experienced in the assembly of point-of-care tests and we
complete the final packaging of the NMP22 BladderChek Test at our Newton facility. We are subject to the
FDA’s Good Manufacturing Practice (“GMP”) requirements. Our lease for our Newton facility requires annual
base rental payments of $414,360 and expires on December 31, 2010. We have an option to extend the lease
for an additional five years at a base rent to be agreed upon with the lessor consistent with market rates in
2010.
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We have retained all manufacturing rights for our products and products under development, except for
(1) any flow-based products developed by Sysmex based on our NMP179 technology, (2) rights that could be
granted to Konica, our NMP22 Test Kit distribution partner in Japan, if we fail to perform under our
agreement with Konica and (3) rights that could be exercised by SDS Capital Group SPC, Ltd., as collateral
agent, which holds a security interest in and contingent license related to our NMP22 product line as a result
of our January 2006 and 2007 financing transactions.

We currently rely on certain sole suppliers for certain key components for our NMP22 Test Kit and our
NMP22 Blad3erChek Test. In the event that these suppliers are unable to supply these components or
assemblies for any reason, we would seek alternative sources of supply or assembly, which could require
approval by tae FDA for such alternate suppliers. Although we attempt to maintain adequate levels of
inventory to provide for these and other contingencies, should our manufacturing processes be disrupted as a
result of a shortage of key components, a revalidation of new components or the failure of an assembler to
meet our requirements, we may not be able to meet our commitments to customers. In November 2006, ve
entered into z manufacturing agreement with Inverness to manufacture our NMP22 BladderChek Test at
multiple localions. Before selling product in the U.S. that has been manufactured at a new location, we will
make a submission to the FDA for a manufacturing site change. To date, we have not manufactured any
NMP22 BladiderChek Tests at other locations for sale to our customers.

Competition

We are r.ot aware of any other company selling FDA approved diagnostic or therapeutic products based
on nuclear matrix protein technology. We have notified one company that its announced intention to develop
certain produsts is likely to infringe certain claims contained in patents owned by or licensed exclusively to
us. However, competition in the development and marketing of cancer diagnostics and therapeutics, using a
variety of othzr technologies, is intense. Competing diagnostic products based on other technologies may be
introduced by other companies and could adversely affect our competitive position. As a result, our products
may become obsolete or non-competitive.

In a larg:r sense, our diagnostic products also compete with more invasive or expensive procedures such
as surgery, bane scans, magnetic resonance imaging and other in vive imaging techniques, We believe tha: our
commercializi:d products improve patient management and lower overall costs by providing useful information
and, in some cases, by providing alternatives to these invasive or costly procedures.

There are many biotechnology companies, public and private universities and research organizations
actively engayred in the research and development of cancer diagnostic testing products. Many of these
organizations have financial, manufacturing, marketing and human resources greater than ours. We expect that
our diagnostic products will compete largely on the basis of clinical utility, accuracy (sensitivity and
specificity), eise of use and other performance characteristics, and price, as well as on our sales effectiveness
and that of our marketing and distribution partners.

In the market for urine-based diagnostic tests, our NMP22 Test Kits and our NMP22 BladderChek Tests
are also comgeting with existing cellular-based tests such as the microscopic examination of suspicious cells
(cytology) and a test known as UroVysion, which is a fluorescent in-situ hybridization test (FISH). In addition
to the fact that these tests are generatly done by laboratories, not physicians, we believe that each of these has
important drawbacks in the markets for screening and monitoring information — cytology because it is less
sensitive and rwice the cost of NMP22 tests, FISH because it can be ten times more expensive although its
accuracy is ccmparable to NMP22 tests.

A number of companies are developing automated instruments for Pap smear screening that would
compete with the instruments and systems which Sysmex intends to develop using NMP179 technology. These
companies are developing computerized image analysis techniques to automate and/or augment much of the
work currentlv done by cytotechnologists. To date, two of these instruments have been approved by the FDA
for primary screening of Pap smear slides and for rescreening a percentage of slides previonsly identified by a
cytotechnologist as normal, and more companies are expected to submit applications for similar systems within
two to three years. In addition, one company has secured FDA approval for a vaccine for human papilloma
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virus (“HPV™), which, if widely adopted in the developed world, may reduce the need for the type of system
Sysmex is developing.

The FDA approved a diagnostic product, Hybrid Capture II (“HCIT”), for use in detecting HPV, the viral
infection that causes most cervical cancer. Although many women, especially those under 35 years of age, are
infected with this virus and test positive for HPV, most do not progress to cervical cancer. Nevertheless, the
test for HPV may be selected by some gynecologists and clinical pathologists to identify women at higher risk
of developing cervical cancer. As a result, there may be less demand for a cervical cancer diagnostic test like
the one Sysmex is developing based on our NMP179 technology.

In the markets for our other potential products, we expect that our Lab Test Kits and our point-of-care
Tests will compete with existing FDA-approved clinical tests, including a test known as CEA, which is used
primarily for monitoring colorectal and breast cancers; a test known as CA19.9, which is used primarily for
monitoring colorectal and gastric cancers; a test known as PSA, which is used primarily for monitoring and
screening prostate cancer; and tests known as TRUQUANT® BR RIA, CA15.3 and CA27.29, which are used
for monitoring breast cancer. We are also aware of a number of companies that have announced that they are
engaged in developing cancer prognostic products based upon oncogene technology such as OncoType Dx.

Patents, Licenses and Trade Secrets

We seek to protect our diagnostic technology primarily through patents owned by us. We have filed
United States patent applications and, in certain circumstances, foreign counterparts in selected other countries
on developments relating to our nuclear matrix protein technology and to other cancer marker related
technologies. We currently have 14 United States patents and two pending patent applications on file in the
United States relating to nuclear matrix proteins and our current product line or programs under development.
These patents have scheduled expiration dates from 2011 to 2020. Certain of our United States patents provide
protection for our NMP22 Test Kit and for our NMP22 BladderChek Test until 201 5. It is our practice to file
additional patent applications when we believe our scientists have made commercially significant discoveries
whether they relate to nuclear matrix proteins or not. We also will continue to rely on our unpatented
proprietary information and trade secrets to maintain our commercial position.

Our NMP22 BladderChek Test uses lateral-flow absorbent test strips having antibodies located at different
positions along the test strips. The manufacture, use, sale, or import of point-of-care products which include
this test strip technology in certain jurisdictions requires us to obtain patent licenses. In August, 2004, we
entered into a license agreement, effective as of April 1, 2004, with one holder of patent rights, Abbott
Laboratories. In November 2006, we executed a supply agreement with Inverness, which holds substantial
patent rights in the lateral flow area covering the professional field, which includes licensed health care
providers and diagnostic laboratories. As part of this agreement, we have secured protection from claims by
Inverness of infringement of its lateral flow patent rights for products we purchase from Inverness and resell in
the professional field. Inverness has also agreed not to sue us, our resellers, distributors and end-customers, for
infringement of these lateral flow patent rights for products sold prior to November 3, 2006. We may need to
secure additional licenses or other similar rights to lateral flow technology in the United States or elsewhere.
There is no guarantee that we will be able to obtain the appropriate patent licenses to permit us to make, use,
sell, or import our NMP22 BladderChek Test in each jurisdiction where licenses or similar rights may be
required.

Government Regulation

Diagnostic Products

The products we market and manufacture, and those we intend to market and manufacture, are subject o
extensive regulation by the FDA, and, in some instances, by foreign governments. Proprietary Laboratory
Procedures, which are services rather than products, do not generally require FDA review before being made
commercially available. However, if such a procedure involves the use of an antibody or similar reagent, an
FDA submission is typically required for the analyte specific reagent, which requires a 30 day review.
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Pursuant to the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1976, as amended, and the regulations
promulgated taereunder (the “FDC Act”), the FDA regulates clinical testing, manufacturing, labeling,
distribution, ad promotion of medical devices such as our products. Noncompliance with applicable
requirements can result in, among other things, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizure of prodvcts,
total or partiai suspension of production, failure of the government to grant premarket approval for devices,
withdrawal of marketing approvals, and criminal prosecution. The FDA also has the authority to request repair,
replacement or refund of the cost of any device manufactured or distributed by us.

In the Urited States, medical devices and diagnostics are classified into one of three classes (class I, I,
or III) on the asis of the controls deemed necessary by the FDA to reasonably ensure their safety and
effectiveness. Under FDA regulations, class I devices are subject to general controls such as labeling,
premarket not:fication and adherence to GMPs. Class II devices are subject to general and special controls (for
example, performance standards, postmarket surveillance and FDA guidelines). Generally, class I1I devices are
those which must receive premarket approval (“PMA™) by the FDA to ensure their safety and effectiveness
(for example, life-sustaining, life-supporting and implantable devices, or new devices which have not been
found substaniially equivalent to legally marketed devices). Lab Test Kits for the diagnosis of cancer are
class 11 devic:s and are submitted for PMAs to the FDA. Point-Of-Care Tests for diagnosis of cancer are also
class Il devic:s for which PMAs or PMA supplements must be submitted.

Before a new device can be introduced into the U.S. market, the manufacturer must generally obtain
marketing approval through the filing of either a 510(k) notification or a PMA. 510(k) clearance will be
granted if the submitted information establishes that the proposed device is “substantially equivalent” to a
legally marketzd ¢lass [ or 11 medical device, or to a class 11 medical device for which the FDA has not
called for a PMA. This is often the route of approval for tests used in monitoring for disease. The FDA may
determine that a proposed device is not substantially equivalent to a legally marketed device, or that additional
information or data is needed before a substantial equivalence determination can be made. A request for
additional datz. may require that clinical studies of the safety and efficacy of the device be performed.

Commercial distribution of a device in the U.S. for which a 510(k) notification is required can begin only
after the FDA issues an order finding the device to be “substantially equivalent” to a predicate device, It
generally takes from three to twelve months from submission to obtain a 510(k) clearance, but may take
longer. The FDA may determine that a proposed device is not substantially equivalent to a legally marketed
device, or that additional information is needed before a substantial equivalence determination can be made.

A PMA application must be filed if a proposed device is not substantially equivalent to a legally marketed
class I or class Il device, or if it is a class [II device for which the FDA has called for PMAs. A PMA
application must be supported by valid scientific evidence which typically includes clinical trial data to
demonstrate safety and the effectiveness of the device. The PMA application must also contain the results of
all relevant bench tests, laboratory and animal studies, a complete description of the device and its
components, a1d a detailed description of the methods, facilities and controls used to manufacture the device,
as well as proposed labeling,

Upon receipt of a PMA application, the FDA makes a threshold determination as to whether the
application is sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, If the FDA determines that the PMA
application is rufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, the FDA will accept the application for
filing. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the PMA. An FDA
review of a PMA application can take over a year from the date the PMA application is accepted for filing,
and occasionally longer. The review time is often significantly extended as a result of the FDA requiring more
information or clarification of information already provided in the submission. During the review period, an
advisory commiittee, typically a panel of clinicians and/or other appropriate experts in the relevant fields, may
be convened tc review and evaluate the application and recommend to the FDA whether to approve or
disapprove the application. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of the advisory committee but
generally follows them. Toward the end of the PMA review process, the FDA generally will conduct an
inspection of the manufacturer’s facilities to ensure that the facilities are in compliance with applicable GNP
requirements.




O

If the FDA's evaluations of both the PMA application and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the
FDA will either issue an approval letter or an approvable letter, which usually contains a number of conditions
which must be met in order to secure final approval for sale of the device. When and if those conditions have
been fulifilled to the satisfaction of the FDA, the agency will issue a PMA approval letter, authorizing
commercial marketing of the device for certain indications. If the FDA’s evaluations of the PMA application
or manufacturing facilities are not favorable, the FDA will delay or deny approval of the PMA application or
issue a “not approvable letter.” The FDA may also determine that additional clinical trials are necessary, in
which case approval may be substantially delayed while additional clinical trials are conducted and submitted.
The PMA process can be expensive, uncertain and lengthy. A number of devices for which FDA approval has
been sought by other companies have never been approved for marketing.

Once a device has been approved, modifications to the device, its labeling, or manufacturing process may
require review by the FDA using PMA supplements. PMA supplements often require the submission of the
same type of information required for an initial PMA submission, except that the supplement generally is
limited to that information needed to support the proposed change from the product approved in the original
PMA.

Although clinical investigations of most devices are subject to the investigational device exemption
(“IDE”) requirements, clinical investigations of in vitro diagnostic tests (“IVD”) are exempt from the IDE
requirements, including FDA approval of investigations, provided the testing is non-invasive, does not require
an invasive sampling procedure that presents significant risk, does not introduce energy into a subject, and the
tests are not used as a diagnostic procedure without confirmation of the diagnosis by another medically
established diagnostic product or procedure. IVD manufacturers must also establish distribution controls to
ensure that 1VDs distributed for the purposes of conducting clinical investigations are used only for that
purpose. Pursuant to current FDA policy, manufacturers of IVDs labeled for investigational use only (“IUQ")
or research use only (“RUQ”) are encouraged by the FDA to establish a certification program under which
investigational IVDs are distributed to or utilized only by individuals, laboratories, or health care facilities that
have pravided the manufacturer with a written certification of compliance indicating that (i) the device will be
used for investigational or research purposes only, and (2) results will not be used for diagnostic purposes
without confirmation of the diagnosis under another medically established diagnostic device or procedure. In
addition, the certification program requirements for [UO products should include assurances that all investiga-
tions or studies will be conducted with approval from an IRB, using an IRB-approved study protocol and
patient informed consent and that the device will be labeled in accordance with the applicable labeling
regulations. Sponsors of clinical trials are permitted to sell those devices distributed in the course of the study
provided any compensation received does not exceed recovery of the costs of manufacture, research,
development and handling.

In 1996, the FDA approved our NMP22 Test Kit for bladder cancer for sale in the United States as a
predictor of occult or rapidly recurring bladder cancer. In 2000, the FDA approved the expanded claim of our
NMP22 Lab Test Kit for the additional use of diagnosing previously undiagnosed individuals who have
symptoms of or are at risk for bladder cancer. In 2002, the FDA cleared our NMP22 BladderChek Test for
sale in the United States as an aid in monitoring the recurrence of bladder cancer. In 2003, the FDA approved
the expanded claim of our NMP22 BladderChek Test for the additional use of diagnosing previously
undiagnosed individuals who have symptoms of or are at risk for bladder cancer. We will need to obtain
additional FDA approval before we can make U.S. sales of NMP22 BladderChek Tests manufactured at a
location other than where the tests have been manufactured for several years, including additional locations
where Inverness may manufacture the product.

Any products manufactured or distributed by us pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and
continuing regulation by the FDA, including recordkeeping requirements and reporting of adverse experiences
with the use of the device. We, like other device manufacturers, are required to register our establishments and
list our devices with the FDA and are subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies.
The FDC Act requires devices to be manufactured in accordance with GMP regulations which impose certain
procedural and documentation requirements with respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities.
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Labeling and promotional activities are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain instances, by the
Federal Trade Commission. The FDA actively enforces regulations prohibiting the promotion of devices fer
unapproved uses and the promotion of devices for which premarket approval has not been obtained.
Consequently, in the United States we cannot promote the NMP22 Tests for any unapproved use. Failure to
comply with these requirements can result in regulatory enforcement action by the FDA that would adversaly
affect our abil ty to conduct testing necessary to obtain market approval for these new uses and, in addition,
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Foreign Sales

Some countries to which the devices are to be exported may not approve the devices for import, Failure
on our part to obtain import approvals, when required, could significantly delay and impair our ability to sell
our devices outside the U.S., which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The introduction of our developmental-stage and FDA-approved cancer diagnostic products in foreign
markets will also subject us to foreign regulatory registrations and/or approvals which may impose additional
substantial costs and burdens. International sales of medical devices are subject to the regulatory requirements
of each country. The regulatory review process varies from country to country. Many countries also impose:
product standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements and import restrictions on devices. For
example, member countries of the European Union require that products bear the CE mark, which necessitates
the creation ard maintenance of dossiers documenting quality systems and standards for manufacturing,
labeling and testing. Further, for some types of diagnostic tests the European Union also requires audits of the
manufacturing site by a Notified Body. In addition, each country has its own tariff regulations, duties and 1ax
requirements, [n 1998, Koseisho approved our NMP22 Test Kit for sale in Japan for use in screening
previously undiagnosed patients and, in 2005 Koseisho approved our NMP22 BladderChek Test for sale in
Japan for use in diagnosis of previously undiagnosed patients. In 1999, the State Drug Administration in the
People’s Repulilic of China approved our NMP22 Test Kit for sale in the People’s Republic of China for the
detection and management of bladder cancer. Approval by the FDA and foreign government authorities is
unpredictable and uncertain. Delays in receipt of, or a failure to receive, required approvals, or the loss of any
previously received approvals, would likely have a material adverse effect on our business.

Changes in existing requirements or adoption of new requirements or policies could adversely affect cur
ability to comply with regulatory requirements. We may be required to incur significant costs to comply with
laws and regulations in the future. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements or increased costs of
compliance coald have a material adverse effect on our business.

CLIA

Pursuant 10 the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”), the FDA assigns a complexity
category to each new in virro diagnostic test. This category will determine the rigor of quality control that
must be followed by purchasers and users of the device, including qualifications of technicians, and thus can
affect purchasing decisions of laboratories and hospitals. Our NMP22 Test Kit has been designated as a high
complexity device. Our NMP22 BladderChek Test has been CLIA-waived by the FDA, which means it can be
performed in the physician’s office by staff who do not need specialized certification,

Other

In order for us to conduct preliminary studies or clinical trials at a hospital or other health care facility,
our research collaborators must first obtain approval from an IRB. In each case, a written protocol must be
submitted to the IRB describing the study or trial, which is reviewed by the IRB with a view to protecting the
safety and privacy of the institution’s patients.

In addition to the regulatory framework for clinical trials and product approvals, we are subject to
regulation under federal, state and local law, including requirements regarding occupational safety, laboratory
practices, enviionmental protection and hazardous substance control, and may be subject to other present and
possible future local, state, federal and foreign regulation. Qur products are also subject to a variety of stat:
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laws and regulations in those states or localities where our products are or will be marketed. Any applicable
state or local regulations may hinder our ability to market our products in those states or localities.
Manufacturers are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe
working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control, and disposal of
hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. Compliance with applicable laws and regulations now or in the
future could result in significant additional expense or result in material adverse effects upon our ability to do
business.

Employees

As of March 1, 2007, we had 75 full-time employees, 12 of whom were engaged in research and
development. Our future success depends in part on our ability to recruit and retain talented and trained
scientific, technical, marketing and business personnel and competition for these kinds of personnel is intense.
None of our employees is represented by a labor union, and we consider our relations with our employees to
be good.

Research & Development and Clinical & Regulatory

Qur future success will depend in large part on our ability to develop and bring to market new products
based on our proprietary technology. Accordingly, we devote substantial resources to research and develop-
ment. We have assembled a scientific staff with a variety of complementary skills in several advanced research
disciplines, including molecular biology, immunology and protein chemistry. In addition, we maintain
consulting and advisory relationships with a number of prominent researchers.

During 2004, 2005 and 2006, Matritech spent approximately $2.7 million, $2.9 million and $2.9 million,
respectively, on research & development and clinical & regulatory affairs. Substantially all of these expendi-
tures were related to the development of diagnostic products and conducting clinical trials. We expect
research & development and clinical & regulatory expenditures to be less than $2.8 million in 2007 and to be
primarily devoted to continuing work on our breast cancer program and on investigation of expansion of our
bladder cancer markets in the United States.

Recent Developments

On January 19, 2007, we amended our Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock of Matritech, Inc. (the “Certificate”) with the written consent of more than 75% of
the holders of outstanding Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock™), to increase
the amount of indebtedness we may incur, assume or suffer to permit without the prior consent of the holders
of at least 75% of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock from $7,500,000 to $12,000,000. On January 22,
2007, we entered into two new agreements with the holders of a majority of outstanding principal value of our
15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes dated January 13, 2006 (the “2006 Secured Convertible Notes™), a
Consent under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and an Agreement and Amendment to the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes. The execution of these two agreements was done contemporaneously with the sale of
additional convertible secured promissory notes,

The Consent allowed us to issue Series B 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes (the “2007 Secured
Convertible Notes” and collectively with the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, the “Secured Convertible
Notes™), in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $4.5 million, ranking on a pari passu basis with the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes as to payment and security and allowed us to incur increased indebtedness to
cover the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes in addition to the outstanding indebtedness under the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes. The Consent also directed the collateral agent for holders of the 2006 Secured Convertible
Note to consent to and to enter into an amendment and restatement of the existing security agreement and
contingent license agreement so that the holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes would have a pari
passu position with the holders of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

The Agreement and Amendment changed the potential events of default under the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes to include non-payment of, or default on another obligation related to, the 2007 Secured
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Convertible Motes, shortened the scheduled maturity date of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to
December 13, 2007, eliminated some Stock Payment Conditions (as defined in the 2006 Secured Convert:ble
Notes), including the volume trading limitation, provided for the designation by ProMed Partners, L.P. of a
representative, initially David B. Musket, to our Board of Directors and made further changes to the 200¢
Secured Convertible Notes primarily to reflect events occurring since their issuance in Janvary 2006.

On January 22, 2007, we also entered into a purchase agreement and related documents, pursuant to
which we sold the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, which were initially convertible into 6,928,572 shares of
our common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and accompanying warrants (the “2007 Purchaser Warrants") to
purchase up to 4,157,143 shares of our common stock, for an aggregate consideration of approximately
$4.36 million (before cash commission and expenses of approximately $520,000). The 2007 Secured
Convertible Motes are convertible into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $0.63 per
share of common stock. The warrants, exercisable over a five year period from their date of issuance, have an
exercise price of $0.63 per share. We also issued placement agent warrants (collectively with the 2007
Purchaser Warrants, the “2007 Warrants”) to purchase, at any time within five years of issuance, up to
55,556 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.76 per share. Both the conversion price and the
exercise prices are subject to adjustment in the event of subsequent dilutive issuances but only if our
stockholders approve issuances below $0.63 per share.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes mature December 13, 2007 and allow for payment of both principal
and interest in shares of our common stock, so long as certain stock payment conditions (as discussed below)
are satisfied. The effective conversion price for payments to be made in stock is the lower of the then
conversion price, currently $0.63, or 85% of the 10 day volume weighted average price of common stock (the
“10-day VWAP”) on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX") at the time any payment is due. No payments
are due on thi: 2007 Secured Convertible Notes prior to June 2007, Interest is payable quarterly, in arrears,
beginning in .lune 2007, and principal payments of $727,500 per month (assuming no prepayment or
conversion by any Note holder) are due monthly beginning in July 2007. We cannot issue any shares in
conversion of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, whether for a conversion initiated by the holders of the 2007
Secured Comvertible Notes or a repayment of a portion of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes by us, at a
price below $0.63 per share until after stockholder approval is received for payments below that price. If ‘we
choose to prezay the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, in whole or in part, there will be a 25% prepayment
premium due.

We must meet all of the following stock payment conditions in order to make interest and principal
payments on “he 2007 Secured Convertible Notes in shares of common stock instead of cash: (i) issuance of
the shares will not result in a 2007 Secured Convertible Note holder and its affiliates owning more than 9.99%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock, unless waived by the holder; (ii) the number of shares to be
issued to all lolders of Secured Convertible Notes on a specific payment date shall not exceed 20% of the:
trading volume (as reported by Bloomberg) of our common stock for the period of 20 consecutive trading days
ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date; (iii) our common stock is not selling at a
price below $0.40 per share; and (iv} we have not issued any notice relating to the redemption of any
warrant(s} during the 30 day period immediately prior to the payment date. We cannot make payment in
shares if the Effective Conversion Price is below $0.63 and our stockholders have not approved our issuance
of shares in satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes below that price. If we
are unable to make payments due in stock because we have not received stockholder approval of payments
below $0.63 per share, the interest rate on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will be increased to 17% for
the affected paymenits.

While th: 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we are restricted from incurring additional
indebtedness (other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of receivables and equipment purchase or
lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restricted from paying cash dividends and redeeming
securities. In connection with the sale of our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, we entered into an amended
and restated s:curity agreement and an amended and restated contingent license agreement with the collatzral
agent, SDS Capital Group SPC, Ltd. As a result, our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes
are secured by liens against certain assets related to our NMP22 product line. The security interest covers cell
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lines, equipment, inventory and general intangibles related to the NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds
from the sale of the product line, We also entered into an amended and restated contingent license agreement
with the collateral agent granting license rights in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents
related to the NMP22 products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the
NMP22 product line, and license rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product
line. The contingent license allows the Collateral Agent to rely on and use the licensed patent rights if we
default in our payment obligations under the Secured Promissory Notes relating to bankruptcy or similar
insolvency proceedings or arrangements. The license rights will terminate upon payment in full of all amounts
payable under the Secured Convertible Notes or earlier upon the expiration date of the underlying licensed
patents.

We have granted the holders of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes or shares of our common stock issued
upon conversion of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes valued at or in excess of $250,000 the right to
participate in future financing transactions, up to a maximum of 50% of the new transaction. Holders may not
generally exercise these rights if they have exercised similar rights under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.
If, however, all participating holders of the Secured Convertible Notes do not elect to purchase the full 50%,
then those holders who have exercised rights under only the 2006 or the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will
have the right to further participate based on their holdings of the other year’s Secured Convertible Notes. The
holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes who qualify for participation rights in our future financing
transactions also have the right to exchange up to 50% of the then-held principal value of their 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes for participation in the transaction, subject to an overall restriction for all holders that limits
them to an aggregate of 50% of each future financing transaction.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes require us to pay interest and liquidated damages and may become
immediately due and payable in cash at a premium of 120% of the outstanding principal amount plus accrued
interest and damages in the event we default under their terms. Potential defaults would include, among other
things:

+ our failure to make payments as they become due;

» our failure to remain listed on any of the Nasdaq Global Market, Nasdaq Global Select Market, or the
Nasdaq Capital Market (each a “Nasdaq Market”), New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or AMEX;

» our failure under certain circumstances to have an effective registration statement available (after a
valid demand for registration) for resale of the shares upon conversion of the Secured Convertible
Notes;

« failure to timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion;
* our written notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upon conversion;

* our making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appointment
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiary;

» bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
* a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;

« our default on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000 including the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes; and

» a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purchasers of
the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes.

Under the terms of the transaction documents, we may be required to file a registration statement
covering the shares into which the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes may be converted and the shares for which
the 2007 Warrants may be exercised if the purchasers holding at least 22% of the aggregate amount of
securities initially acquired in the sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Note financing, based on the
conversion price in effect at the time of filing the registration statement, demand that we file such a statement.
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No demand may be made before July 21, 2007. If a demand is made, we have 90 days thereafter in which to
have a registration statement declared effective (150 days in the event of review by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC™)). We are also obligated to keep our stock listed for trading on AMEX, NYSE
or Nasdagq. If, after demand, we fail to timely register the shares we have committed to register other than if
the SEC will not declare the registration statement effective due to interpretations of Rule 415 of the Securities
Act of 1933, we may be subject to penalties, including payment of 1.5% of the consideration paid for the
2007 Secured Convertible Notes for each thirty day period of delay in registration. Further, we agreed to seek
stockholder approval of the issuance of our common stock in satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007
Secured Convertible Notes and upon exercise of the 2007 Warrants at a conversion price or exercise price
below $0.63 per share. We intend to present these matters to our stockholders at our Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on June 8, 2007.

The sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and the Purchaser Warrants has been deemed to be a
dilutive issuance under the terms of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the warrants issued in 2006 in
connection with the sale of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes (the “2006 Warrants™), As a result, as of
January 22, 2007 the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes became convertible at a price of $0.63 per share, anl
the exercise price of the 2006 Warrants was reduced to $0.63 per share. We had previously reserved shares
sufficient to cover this adjustment in conversion price. We have calculated an additional beneficial conversion
charge totaling approximately $208,000 which will be recorded as a debt discount in the first quarter of 2C07
and amortized as interest expense over the remaining life of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

The offer and sale of securities in the transaction described above was exempt from registration under the
Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(2} of the Securities Act and Regulation D promulgated thereunder,
as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of securities in this transaction
represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in
connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the securities issued in this
transaction.

Available Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act, and in accordance with
those requiremznts file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy
the reports, proxy statements and other information that we file with the Commission under the informational
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act at the Commission’s Public Reference Room at 100 F. Street,
NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call 1-800-SEC-0330 for information about the Commission’s Public
Reference Room. The Commmission also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the Commission. The
address of the Commission’s website is www.sec.gov. Our website is www.matritech.com. We make availabie
through our website, free of charge, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Commission. Information contained on our websile
is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All statements made in any of our securities filings,
including all forward-looking statements or information, are made as of the date of the document in which the
statement is included, and we do not assume or undertake any obligation to update any of those statements
unless required

Item 1A. Risic Factors.

The following risk factors should be considered carefully along with the other information contained or
incorporated herein by reference. The risk and uncertainties described or incorporated by reference herein are
not the only oncs we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently
deem immatericl may also affect our business.
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Qur future financial and operational results are subject to a number of material risks and uncertainties
that may affect our results of operations and financial condition, including:

We expect that we will need to obtain additional capital in the near future in order to continue our
operations.

As of December 31, 2006, we only had $1.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, we had negative
working capital of $3.6 million and we had a net loss of $11.9 million in the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006 which raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concemn. Excluding all obligations
which could potentially be paid in stock we had working capital of $0.6 million at December 31, 2006.
Although we completed a financing in January 2007, our net proceeds were only approximately $3.8 million.
As a resuit, we expect that we will need to secure additional capital in order to continue our operations
through fiscal 2007. In addition, we are required by the terms of our Secured Convertible Notes to repay more
than $525,000 of principal and interest in June 2007 and we may have to pay a portion of the amount due in
cash unless we are able to renegotiate payment terms with the holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes.
Failure to timely make payments due on our Secured Convertible Notes would constitute an event of default
under those Secured Convertible Notes and could result in our inability to continue operations, as further
described in “Risk Factors — We may be unable to comply with provisions of our Secured Convertible Notes
and could suffer significant consequences in the event of non-compliance”.

We have a history of operating losses, are continuing to lose money and may never be profitable.

We have incurred losses since we began operations in 1987. These losses have resulted principally from
costs incurred in research and development and from selling, general and administrative costs associated with
our market development and selling efforts. Our accumulated deficit from inception through December 31,
2006 is $110 million, Qur product sales and net losses for each of the past three fiscal years have been:

2004 2005 2006
Product Sales .. ....... ... ... i, $ 7,275,000 $10,290,000 $12,085,000
Net LosSes . . ..o i e i e $11,123,000 § 7,865,000 $11,935,000

We expect to continue to incur additional operating losses in the future as we continue to develop new
products and seek to commercialize the results of our research and development efforts. Our ability to achieve
long-term profitability is dependent upon our success in those development and commercialization efforts.

We expect thdt we will need to continue to obtain additional capital in the future until we become profit-
able and, if we are unable to obtain such capital on acceptable terms or at the appropriate time, we may
not be able to continue our aperations.

We do not currently generate revenues sufficient to operate our business at breakeven. In the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2006, we had an operating loss of $8.0 million and a net loss of $11.9 million. From
March 2003 through January 2007, we raised capital on six occasions through the sale of various securities
including Convertible Debentures, common stock, Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred
Stock”), Secured Convertible Notes and warrants to purchase common stock. We will, as we deem necessary
or prudent, continue to seek to raise additional capital through various financing alternatives, including equity
or debt financings, issuances of securities convertible into equity and corporate partnering arrangements.
However, we may not be able to raise needed capital on terms that are acceptable to us or at all.

The terms of our 2005 sale of Series A Preferred Stock and our 2006 and 2007 sales of Secured
Convertible Notes greatly restrict our ability to raise capital. Under the terms of our Series A Preferred Stock,
we are prohibited from issuing senior equity securities or having indebtedness in excess of $12.0 million
except in limited forms, Under the terms of our Secured Convertible Notes, we are prohibited from issuing
any debt securities or incurring any indebtedness except in limited forms with ceilings on the level of
permitted borrowings. These provisions may severely limit our ability to attract new investors and raise
additional financing on acceptable terms. In addition, in order to attract new investors and obtain additional
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capital, we may be forced to provide rights and preferences to new investors that are not available to current
stockholders or note holders and that may be adverse to existing investors.

If we do not receive an adequate amount of additional financing in the future or we do not consummate
future financings on a timely basis, we will likely be unable to fund future cash operating deficits or to mset
our cash payment obligations required by the Secured Convertible Notes. We also will likely be required 10
curtail our expenses or to take other steps that could hurt our future performance, including but not limited to,
the termination of major portions of our research and development activities, the premature sale of some or all
of our assets or product lines on undesirable terms, merger with or acquisition by another company on
unsatisfactory terms or the cessation of operations.

We may be unable to comply with provisions of our Secured Convertible Notes and could suffer signifi-
cant consequences in the event of non-compliance.

In January 2006 and Janwvary 2007, we sold Secured Convertible Notes which contain substantial penalties
in the event we fail to comply with their terms. Potential events of default under the Secured Convertible
Notes include:

» our faiure to make payments as they become due;
* our fai ure to remain listed on any of a Nasdag Market, NYSE or AMEX;

 our faiure to have an effective registration statement available for resale of the shares (except in the
case of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes only if registration has been demanded);

« failure to timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion;
* our wrilten notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upon conversion;

» our making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appointraent
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiar;

* bankruatcy, insolvency or similar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
+ a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;
+ our default on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000; and

* a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purchasers of
the Secured Convertible Notes.

If we default on our obligations under the Secured Convertible Notes, we could be required to pay
interest and liquidated damages; the Secured Convertible Notes could become immediately due and payable in
cash at a premium of 120% of the outstanding principal amount plus accrued interest and damages; and the
Note holders, through the collateral agent to whom we have granted a security interest in collateral relating to
our NMP22 product line, could assume control of and sell the collateral. Any of these events could, if they
occurred at a 1ime when we had limited financial resources or had not yet developed a substantial revenue
source other than our NMP22 product line, jeopardize our financial position and viability as a going concern.

We may noi be able to meet our payment obligations on our outstanding debt if we are required to mitke
these paymants in cash.

The Secured Convertible Notes permit us to make interest and principal payments in shares of common
stock instead of cash, but only if we are in compliance with all of the following: (i) issuance of the shares will
not result in a holder of a Secured Convertible Note and its affiliates owning more than 9.99% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock, unless waived by the affected holder; (ii) we have not issued any
notice relating to the redemption of any warrant(s} during the 30 day period immediately prior to the payment
date, (iii) our common stock is not selling at a price below $0.40 per share; (iv) for the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes only, one or more registration statements is effective and available for the resale of the
shares required to be registered by the terms of a Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection
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with the January 2006 financing and (v) for the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes only, the number of shares to
be issued to all holders of Secured Convertible Notes on a specific payment date shall not exceed 20% of the
trading volume (as reported by Bloomberg) of our commeon stock for the period of 20 consecutive trading days
ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date. If we are not able to make interest and
principal payments on the Secured Convertible Notes in shares of stock, we will have to make these payments
in cash. We may not have sufficient funds to make future payments on the Secured Convertible Notes as they
become due. If we make payments on the Secured Convertible Notes in stock, however, it will result in
significant dilution.

We have incurred substantial indebtedness and may be unable to service our debt.

As a result of our sales of Secured Convertible Notes, we substantially increased our indebtedness from
approximately $800,000 at the end of 2005 to approximately $10.2 million as of January 31, 2007. In addition,
our Secured Convertible Notes bear interest at the rate of 15% per annum, which is much higher than our
previously outstanding 7.5% Convertible Debentures. This level of our indebtedness could, among other
things:

s make it difficult for us to make payments on this debt and other obligations;
» make it difficult for us to obtain future financing;
« require us to redirect significant amounts of cash flow from operations to servicing our indebtedness;

» require us to take measures such as the reduction in scale of our operations that might hurt our future
performance in order to satisfy our debt obligations; and

» make us more vulnerable to bankruptcy.

We have granted a security interest in our NMP22 product line to the purchasers of our Secured Convert-
ible Notes which restricts our operation of this product line and could result in the loss of all assets
related to this product line if we default on our obligations.

In connection with the sale of our Secured Convertible Notes, we granted to SDS Capital Group SPC,
Ltd., as collateral agent for the purchasers, a security interest in collateral including some cell lines,
equipment, inventory and general intangibles related to our NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds from any
sale of that product line pursuant to an amended and restated security agreement. The collateral exciudes
receivables for product sales. The security interest covers assets related to both our NMP22 Test Kit and our
NMP22 BladderChek Test, the two products that represented approximately 92% of our product sales in 2006.
We also entered into an amended and restated contingent license agreement with the collateral agent granting
license rights in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents related to the NMP22 products,
sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the NMP22 product line, and license
rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product line. The security agreement and
license agreement impose restrictions on our sale or abandonment of the collateral and the patent rights.
Further, these agreements afford the collateral agent the right to assume control of and sell the collateral and
to use the license rights exclusively within the field of bladder cancer detection in the event of our default in
our obligations under the Secured Convertible Notes. If we default on these obligations, and the collateral is
sold, we will lose our primary source of revenue, which would have a material adverse effect on our business
and would severely jeopardize our ability to continue operations.

We may fail to meet the standards for continued listing of our shares of common stock on the American
Stock Exchange or for listing of such shares on another national exchange.

National stock trading exchanges, including AMEX where our common stock is currently listed, maintain
standards and requirements for initial and continued listing of securities. In September 2006, we received
notice from AMEX that we were not in compliance with certain continued listing standards relative to
maintenance of stockholders’ equity and profitability. On October 23, 2006, we submitted to AMEX a plan of
proposed actions we believe will bring us into compliance with applicable listing standards no later than
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March 21, 20)8. On December 8, 2006, we received notice that AMEX had accepted our plan. AMEX may
initiate delisting procedures against us if we do not make progress consistent with our plan during the plan
period or we .are not in compliance with applicable listing standards at the end of the plan period. Delisting of
shares of our common stock would violate terms of our various financing documents, could result in the
declaration of an event of default on our Secured Convertible Notes and could cause holders to seek to recover
potential damages from us, In addition, any suspension of trading or delisting of our shares could make it
more difficalt for us to raise needed additional capital on terms acceptable to us or at all. Further, suspension
of trading or Jelisting of our shares could seriously impair the ability of our stockholders to sell shares of our
stock.

Market volutility and fluctuations in our stock price and trading volume may cause sudden decreases in
the value of an investment in our common stock.

The marl:et price of our common stock has historically been, and we expect it to continue to be, volatile.
The price of our common stock has ranged between $0.52 and $1.56 in the fifty-two week period ended
December 31, 2006. The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations, particularly in the biotechnology sector, which have often been unrelated to the operating
performance of particular companies. Factors such as announcements of technological innovations or new
products by oar competitors or disappointing results by third parties, as well as market conditions in our
industry, may significantly influence the market price of our common stock. For example, in the past, our
stock price has been affected by announcements of clinical trial results and technical breakthroughs at other
biotechnology compantes. Our stock price has also been affected by our own public announcements regarding
such things as quarterly sales and earnings, regulatory agency actions and corporate partnerships. Conse-
quently, events both within and beyond our control may cause shares of our stock to lose their value rapidly.

In addition, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by stockholders could adversely
affect the market price of our shares. In the fourth quarter of 2006, our shares had an average daily trading
volume of only approximately 118,000 shares. We may be required to file a resale registration statement
during the suramer of 2007 if we receive a valid demand for registration of shares that may be issued in
connection with our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and accompanying warrants. In connection with our
January 2006 sale of Secured Convertible Notes and accompanying warrants, we filed two resale registration
statements covering an aggregate of up to 25,797,839 shares of common stock for the benefit of the selling
security holders. In connection with our March 2005 private placement of Series A Preferred Stock and
accompanying warrants, we filed a resale registration statement covering up to 18,922,907 shares of common
stock for the benefit of those investors. In connection with our March 2004 private placement of common
stock and accompanying warrants, we filed a resale registration statement covering up to 7,121,031 shares for
the benefit of those investors. We have also filed numerous resale registration statements in connection with
previous sales of our equity securities. The actual or anticipated resale by such investors under these
registration statements may depress the market price of our common stock. Bulk sales of shares of our
common stock in a short period of time could also cause the market price for our shares to decline.

Future equity or convertible debenture financings will result in additional dilution of the ownership inter-
est of our existing investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock.

We expect that we will need to raise additional capital in the future to continue our operations. The
primary source of the additional capital we raised from 2003 through early 2007 has been equity and
convertible debentures, and we expect that equity-related instruments will continue to be a source of additional
capital. Any future equity or convertible debenture financings will dilute the ownership interest of our existing
investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock.

In additicn, the terms of our Series A Preferred Stock and our Secured Convertible Notes provide for
anti-dilution aljustments to their conversion prices and to the exercise prices of the accompanying warrants.
Since their issuance on March 31, 2003, the warrants issued in connection with our Convertible Debentures
have been repiiced four times due to later sales deemed to be dilutive issuances under their terms. As a result,
the March 2003 Warrants are now exercisable at an exercise price of $0.65 per share.
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The Series A Preferred Stock and the accompanying warrants issued in connection with our March 2005
private placement also include anti-dilution protection provisions that were triggered by our sale of the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes. As a result, the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock was reduced from
$0.88 per share to $0.70 per share and the exercise price of the March 2005 warrants was reduced from
$1.47 per share to $1.34 per share. Both the Series A Preferred Stock and the March 2005 warrants have
reached their contractual floor prices and further dilutive issuances will not result in any further reduction in
conversion or exercise price for these securities.

The sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes triggered the anti-dilution protection provisions of the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes and accompanying warrants. As a result, both the conversion price of the
Notes and the exercise price of the warrants were reduced from $0.65 and $0.67, respectively, to $0.63 per
share, Future dilutive issuances could result in further reduction of the conversion price and exercise price of
the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and accompanying warrants,

Our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and accompanying warrants also contain anti-dilution protection
provisions. Currently, the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are convertible to common stock at a price of
$0.63 per share and the accompanying warrants are exercisable at an exercise price of $0.63 per share. If we
complete a future financing at a price of less than $0.63 per common share and we receive stockholder
approval of proposals to allow issuances of our common stock at a price below $0.63 per share in satisfaction
of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes or under the 2007 Warrants, the conversion price
of our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes would be reduced to the new financing price per common share and
the exercise price of the 2007 Warrants would be reduced to the new financing price per common share.

We will not be able to significantly increase revenue or achieve profitability unless we increase the num-
ber of urologists using our NMP22 BladderChek Test, increase the per-urologist usage of our tests and/or
successfully penetrate markets other than urologists.

Currently the primary market for our NMP22 BladderChek Test consists of urologists who utilize our
NMP22 BladderChek Test as an adjunct to their cystoscopic examination of patients for detecting initial cases
of bladder cancer and monitoring diagnosed cases for recurrence. We have focused our sales and marketing on
developing urologist users for either or both of these applications. In order to achieve increased revenue and
profitability, we must increase sales to urologists, increase the usage per urologist and/or expand our market
for our product to other physicians, such as gynecologists and primary care doctors. While we have had
success in developing new urologist customers, we are still in the early stages of convincing a large number of
them to use the test more widely than their current practice. In addition, we have had limited experience in
implementing our strategy of expanding users to include gynecologists and other physicians in Germany. In
the United States, we have not yet implemented a program to selt our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to physicians
other than urologists and we may not be successful in penetrating these physician markets. We may not be
able to significantly expand the categories of physicians who use our NMP22 BladderChek Test. Failure to
achieve one or more of these objectives may significantly limit our long term revenue potential and may
require substantially more investment to achieve profitability.

Our inability to develop and commercialize additional products may limit our future prospects for our
business, sales and profits.

We believe that our ability to achieve profitability and to increase profits will be affected by our progress
in producing additional revenue-generating products and technologies. We will receive royalties and other
payments from Sysmex Corporation if and when it is successful in commercializing a cervical cancer testing
system incorporating our NMP179 technology. Other than our NMP22 products, the allergy and other
diagnostic products distributed by our German subsidiary and any product or test that may be offered by
Sysmex Corporation incorporating our NMP179 technology, none of our technologies has been commercial-
ized or is close enough to commercialization to be expected to generate revenue in the foreseeable future, if at
all. If we are unable to successfully develop and commercialize other products or technologies, the future
prospects for our business, sales and profits will be materially limited. In addition, if we are unable to develop
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and commerc:alize additional products to diversify our revenue streams, great reliance will be placed on the
success of our few existing products.

If we are unable to manufacture or otherwise obtain the product volumes we need, we may be unably to
achieve profitability.

We currently manufacture our NMP22 Test Kits and package our NMP22 BladderChek Tests in our
Newton, Masuachusetts facility but we rely on third party vendors for certain components and processes for
each of these products. Neither we nor our vendors have experience in manufacturing and assembling our
NMP22 Test Kits and our BladderChek Tests in large volumes. As a result of the execution in November 2006
of a supply agreement with Inverness, we have arranged for Inverness to become an additional supplier for
this product aad to have multiple manufacturing locations for our NMP22 BladderChek Test. However, the
ability of a new manufacturer to make this product satisfactorily is largely untested, as is the ability of a new
manufacturer to produce large volumes of the product satisfactorily and on a timely basis, Further, the FDA
must approve and qualify any new manufacturing locations of our NMP22 BladderChek Test before tests
manufactured at the new location can be sold in the United States. We expect the sales volume of our NMP22
BladderChek 'Test will generally continue to grow, although we expect that quarter-over-quarter sales may not
always increase and the rate of increase will likely not remain constant. We and/or our suppliers of our
NMP22 BladderChek Test may encounter difficulties in scaling up production of products, including problems
involving:

* produciion yields;

* quality control and assurance;

* component supply; and

+ shortages of qualified personnel.

These problems could make it difficult to produce sufficient quantities of preduct to satisfy customer
needs and could result in customer dissatisfaction and decreased sales. In addition, if quality problems arise or
if we need to undertake any significant manufacturing changes in order 10 achieve desired product volumes,
we may be subject to review and/or other action by the governmental authorities that extensively regulate our
manufacturing operations.

If we lose the services of our suppliers or assemblers, we may be unable to meet commitments to our cus-
tomers and our results of operations would suffer.

We do not currently have alternative suppliers manufacturing our NMP22 BladderChek Tests or providing
processes for our NMP22 Test Kits. Unless and until we secure additional suppliers for the NMP22
BladderChek Test and for processes for the NMP22 Test Kit and we demonstrate to the FDA that additional
suppliers are ejuivalent to our current sources, we will be at risk of disruption of our product supply and may
be unable to meet our sales commitments to customers. Although we have executed a supply agreement with
Inverness for cur NMP22 BladderChek Test and Inverness plans on having multiple manufacturing locations
qualified and available for the manufacture of this product, to date the product is being manufactured at only
one location and only one location has been qualified. We have not yet obtained approval from the FDA to
use a different manufacturing location. We may face delays in securing FDA approval for use of an additional
manufacturing location for the NMP22 BladderChek Test and we may not be able to secure the necessary
approval at all. In that event, we would expect that our product would continue to be manufactured at the
same location -t has been for several years. While we attempt to maintain an adequate level of inventory 1o
provide for contingencies such as key product components becoming unavailable or available in insufficient
quantities, or an assembler failing to meet our requirements, our inventory levels may not be adequate to meet
our commitments for an extended period of time. We may be forced to modify our products to enable another
supplier or another manufacturing location to meet our requirements or we may be required to cease
production and sale of our products altogether if our existing supply sources do not continue to provide
sufficient quan-ities of product to us for whatever reason. Any product modification or cessation of production
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and sale of our products would likely cause us to fail to satisfy our sales commitments to customers. Our
failure or delay in meeting our sales commitments would likely cause sales to decrease, could result in
significant expense to obtain alternative sources of supply or assembly with the necessary facilitics and know-
how, and would negatively affect our results of operations.

We may need to stop selling our NMP22 BladderChek Tests if we cannot obtain necessary licenses or
waivers to use lateral flow technology, and we may need to stop selling other products if third parties
assert infringement claims against us.

QOur NMP22 BladderChek Test uses lateral flow technology consisting of an absorbent material that soaks
up urine from a small reservoir at one end of the container housing the test strip and exposes the urine to
chemicals and antibodies arranged on the surface of or imbedded in the test strip. After a reaction with our
proprietary antibodies, a test result appears in a window located on the container housing the test strip. The
manufacture, use, sale, or import of point-of-care products that include lateral flow techrology requires us to
obtain patent licenses in some jurisdictions. In August 2004, we entered into a license agreement, effective as
of April 1, 2004, with one holder of certain patent rights, Abbott Laboratories. In November 2006, we entered
into a supply agreement with Inverness, which holds substantial patent rights in the lateral flow area covering
the professional field, which includes licensed health care providers and diagnostic laboratories. As part of this
agreement, we have secured protection from claims by Inverness of infringement of its lateral flow patent
rights for products we purchase from Inverness and resell in the professional field. Inverness has also agreed
not to sue us, our resellers, distributors and end-customers for infringement of these lateral flow patent rights
for products sold prior to November 3, 2006. If we are unable to obtain any additional patent licenses we need
or similar protection from infringement claims in order to permit us to make, use, sell, or import our NMP22
BladderChek Test products in the United States or in other jurisdictions, we will have to stop selling our
NMP22 BladderChek Tests in these jurisdictions until the expiration of the relevant patents or until we are
able to develop an alternative non-infringing design solution that uses a different technology. We may not,
however, be able to do this on a timely basis. In addition, we may also be subject to litigation that seeks a
percentage of the revenues we have received from the sale of our NMP22 BladderChek Tests. We accrue
estimated royalties on sales of our NMP22 BladderChek Test based on estimates of our obligations under
existing licensing agreements and, when probable and estimable, based upon our appraisal of intellectual
property claims to which we may be subject. If we are required to obtain additional licenses, the additional
royalties due for those licenses may substantially reduce our gross profits and make it difficult or impossible
for us to achieve profitability without new products or sources of revenue.

We have not identified or been advised by third parties of any rights owned by others that would require
us to secure licenses or waivers in order to manufacture, use, sell or import our NMP22 Test Kit product. We
believe that our NMP22 Test Kit does not infringe upon the proprietary rights of third parties. However, it
may be difficult or impossible to identify, prior to receipt of notice from a third party, the patent position or
other intellectual property rights of the third party, either in the United States or in foreign jurisdictions. If our
NMP22 Test Kits are found to infringe other parties’ proprietary righis and we are unable to come to terms
with such parties, we may be forced to modify the NMP22 Test Kits to make them non-infringing or to cease
preduction of such products altogether.

We compete with other methods of diagnosing cancer that already exist or may be successfully developed
by others and our products may not prevail as the method of choice.

Although we are not aware of any other company selling FDA-approved diagnostic or therapeutic
products that incorporate nuclear matrix protein technology, competition in the development and marketing of
cancer diagnostics and therapeutics, using a variety of technologies, is intense. Many pharmaceutical
companies, biotechnology companies, public and private universities and research organizations actively
engage in the research and development of cancer diagnostic products. Many of these organizations have
greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and human resources than we do.

We expect that our current and future products will compete with existing FDA-approved tests, such
UroVysion, which has been approved for both monitoring and diagnosing bladder cancer, and BTA Stat, which

30




is a point-of-care test that has been approved for use in monitoring bladder cancer patients; a test known as
CEA, which is used primarily for menitoring colorectal and breast cancers; a test known as CA19.9, which ts
used primarily for menitoring colorectal and gastric cancers; a test known as PSA, which is used primarily for
monitoring and screening prostate cancer; tests known as TRUQUANT® BR RIA, CA15.3 and CA27.29,
which are used for monitoring breast cancer; and cervical specimen collection and analysis systems known as
Imaging-Directed Cytology™ (Cytyc) and FocalPoint™ slide profiler (TriPath Imaging). We are also aware of
a number of companies that are developing cancer prognostic products based upon gene technology such as
OncoType D». Our diagnostic products will also compete with more invasive or expensive procedures such as
minimally invasive surgery, bone scans, magnetic resonance imaging and other in vivo imaging techniques. In
addition, other companies may introduce competing diagnostic products based on alternative technologies that
may adversely affect our competitive position. As a result, our products may become less competitive, obsolete
of non-competitive.

Low reimbursement rates could limit the per-unit revenues for our products and make it uneconomical to
sell or distiibute them, and limitations on the medical circumstances for which reimbursement is provided
could reduce the potential market for our products.

Our ability to sell our products depends in part on sufficient levels of payment from insurers and/or
patients to enable us and our customers (both physicians and laboratories) to make an adequate profit. Third-
party reimbursement policies, patient attitudes and abilities to pay for some or all of their healthcare, national
healthcare cost control measures and physician or hospital preferences may each influence per-unit revenves
for our produ:ts, usually in different ways in different countries.

In most countries, third party reimbursement is the most important factor in achieving adequate per-vnit
pricing. Typically a necessary but not sufficient condition for obtaining third party reimbursement is an
approval from: that nation’s healthcare product regulatory authorities (such as the FDA in the United States).
However, approvals by these authorities typically do not compel reimbursement by medical insurers, do not
establish a reimbursement price and do not set forth the specific medical circumstances required to be satisfied
in order to qualify for reimbursement. These are typically the province of the health care plans, whether
private or putlic. Further, initial approval by a health care plan does not ensure continued reimbursement or
stable prices. At a later date some insurers may decide not to continue reimbursement at all, not to continze
reimbursemert for certain medical applications and/or to decrease the reimbursement amount. Low reimburse-
ment, no reimbursement or reimbursement that requires a patient to pay a significant portion of the cost could
have a materiil adverse impact on our potential revenues.

In the United States, broad scale reimbursement (including both national healthcare plans such as
Medicare and most private insurers) has removed financial barriers for a substantial majority of all potential
patients. This has created an opportunity for our physician customers to sell diagnostic services based on our
products to most of their patients being evaluated for bladder cancer. If Medicare or these private insurers
were to lower reimbursement rates, we believe our revenues would fall in part because physicians might have
decreased interest in using our products.

To date in Germany, where the national reimbursement bodies have not approved our product to be
reimbursed, much of our sales revenue to physicians results from patients paying for our products themselves
(“self-pay patents™). This lack of reimbursement may have limited the number of potential patients for our
product. On the other hand, our product sales may have benefited because there have not been restrictions on
the amounts that physicians are able to charge and physicians have not been restricted to order the test only in
those medical circumstances contained in a reimbursement policy. However, if the national reimbursement
bodies were to designate our products as reimbursable and did so at a low rate or for very limited clinical
indications, it might decrease the prices we could charge, lower the volume of tests which may be ordered
and, in general, decrease the interest of physicians in using our products. Reimbursement designation, however,
could enable a far greater number of patients to be tested with our products, which would partially offset such
per-unit revenue decline.

31




Reimbursement decisions can also be affected by nationa! policies designed to control healthcare costs.
These policies can limit prices paid for tests or limit the circumstances in which public and private insurers
will reimburse the cost of tests. For example, Medicare has frozen reimbursement for clinical laboratory tests
at 2003 levels and future changes could impose limitations on the prices our physician and laboratory
customers can charge for the services based on our products. The future announcement or adoption of such
proposals could reduce the profitability of our business,

We expect that reimbursement approval will be obtained in some other countries where our products arc
sold, but do not believe reimbursement rates in all countries will be as favorable as in the United States. Broad
scale reimbursement approval for our NMP22 BladderChek Test has not yet occurred in the principal countries
of Asia (except in Japan) or in the principal countries of Europe (including Germany).

Even with apparently attractive reimbursement levels, the attitudes of physicians, hospitals, laboratories,
clinics and other customers may limit our per-product revenue because their profit expectations may influence
their use of our products and their attitudes toward the price we charge them. To the extent that we are unable
to price our products to achieve physician or laboratory profit expectations, sales of our products may suffer.

We and our distributors are subject to extensive government regulation which adds te the cost and com-
plexity of our business, may result in unexpected delays and difficulties, may impose severe penalties for
violations and may prevent the ultimate sale or distribution of our products in certain countries.

The FDA and many foreign governments stringently regulate the medical devices that we manufacture
and that we and our distributors market to physicians or other customers. The FDA regulates the clinical
testing, manufacture, labeling, distribution and promotion of medical devices in the United States and agencies
in the European Union, Japan and other countries where we sell our products have their own regulations. If
our products do not receive appropriate approvals from medical device regulatory authorities in any country,
we can not sell our products in that country, either on our own or through distributors.

Any products that we or our suppliers manufacture or distribute in accordance with FDA approvals are !
subject to stringent regulation by the FDA, including:

» keeping records and reporting adverse experiences with the use of the devices we make and distribute;

« registering our establishments and listing our devices with the FDA. Manufacturing establishments are
subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies, and

» requiring our products to be manufactured in accordance with complex regulations known as Quality
System Regulations which include procedural and documentation requirements for our manufacturing
and quality assurance activities,

If we fail to comply with any FDA requirement, we may face a number of costly and/or time consuming
enforcement actions, including:

* fines,

* injunctions;

* civil penalties;

* recall or seizure of products;

« total or partial suspension of production;

» delay or refusal of the agency to grant premarket clearance or premarket approval for other devices in
our development pipeline;

» withdrawal of marketing approvals; and

* criminal prosecution.

32




The FDA and foreign governmental agencies have the authority to request the repair, replacement or
refund of the cost of any device that we manufacture or distribute if it is non-compliant. Faiture to comply
with medical device and quality regulations in countries outside the United States where we sell our products
can result in f.nes, penalties, seizure or return of products and the inability to sell the product in those
countries either on our own or through our distributors.

Labeling and promotional activities are subject to scrutiny in the United States by the FDA and, in certain
instances, by the Federal Trade Commmission, and by regulatory bodies in most countries outside the United
States where v/e sell products. For example, our NMP22 Test Kit has received FDA approval and may be
promoted by vs only as an aid in the management of patients with bladder cancer or as a diagnostic aid for
use for previously undiagnosed individuals who have symptoms of or are at risk for bladder cancer. The FDA
actively enforces regulations prohibiting the promotion of devices for unapproved uses and the promotion f
devices for which premarket approval or clearance has not been obtained. In order to permit our distributor,
Inverness, to sell our NMP22 BladderChek Test in the non-prescription, OTC market in the U.S., we will have
to conduct clinical trials, make an additional submission to the FDA and secure FDA approval. There is no
guarantee that clinical trials we conduct will support a non-prescription, OTC use of the NMP22 BladderChek
Test, that we will be able to secure FDA approval for sale in that market or that Inverness will ever commence
sale of our NMP22 BladderChek Test in that markft.

In addition to federal regulations regarding manufacture and promotion of medical devices, we are also
subject to a number of state laws and regulations that may hinder our ability to market our products in those
states or localities. Manufacturers in general are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating
to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard
control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. We may be required to incur significant
costs to comply with these laws and regulations in the future, which could increase future losses or reduce
future profitability.

We may encounter insurmountable obstacles or incur substantially greater costs and delays than antici-
pated in the development process.

From tim= to time, we have experienced setbacks and delays in our research and development efforts and
may encounter further obstacles in the course of the development of additional technologies, products and
services. We may not be able to overcome these obstacles or may have to expend significant additional funds
and time. For :xample, in 1997 we elected to terminate development of a blood-based test for PC1, a
candidate marler for prostate cancer, due to unexpected difficulties. Despite encouraging initial results from
an earlier low throughput research testing method, we were unable to develop a kit for use in testing prostate
cancer patients even when we employed 1997 state-of-the-art detection methods. We have subsequently
announced that a different set of proteins (NMP48), discovered using a different discovery method, are the
primary candiclates in our prostate cancer program. More recently, we and others have observed that the testing
results of a low throughput research mass spectrometry instrument are not readily reproducible or transferable
to high througliput mass spectrometry instruments. As a result, the preliminary positive results our scientists
have achieved using monoclonal antibody based immunoassays and reverse transcriptase polymerase chain
reaction have caused us to direct our product development resources to these methods for the past two years.
If we fail to successfully develop clinical tests based upon any of these methods, we may be forced to curtail
or abandon the se programs and others that share the same characteristics or approach. In 2006, we reportecd
that the sensitivity and specificity of the breast cancer tests we have had in development were not sufficient to
begin clinical irials for submission to the FDA and that we were proceeding with testing of additional antibody
pairs, includin;: some focused on different targets. Technical obstacles and challenges we encounter in our
research and dzvelopment process may result in delays in or abandonment of product commercialization, may
substantially increase the costs of development, and may negatively affect our results of operations.
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We often face challenges in replicating the research results we obtain in our laboratories in clinical trials
and, as a result, we may have difficulty commerecializing our products.

Investors should not expect products that we commercialize to perform as well as preliminary discovery
research results in the small numbers of samples reported by us. In large-scale clinical trials, such as those
required by the FDA, we expect to encounter greater variability and risks including but not limited to:

* obtaining acceptable specimens from patients and healthy individuals;

* testing a much larger population of individuals than we tested in early discovery which will be likely to
include more biologic variability;

» preparation methods for the specimens using lower cost, high throughput procedures which might result
in performance different from those used in early discovery; and

« inability to develop economic and reproducible test methods for the substance to be measured.

We believe that testing our final products in a clinical setting will result in product performance that may
not be as accurate as the results reported during the discovery phase. Therefore, the best comparative data to
be used in evaluating our product development programs are the results of physician trials of commercial
products such as those reported since 1996 for our NMP22 products.

Successful technical development of our products does not guarantee successful commercialization.

We may successfully complete technical development for one or all of our product development
programs, but still fail to develop a commercially successful product for a number of reasons, including the
following:

» failure to obtain the required regulatory approvals for their use;

¢ prohibitive production costs;

« clinical trial results might differ from discovery phase data; and

= variation of perceived clinical value of products from physician to physician.

Qur success in the market for the diagnostic products we develop will also depend greatly on our ability
to educate physicians, patients, insurers and our distributors on the medical benefits of our new products. Even
if we successfully educate the market, competing products may prevent us from gaining wide market
acceptance of our products.

We have no demonstrated success in developing cellular analysis systems and any future success in this
area will be highly dependent upon Sysmex Corporation.

We believe the future success of our business wilt also depend, in part, upon Sysmex Corporation
developing a satisfactory ceilular analysis system incorporating our NMP179 technology to measure clinically
useful cervical disease proteins. Even if Sysmex completes its product development efforts to its satisfaction, it
is expected to face significant obstacles (including but not limited to those set forth in “Risk Factors —
Successful technical development of our products does not guarantee successful commercialization™} in
developing a system that will be approved by the FDA (or similar regulatory authorities in other countries)
and selling such systems to cervical cancer testing laboratories at a satisfactory price. Our success in cervical
disease cellular analysis systems is almost entirely dependent on the success of Sysmex in utilizing our
technology and on its ability to educate physicians, patients, insurers and its distributors about the medical
utility of the new products. Even if Sysmex successfully educates the market, competing products may prevent
Sysmex from gaining wide market acceptance of its products.
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If we do not adeguately protect our intellectual property, we could lose our ability to compete in the
marketplace.

Protection of our intellectual property is necessary for the success of our products and our business.
Patent protection can be limited and not all intellectual property is or can be protected by patent. We rely on a
combination of patent, trade secret and trademark laws, nondisclosure and other contractual provisions and
technical measures to protect our proprietary rights in our current and planned products. We have little
protection when we must rely on trade secrets and nondisclosure agreements. Qur competitors may indepen-
dently develop technologies and products that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology and
products. If o1r competitors develop superior or competing technology and are able to produce products
similar to or better than ours, our revenues could decrease.

While wi: have cbtained patents where advisable, patent law relating to the scope of certain claims in the
biotechnology field is still evolving. In some instances we have taken an aggressive position in seeking patent
protection for our inventions and in those cases the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights i«
uncertain. In addition, the laws of certain countries in which our products are, or may be, licensed or sold do
not protect our products and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

If we are unable to recruit and refain key management, scientific and sales personnel, our business would
be negatively affected.

For our tusiness to be successful, we need to attract and retain highly qualified scientific, sales and
management personnel. As of March 1, 2007, we employed fewer than 80 employees. The loss of key
members of 01r scientific staff or a number of our sales staff, within a short period of time and the failure to
recruit the necessary additional or replacement personnel when needed with specific qualifications and on
acceptable terms might impede our research and development efforts and/or our direct-to-the-doctor marketing
strategy. Our success is also greatly dependent on the efforts and abilities of our management team. The
simultaneous loss of multiple members of senior management may delay achievement of our business
objectives due to the time that would be needed for their replacements to be recruited and become familiar
with our business. We face intense competition for qualified personnel from other companies, research and.
academic institutions, government entities and other organizations.

We may be unable to establish distributor relationships with high revenue potential in jurisdictions where
we do not have a direct sales force.

We rely primarily on distributors to market our NMP22 BladderChek Tests in territories other than the
United States and Germany. To date, our distribution arrangements in those other territories have not produced
sales levels or sales growth consistent with the progress achieved by our own direct-to-the-doctor sales forces
operating in the United States and Germany. We have limited experience in selecting and managing
distributors and we do not know whether our existing distributors or others we may engage in the future will
achieve substaatial sales levels of our products in the near term or at all. Failure to establish successful product
distribution could severely limit the growth potential for our products, and our revenue and results of operztion
could be negatively affected.

The aperations of our German subsidiary invelve currency exchange rate variability and other risks that
could negatively affect our results of operations.

Historically, our German subsidiary has accounted for a large portion of our product sales. Accounts of
our German subsidiary are maintained in euros and are translated into U.S. dollars. To the extent that foreign
currency exchange rates fluctuate, we may be exposed to significant financial variability, both favorable and
unfavorable.

In addition, although we have integrated the operations of our German subsidiary since we acquired it in
June 2000, we still must coordinate geographically separate organizations, manage personnel with disparate:
business backgrounds and conduct business in a different regulatory and corporate culture. It remains to be
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seen whether the use of this subsidiary to spearhead the marketing effort of our products in Europe outside of
Germany will be successful in the long term.

If we are sued for product-related liabilities, the cost could be prohibitive fo us.

The testing, marketing and sale of human healthcare products entail an inherent exposure to product
liability claims. Third parties may successfully assert product liability claims against us. Although we currently
have insurance covering claims against our praducts, we may not be able to maintain this insurance at
acceptable cost in the future, if at all. In addition, our insurance may not be sufficient to cover particularly
large claims. Significant product liability claims could result in large and unexpected expenses as well as a
costly distraction of management resources and potential negative publicity and reduced demand for our
products.

If the products we distribute which are made by other companies become unavailable or do not meet
quality standards, we may lose revenues and may face liability claims.

If the products we distribute, but do not manufacture, become unavailable for any reason or fail to meet
our quality standards, we would need to seek alternative sources of supply. If we are unable to find alternative
sources of an equivalent product we may be required to cease distribution of those products affected by this
supply issue, which could cause revenues to decrease or be lost permanently. Furthermore, if products which
we distribute, but do not manufacture, should be found defective, we could be sued for product liability or
other claims.

Qur activities involve the use of hazardous materials and we may be held liable for any accidental injury
Jrom these hazardous materials.

Our research and development and assembly activities involve the use of hazardous materials, including
carcinogenic compounds. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing of our
hazardous materials comply with the standards prescribed by federal, state and local laws and regulations, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event
of an accident or exposure, we could be held liable for resulting damages, and significant and unexpected
costs, as well as costs retated to increased insurance premiums or even the inability to obtain adequate,
insurance at a reasonable price. We might also face costs associated with loss of operations during any
required clean-up. Any costs or liabilities resulting from our use of hazardous materials may negatively impact
our financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters in Newton, Massachusetts which houses our research and development and
manufacturing facilities comprise approximately 22,500 square feet. Our lease expires on December 31, 2010
and we have the right to renew for an additional five-year period at the then market rate. The annual base rent
for each year is $414,360. These facilities are adequate to meet our expected growth for at least the next two
years, but would require substantial modification or expansion if we were to start manufacturing our NMP22
BladderChek Test at the facility, Additionally, we lease approximately 6,200 square feet of sales office space
in Freiburg, Germany. The German lease is for a term of five years and expires on January 31, 2011, and we
have the right to renew for an additional five-year period. The annual base rent for each year of the term is
approximately $90,000. These facilities are adequate to meet our expected growth in Germany for at least the
next year.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In the normal course of conducting our business we are, from time to time, involved in legal proceedings
and other claims arising out of our operations. We do not currently anticipate that any pending litigation or
dispute will have a materially adverse affect on our business or our financial condition.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Yote of Security Holders.

No matt:rs were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2006.

PART 11

Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Maiters and Issuer Purchases of
Eqitity Securities,

Our comrmon stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “MZT”. The following
table sets forth the range of quarterly high and low sales price information and bid price information for the
common stock as reported by AMEX.

High  Low_
Fiscal 2005
First QUarter . ..o o e e e e e e $1.46  $0.90
Second JUamer .. ... . e e e e e 1.07 0.6}
Third I arET . . . .. . ittt e e e e e 0.73 0.55
Fourth Qianter . . . ... . i e e e e 0.95 0.52
Fiscal 2006
o410 0,11y ¢ P $095 $0.52
Second QUarter ... ... .. .. . e e e e e 1.56 0.79
Third QUATtEr . . . . . o e e e e 1.09 0.54
Fourth Quarer | . ... e e e e e e 0.85 0.57

As of March 1, 2007, there were approximately 350 shareholders of record. We believe that shares of our
common stoc< held in bank, money management, institution and brokerage house “nominee” names may
account for an estimated 9,400 additional beneficial holders.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any earnings to
finance future growth and therefore do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2006 with respect to our shares of common
stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans and arrangements.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

Number of Securities Weighted-Average Issuance Under Equity
to be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Compensation Plans
of OQutstanding Options, Qutstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) ()
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders(1) ........... 7,007,676 $1.88 4.8098,789(3)
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders(2) . . .. 2,711,219 $1.26 —
Total ... ... ... 9,718,895 $1.58 4,898,789

(1) Includes the 1992 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, 1992 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan,
2002 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2002 Plan™), 2002 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan
and the 2006 Equity and Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”). The 2006 Plan was approved by our stockhold-
ers on June 9, 2006, but we have not issued any options under the 2006 Plan, and do not intend to do so
until the shares of Common Stock that can be issued pursuant to the 2006 Plan are registered on Form 5-8
with the SEC.

(2) Consists of the following:

a. warrants to purchase 485,176 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $1.84 to $2.70 per share,
which were issued in 2003 to placement agents in connection with a stock offering and are exercisable
until October 2008.

b. warrants to purchase 98,039 shares of common stock at a price of $0.65 per share, which were issued
in 2003 to a placement agent in connection with a debenture offering and are exercisable until March
2008.

¢. warrants to purchase 434,475 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.65 to $2.00 per share,
which were issued in 2004 to placement agents in connection with a common stock offering and are
exercisable until March 2009,

d. warrants to purchase 656,920 shares of common stock at a price of $1.34 per share, which were issued
in 2005 to a placement agent in connection with a stock offering and are exercisable until March 2010.

e. warrants to purchase 1,036,609 shares of common stock at a price of $0.65 per share, which were
issued in 2006 to placement agents in connection with a debenture offering and are exercisable until
March 2011.

(3) Consists of shares available for future issuance under the 2002 Plan and 2002 Non-Employee Director
Stock Option Plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Reference is made to the information contained in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 24,
2007.

Stock Performance Graph

The Stock Performance Graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the
Company’s Common Stock from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2006, with the cumulative total return
of the Nasdag Market Index and the RDG MicroCap Biotechnology Index over the same period.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN (1)(2)(3)(d)

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN#*
Among Matritech, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The RDG MicroCap Biotechnology Index
$160 4

5140 | _A
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—-8— Matritech, Inc. — A — NASDAG Composlte - - QO - - RDG MicroCap Biotechnology

* %100 invested in 12/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending
December 31.

(1) This graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date
hereof anc. irrespective of any general incorporation langvage in any such filing.

(2) The stock price performance of the Company shown on the graph is not necessarily indicative of futurs
price performance.

(3) The RDG MicroCap Biotechnology Index is a proprietary database of Research Data Group of $an Frin-
cisco, CA consisting of 188 issuers.

{4) Informaticn used on the graph was obtained from Research Data Group, a source believed to be reliable,
but the Ccmpany is not responsible for any errors or omissions in such information.

We have chosen to include a comparison with the RDG MicroCap Biotechnology Index because the
issuers in that index all have a market capitalization ranging from 30 to $300 million and are all involved in
the same broad industry in which the Company is involved. Qur market capitalization as of December 31,
2006 was $38 million.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2006,

39



Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected financial data presented below for each year in the five-year period ended December 31,
2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. These data should be read in
conjunction with our financial statements, related notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations™ and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Product sales and collaboration
fR=A =11 |11 $ 3,280,131 $ 4,375,211 § 7.483,005 $10,415470 $ 12,195,025
Expenses:
Cost of product sales. .. ....... 2,149,115 2,008,954 2,579,581 3,085,465 3,122,099
Research & development and
clinical & regulatory ........ 3,805,435 2,647,716 2,726,030 2,862,744 2,868,935
Selling, general and
admunistrative . . ........... 5,657,908 6,574,088 10,545,268 12,196,962 14,233,523
Total operating expenses . . . .. 11,612,458 11,230,758 15,850,879 18,145,171 20,224,557
Gain on sale of fixed assets. .. .. — — — 60,091 e
Loss from operations. ... .... (8,332,327)  (6,855,547)  (8,367,784) (7,669,610)  (8,029,532)
Interestincome . . ............ 75,164 76,629 97,741 120,051 136,186
Interest expense . ............ 21,111 (1,099,372) (2,853,112) (2,215,102) (3,986,828)
Mark-to-market adjustment from
WAITANES . . oot e v e ennn s _— — — 1,899,698 —_
Mark-to-market adjustment from
registration rights . ......... — — — — (54,628)
Netloss ................. $(8,278,274) $(7,878,290) $(11,123,155) $(7,864,963) $(11,934,802)
Beneficial conversion feature
related to series A convertible
preferred stock ............ — —— —  (1,627,232) —
Net loss attributable to
common shareholders .. ... $(8,278,274) $(7,878,290) $(11,123,155) $(9,492,195) $(11,934,802)
Basic/diluted net loss per common
share ............. ... ..., $ (0.27) § {0.24) § 027 § 021) $ (0.22)
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding. . . . . 30,490,071 32,956,888 40,686,755 45,002,662 54,595,633
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2005

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents(l)... $ 4,172,013 § 7,518,124 § 4906,178 $ 1,789,792 $ 1,460,403

Working captal. . ... ........ 3,663,781 5,434,456 3,179,745 1,643,438 (3,606,729)
Total assets . . .............. 6,818,173 10,418,320 8,245,996 5,627,984 5,505,875
Long-term debt(2). .. ..... ... 316,433 1,338,062 371,770 9,979 05,227
Series A convertible preferred

Stock. ..o — — — 729,495 104,312
Accumulated deficit ......... (71,120,587) (78,998,877} (90,122,032) (97,986,995) (109,921,797)
Total stockhclders’ equity

(deficit). . . .............. $ 3838985 $ 4798230 3§ 3394912 § 1,353,744 $ (2,900,452)

(1) On January 22, 2007, we completed a financing with gross proceeds of approximately $4,365,000.

(2) At Deceraber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the aggregate face value of our current and long-term debt was
$6,162,584, $792,781 and $3,103,991, respectively, and the carrying value was $3,412,087, $658,521 and
$1,782,191, respectively.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with our Consolidated Financial Statements
and related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This Annual Report, other reports and communications to security holders, as well as oral statements macle by
our officers cr agents contain trend analyses and other forward-looking statements which are made pursuznt to
the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements in this
Annual Repo:t on Form 10-K that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. These
forward-tooking statements are based on a number of assumptions and involve known and unknown risks.
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or develop-
ments in our business or industry, to differ materially from those indicated or anticipated in any forward-
looking staternent. Factors that may cause such differences or otherwise affect our business, results of
operations ani financial condition include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Item 1A and elsewhere in
this Annual Feport and in our other reports filed with the SEC. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees
of future results, but rather are based on management’s current plans, estimates, opinions and projections. We
assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements if assumptions or these plans, estimates, opinions
or projections should change.

Overview

Our most important source of revenue and revenue growth in the near term is our NMP22 BladderClek
Test, a point-of-care test product developed by our scientists based upon our proprietary NMP technology. Our
own sales forces, based in the U.S. and Germany, sell our NMP22 BladderChek Test directly to physicians.
The primary market for this product through 2006 has been urologists, but we have expanded our market to
include sales to gynecologists and other physicians in Germany and expect to broaden our target user base in
the U.S. in thz future. In November 2006, we signed a distribution agreement with Inverness whereby we
appointed Invarness as our exclusive distributor for the non-prescription, OTC, sale of our NMP22
BladderChek Test in the United States. We expect to collaborate with Inverness in assessing the market
opportunity, vith a goal of submitting a regulatory filing seeking approval from the U.S, Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) to distribute and sell this test as a non-prescription or OTC test. Distributors sell our
NMP22 BladderChek Test in countries other than the U.S. and Germany.

We also sell our NMP22 Test Kit, which is part of our bladder cancer detection product line, directly and
through distributors in the U.S. In Europe, our German subsidiary directly sells both our NMP22 Test Kit and
allergy and other diagnostic products manufactured by others. The NMP22 Test Kit and the allergy and other
diagnostic prcducts sold by our German subsidiary are less important sources of revenue for us than the
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NMP22 BladderChek Test. While we generally expect revenue growth in our NMP22 product line and in our
NMP22 BladderChek Test in particular, we expect that quarter-over-quarter sales may not always increase. We
recognize that our financial future is closely refated to increasing sales of our NMP22 BladderChek Tests, and
we have and intend to continue to address the challenges of manufacturing an adequate supply of quality
product to meet customer demand. In November 2006, we signed a manufacturing agreement with Inverness
to give us additional resources to manufacture our NMP22 BladderChek Test.

The increased market penetration of our NMP22 BladderChek Test has resulted in increased product
sales, increased revenue per NMP22 BladderChek Test and improvement in our gross profit margin. Our
SG&A expenses have increased substantially during the past three years as we have greatly expanded our
dedicated direct-to-the-doctor sales staff, particularly in the U.S. The increased selling expenditures have
increased our losses in the short term, but our goal is to generate sufficient additional gross profit from
increased product sales to cover these increased selling expenses. As an indication of that progress, our SG&A
expenses as a percentage of our gross profit on product sales have declined from 225% in 2004 to 159% in
2006 despite an increase of over $3.7 miltion in SG&A expense between 2004 and 2006. We have also
committed substantial expenditures to our research and development efforts, primarily directed toward
development of a new blood-based breast cancer diagnostic test.

We are continuing our collaboration with Sysmex, based in Kobe, Japan, a leading manufacturer of
automated laboratory instruments in the field of cervical cell (“Pap smear”) testing. We are also continuing the
development of our core diagnostic technology in breast cancer. We measure our progress in these programs
by achievements such as entering into new strategic partnerships or alliances, obtaining positive clinical trial
results, and ultimately securing regulatory approvals such as the four FDA approvals for our NMP22 products.
We did not conduct any clinical trial or secure any new regulatory approvals in 2000,

We have been unprofitable since inception and expect to incur significant additional operating losses
during at least the next two years. We do not expect to achieve profitability until we greatly expand the
number of physicians using our NMP22 BladderChek Test product, increase their rate of usage of that test or
develop other sources of revenues from our collaboration and research and development projects. For the
period from inception to December 31, 2006, we incurred a cumulative net loss of approximately $110 million.
To provide funds to support our direct sales force and our ongoing research and development efforts, we raised
additional capital in each of the past three years. In January 2007, we sold the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes
and accompanying 2007 Purchaser Warrants for an aggregate consideration of approximately $4.36 million
(before cash commission and expenses of approximately $520,000). The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are
initially convertible into 6,928,572 shares of our Common Stock and the 2007 Purchaser Warrants to purchase
up to 4,157,143 shares of our Common Stock, both at a price of $0.63 per share. We also issued placement
agent warrants to purchase up to 55,556 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $0.76 per share. The
conversion price of the 2007 Secured Converitble Notes and the exercise prices of the 2007 Warrants are
subject to adjustment in the event of subsequent dilutive issuances, but only if our stockholders approve
issuance below $0.63 per share. A failure to adequately finance the company in the near term would have a
material adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate as a going concern. Success in raising capital to
fund the cost of our product distribution and development programs is an important element of our strategy.

AMEX, where our Common Stock is currently listed, maintains standards and requirements for initial and
continued listing of securities. In September 2006, we received notice from AMEX that we were not in
compliance with certain continued listing standards relative to maintenance of stockholders’ equity and
profitability. On October 23, 2006, we submitted to AMEX a plan of proposed action we believe will bring us
into compliance with applicable listing standards no later than March 21, 2008. On December 8, 2006, we
received notice that AMEX had accepted our plan. AMEX may initiate delisting procedures against us if we
do not make progress consistent with our plan during the plan period or we are not in compliance with
applicable listing standards at the end of the plan period. Delisting of shares of our Common Stock would
violate terms of our various financing documents and make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital.
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Results of O perations
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenues

2005 2006 $ Change % Changa

Product Sales (net of allowances):
NMPZ2 BladderChek Test Sales....... $ 7,686,000 $10,032,000 52,346,000 31%
NMPZ2 Test Kit Sales . . ............ 857,000 1,057,000 200,000 23%
Other Product Sales . . .............. 1,747,000 996,000 {751,000) {43)%
Total Product Sales. ... ........... 10,290,000 12,085,000 1,795,000 17%
Alliance and Collaboration Revenue. . .. .. 125,000 110,000 (15,000) (12)%:
Total Revenue . ... ........covvunn.. $10,415,000 $12,195,000  $1,780,000 17%

The incrzase in revenue in 2006 from the NMP22 BladderChek Test is the result of a $2,280,000 salzs
increase and i $66,000 favorable exchange rate impact. The $2,280,000 increase in NMP22 BladderChek Test
sales is comprised of a $1,822,000 increase in volume, primarily in Germany, accompanied by a $458,000
increase in average selling prices. The increase in volume is primarily due to growth in both the Germany
gynecology aad urology markets. The average selling price increased in 2006 over the same period in 2005
because aver:zge selling prices increased in Germany due to favorable customer mix and because German
sales, which have higher average selling prices than U.S. sales, increased as a percentage of total sales.
NMP22 BladderChek Test sales accounted for approximately 90% of sales in the NMP22 product line in 2005
and 2006. Th2 increase in revenue from our NMP22 Lab Test Kit sales is the result of a $196,000 increase,
principally th: result of increased unit volume, and a $4,000 favorable exchange rate impact. We included in
the category of Lab Test Kit sales in 2005 the sale by Diagnostic Products Corporation (“DPC”) in Germany
of a fully antomated laboratory test incorperating our NMP22 technology that DPC manufactured and sold for
use on its autdmated laboratory analyzers. We terminated our Product Supply and Marketing Agreement with
DPC effective December 31, 2005.

The deciease in revenue from our non-NMP22 products (listed in the table above as Other Product Sales)
is mainly due to a decrease in the sales volume of third party allergy products in Germany. Our distribution
agreement with Hitachi Chemical Diagnostics, Inc. was terminated effective September 30, 2005. In the full of
2005, our German subsidiary began selling allergy products manufactured by another company. We expect
sales of these allergy products by our German subsidiary to continue for at least the near term. However, we
expect our Other Product Sales will continue to decline and to be substantially lower than in the periods prior
to terminatior of the Hitachi agreement due to lower product sales volumes. If we do not continue to sell
another allergy product line, our Other Product Sales in future quarters would likely further decrease and
become insignificant to our revenues.

When we have sufficient history to estimate product returns for a distributor, we recognize revenoe when
we ship our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to that distributor. In 2006, we sold approximately $363,000 of our
NMP22 BladderChek Tests to distributors for which we had sufficient history to estimate returns and
approximately $130,000 to distributors for which we did not have such history. Accordingly, $130,000 of
shipments were recorded as deferred revenue and will be recognized as revenue when the distributor reports to
us that it no longer has the product, when we determine the shelf life of the product has expired (each
indicating tha! the possibility of return is remote) or after we have ten quarters of experience with an
individual dis ributor. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, $212,000 and $91,000 remained in deferred product
revenue, respectively. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimate” for a description of our revenue
recognition policy.

In 2006, we determined that we had sufficient history to estimate product returns for three additional
distributors ard, therefore, we are now recognizing revenue when we ship our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to
these distributors. We have also recognized all deferred revenue relating to our NMP22 BladderChek Test
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shipments to these distributors for the period ended December 31, 2006. This has resulted in our recognizing
$172,000 of NMP22 BladderChek Test shipments to distributors which previously would have been in deferred
revenue.

Deferred collaboration revenue represents upfront non-refundable payments that are recognized as we
complete our performance obligations.

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

2005 2006 $ Change % Change
Alliance and Collaboration revenue. . . ......... $716,000 $706,000 $ (10,000} (%
Deferred product revenue . .. ................ 212,000 91,000 (121,000} (3%

$928,000  $797,000  $(131,000) (14)%

The decrease in the deferred product revenue from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2006 is a result
of an increase in the number of distributors for which we have sufficient history to estimate product returns,
allowing us to recognize revenue currently from prior sales to those distributors. Deferred product revenue also
decreased because distributors for which we do not have sufficient history to estimate preduct returns shipped
more NMP22 BladderChek Tests to end user customers than we shipped in the same period to these
distributors, Unless we change distributors or add significant new distributors, we expect our deferred product
revenue will continue to decrease as we gain sufficient history with our current distributors.

Cost of Product Sales

2005 2006 $ Change % Change
Product Sales ...................... $10,290,000  $12,085,000  $1.795,000 17%
Cost of Product Sales . ............... 3,085,000 3,122,000 37,000 1%
Gross Profit on Product Sales. . ... ...... $ 7,205,000 $ 8,963,000 $1,758,000 24%
Gross Profit Margin on Product Sales. . . . . 70% T4%
Cost of Product Sales as a % of Product
Sales . ... 30% 26%

Cost of product sales includes payroll-related expenses, product materials, rent and related expenses,
supplies, depreciation of fixed assets used in production as well as royalties paid to third parties. Gross profit
on product sales is calculated by deducting the cost of product sales from product sales. The decrease in cost
of product sales on a percentage basis and the increase in our gross profit margin on product sales is largely
the result of increased sales of higher margin NMP22 products worldwide as a percentage of total sales.

Research & Development and Clinical & Regulatory Expenses
2005 2006 $ Change % Change

Research & Development and Clinical &
Regulatory Expenses . .................. $2.863,000  $2,869,000 $6,000 02%

Research & development and clinical & regulatory expenses include the salaries and related overhead of
our research and clinical personnel, laboratory supplies, payments to third parties and sites to help us execute
clinical trials, depreciation of research related equipment, legal expenses related to filing and prosecuting
patents, other direct expenses and an allocation of our occupancy and related expenses based on the square
footage occupied by our research & development staff, their laboratories and clinical & regulatory staff. All of
our research and development programs are similar in nature as they are based on our common protein
discovery technology. As a result, a significant finding in any one cancer type may provide a similar benefit
across all programs. Accordingly, we do not track our research and development costs by individual research
and development programs. However, since our breast cancer program has been our only active development
program since 2004, at least 90% of our research spending has been directed to that program. Research &
development and clinical & regulatory expenses increased slightly in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to
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a $41,000 increase in consultant costs, a $40,000 increase in utilities and a $3,000 increase in payroll related
costs offset by a $25,000 decrease in site payment costs, a $24,000 decrease in research testing costs, a
$21,000 decrcase in repairs and maintenance and a $9,000 decrease in patent-related expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses {“SG&A”)

2005 2006 $ Change % Changn
Gross Profit on Product Sales. .. ........ $ 7,205,000 $ 8,963,000 $1,758,000 24%
Selling, General and Administrative
Expenses........................ 12,197,000 14,234,000 2,037,000 17%
SG&A as a % of Gross Profit on Product
Sales . . ... 169% 159%

Selling, ireneral and administrative expenses increased in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to a
$1,042,000 increase in payroll-related costs resulting principally from increased headcount, mainly to support
greater direct sales efforts described above, a $730,000 increase in sales-related marketing expenses, a
$170,000 increase in professional fees, and a $114,000 increase in temporary help costs offset by a $221,000
decrease in recruiting and relocation fees, The $1,042,000 increase in payroll-related costs also includes a
$138,000 increase in stock-based compensation costs now required to be expensed under SFAS 123R.

We believe that a decrease in our SG&A expenses as a percentage of our gross profit on product sales
from 169% in 2005 to 159% in 2006 is a useful measure of our performance. We expect the growth in gross
profit on product sales in the future to exceed the growth in SG&A expenses, and that SG&A expenses as a
percent of our gross profit on product sales should continue to decline.

Operating i.oss
2005 2006 $ Change % Change

Operating Loss .. ...................... $7,670,000 $8,030,000  $360,000 5%

The operating loss increased primarily due to an increase in SG&A expenses which was not completely
offset by higher gross profits on product sales.

Interest Income
2005 2006 $ Change % Change

Interest Income . ... ....... ... i $120,000  $136,000  $16,000 13%

Interest income increased over 2005 primarily due to higher interest rates.

Interest Expense

2005 2006 $ Change % Change
Interest Felated to Convertible Debentures:
Intetest Paid in Stock. .. ............ $ 137,000 $ 39000 $ (98,000) 2%
Interest Accrued on 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes. . . ............. — 902,000 902,000 100%
Non-Cash Charges to Interest Expense . . 2,077,000 3,030,000 953,000 46%
Total . ... ... . . $2,214,000  $3,971,000 $1,757,000 79%
Interest Related to Other Debt:
Interest Paid in Cash ............... $ 1,000 $ 16000 3 15,000 1500%
Total Interest Expense ... ............. $2,215,000 $3,987,000 $1,772,000 80%
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The interest paid in stock in 2005 related to the Convertible Debentures (as defined below), which were
fully paid by March 31, 2006, The amount reflected for interest paid in stock in 2006 relates primarily to the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes which were converted in the period.

The amount recorded in 2006 for interest accrued on debentures represents unpaid interest related to the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes, which interest was due and payable on January 13, 2007,

The non-cash charges in 2006 increased compared to 2005 primarily due to the increase in non-cash
charges to interest related to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, as further discussed below.

2006 Secured Convertible Notes

In January 2006, we sold our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and recorded approximately $6,001,000 of
related non-cash charges which are being recorded in our statement of operations over the life of the debt. As
of December 31, 2006, approximately $2,757,000 of the $6,001,000 non-cash charges and deferred financing
costs have been amortized and recorded as interest expense and we scheduled the remaining $3,244,000 to be
amortized using the effective interest rate method over the remaining quarters through the final payment due
date in December 2008 (approximately $2,372,000 and $872,000 in 2007 and 2008, respectively). On
January 22, 2007 the scheduled maturity date for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes was shortened to
December 13, 2007, See “Recent Developments” for further information.

Non-Cash charges 1o interest expense for 2006 related to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and
consisted of:

» $419,000 of amortized deferred financing costs, which contributed to reducing the original $912,000
balance of deferred financing costs to $493,000 at December 31, 2006; and

« $2,338,000 of amortized debt discount, which contributed to reducing the $5,089,000 of debt discount
to $2,751,000 at December 31, 2006.

The following table demonstrates the accounting for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and related
discounts from the date of issuance, January 13, 2006, to December 31, 2006.

Value of Notes
Original Value of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes . ................... ..., $ 6,998,000
Discounts Recorded 1n 2006, . . . . ...ttt i i e e, (5,089,000)
2006 Amortization of DiSCOUNTS . . . . . . ot it e e e e e 2,338,000
Payment in Stock. . .. .. ..o {880,000)
Carrying Value of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes at 12/31/06. .. ............... $ 3,367,000

March 2003 Convertible Debentures

We completed a $5.0 million private placement of convertible debentures in March 2003 (the “Convert-
ible Debentures™) and, subsequent to issuance, recorded an additional $4.6 million of non-cash charges related
to the Convertible Debentures which were charged to our income statement through March 31, 2006. All of
the non-cash charges and deferred financing costs have been amortized and charged as interest expense as this
debenture was fully repaid as of March 31, 2006.

Non-Cash charges to interest expense for 2006 related to the Convertible Debentures consisted of:

» $7,000 of amortized deferred financing costs, which contributed to reducing the original $475,000
balance of deferred financing costs to $0 at December 31, 2006;

« $132,000 of non-cash charges 1o record the discount from fair value when making the principal and
interest repayments on the Convertible Debentures in stock rather than cash;

+ $134,000 of amortized debt discount, which contributed to reducing the $4,558,000 of debt discount on
our $5,000,000 note to $0 at December 31, 2006, This debt discount comprises the following: the fair
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value allocated to the warrants issued in conjunction with the convertible debenture, the charge to
account for the beneficial conversion feature recorded at the date the debenture was entered into, and
additional charges to account for the beneficial conversion feature recorded in the fourth quarter of
2003, the first quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005 as a result of the triggering of the anti-
diluticn provisions.

The following table demonstrates the accounting for the Convertible Debentures and related discounts
during 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and the resulting balance at March 31, 2006.

Value of

Debentures
' Original Value of Debenture . . . .. .. ... ... . . .. i i e $ 5,000,000
Discounts Recorded in 2003 . . . ... . . .. (2,777,000
2003 Amortization of DISCOUNS . . . . .ottt ettt ettt et ee e e 644,009
Carrying; Value of Debenture at 12/31/2003. .. ... .. ... .. ... . i i $ 2,867,002
Discounts Recorded in 2004 . . . . ... .. ... e (1,339,000}
2004 Arnortization of Discounts . ... ... ... . ... . e 2,150,000
Paymen: In StOCK . .. . e e e e s (1,923,000
Carrying; Value of Debenture at 12/31/2004. . ... ... ... ... ... .. .. ... .. ..... b 1,755,000
Discounts Recorded in 2005 .. . . .. .. L e {442,000)
2005 Amortization of DISCOUNES . . . ... .. i e e e 1,630,000
Payment in Stock . . .. . L e e (2,308,000)
Carryingz Value of Debenture at F2/31/05. ... ... .. . ... . ... .. 3 635,002
2006 Amortization of Discounts . .. ... ... ... ... ... . .. e 134,000
Paymentin Stock . . ... . (769,000)
Carryinz Value of Debenture at 3/31/06 ... ... ... .. i $ -=
Mark-to-Marker Adjustment from Warrants
2005 2006 $ Change % Change
Mark-tc-market Adjustment From Warrants, . . . ... $1,900,000 —  $(1,900,000) (100Y%

Mark-tc-market adjustment from warrants represents the net decrease in fair value of the warrants we
issued in connection with our Series A Preferred Stock in March 2005. Transaction costs of $390,000 were
allocated to the warrants and expensed upon closing of the transaction, offsetting subsequent mark-to-market
warrant adjustments.

Mark-to-Market Adjustment From Registration Rights

2005 2006 $ Change %o Changze

Mark-to-market adjustment from registration rights . . . . . . —  $55,000 $55,000 100%

Mark-to-market adjustment from registration rights represents the change in the estimated fair value of
the registration rights liability associated with our sale of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

Net Loss
2005 2006 $ Change % Change
NetLoss. .. . ... $7.865,000 $11,935000 $4,070,000 52%
Net Loss Attributable to Common
Shareholders . ... ... ... o L. $9,492,000 511935000 $2,443,000 26%
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Net loss increased in 2006 as compared to 2005 primarily due to increased SG&A expenses as well as
increased non-cash interest charges related to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes partially offset by the
increase in revenues and gross profits on product sales. Net loss attributable to common shareholders also
increased due to the above mentioned factors. The difference between net loss and net loss attributable to
common shareholders in 2005 was caused by the amount of the beneficial conversion feature of the Series A
Preferred Stock, which was immediately accreted as a deemed dividend for the Series A Preferred Stock on
the date of issuance since the preferred stock was convertible into Common Stock from the date of issuance,

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenues
2004 2005 $ Change % Change
Product Sales (net of allowances):
NMP22 BladderChek Test Sales. ....... $4,466,000 $ 7,686,000 $3,220,000 72%
NMP22 Test Kit Sales . . ............. 903,000 857,000 {46,000) (5)%
Other Product Sales . .. .............. 1,906,000 1,747,000 (159,000) ()%
Total Product Sales ............... 7,275,000 10,290,000 3,015,000 1%
Alliance and Collaboration Revenue. ... ... 208,000 125,000 (83,000) (40)%
Total Revenue . . . .........civvinn... $7,483,000 $10,415,000 $2,932,000 39%

The increase in revenue in 2005 from the NMP22 BladderChek Test is the result of a $3,240,000 sales
increase offset by a $20,000 unfavorable exchange rate impact. The $3,240,600 increase in NMP22
BladderChek Test sales is comprised of a $3,661,000 increase in volume, primarily in the U.S and Germany,
offset by a $421,000 decrease in average selling prices. Qur volume growth is the result of expanding our
direct-to-the-doctor sales staff in the U.S., continuing our direct-to-the-doctor selling activity in Germany and
obtaining additional reimbursement coverage by health plan insurance payors throughout the United States.
The average selling price decreased in 2005 over the same period in 2004 because average selling prices
decreased in the U.S. due to sales growth in states with lower reimbursement levels. NMP22 BladderChek Test
sales accounted for approximately. 90% of sales in the NMP22 product line in 2005, compared to 83% in
2004. The decrease in revenue from our NMP22 Lab Test Kit sales is primarily the result of a decrease in
sales by Diagnostic Products Corporation (“DPC") in Germany of a fully automated laboratory test incorporat-
ing our NMP22 technology that DPC manufactured and sold for use on its automated laboratory analyzers. We
terminated our Product Supply and Marketing Agreement with DPC effective December 31, 2005.

The decrease in revenue from our non-NMP22 products (listed in the table above as Other Product Sales)
is mainly due to a decrease in sales volume of third party allergy and other diagnostic products, principally in
Germany. Our distribution agreement with Hitachi Chemical Diagnostics, Inc. was terminated effective
September 30, 2005. In the fall of 2005, our German subsidiary began selling allergy products manufactured
by another company but sales volumes were not at as high as with the Hitachi products.

When we have sufficient history to estimate product returns for a distributor, we recognize revenue when
we ship our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to that distributor. In 2005, we sold approximately $173,000 of our
NMP22 BladderChek Tests to distributors for which we had sufficient history to estimate returns. In 2005, we
sold $423,000 of our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to certain distributors for which we did not have sufficient
history to estimate returns. Accordingly, those shipments were recorded as deferred revenue and will be
recognized as revenue when the distributor reports to us that it no longer has the product, when we determine
the shelf life of the product has expired (each indicating that the possibility of return is remote) or after we
have ten quarters of experience with an individual distributor. At December 31, 2004 and 2005, $285,000 and
$212,000 remained in deferred product revenue, respectively. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimate”
for a description of our revenue recognition policy.

In 2005, we determined that we had sufficient history to estimate product returns for eleven of our
distributors and therefore are now recognizing revenue when we ship our NMP22 BladderChek Tests to these
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distributors. e have also recognized all deferred revenue relating to our NMP22 BladderChek Test shipments
to these distributors for the period ended December 31, 2005. This resulted in our recognizing $173,000 of
NMP22 BladderChek Test shipments to distributors which previously would have been in deferred revenue.

Alliance and collaboration revenue decreased by $83,000 principally because the amortization of prepaid
marketing fees for a distribution agreement ended in 2004, Deferred collaberation revenue represents upfront
non-refundable payments that are recognized as we complete our performance obligations. See “Critical
Accounting Policies” for a description of our allowance of doubtful accounts.

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

2004 2005 $ Change % Change:
Alliance and Collaboration revenue . .. ... ..... $ 738,000 $716,000  $(22,000) (3%
Deferred product revenue . .. ............... 285,000 212,000 (73,000) (26)%

$1,023,000  $928,000  $(95,000) (9%

The decrease in the deferred product revenue from 2004 to 2005 is a result of an increase in the number
of NMP22 BladderChek Tests our distributors shipped, as well as an increase in the number of distributors for
which we have sufficient history to estimate product returns.

Cost of Preduct Sales

2004 2005 $ Change % Change
Product Sales ... .................... $7,275,000  $10,290,000  $3,015,000 41%
Costof Product Sales . ................ 2,580,000 3,085,000 505,000 20%
Gross Profit on Product Sales . . ......... $4,695,000 % 7,205,000  $2,510,000 53%
Gross Profit Margin on Product Sales. . .. .. 65% 70%
Cost of Product Sales as a % of Product
Sales. .. ... . 35% 30%

Cost of product sales includes payroll-related expenses, product materials, rent and related expenses,
supplies, depreciation of fixed assets used in production as well as royalties paid to third parties. Gross profit
is calculated by deducting the cost of product sales from product sales. The decrease in cost of product sales
on a percenta;ze basis and the increase in our gross profit margin on product sales is largely the result of
increased sales of higher margin NMP22 products worldwide as a percentage of total sales.

Research & Development and Clinical & Regulatory Expenses
2004 2005 * $ Change %o Change

Research & Development, Clinical &
Regulatory Expenses .. ................ $2,726,000 $2,863,000 $137.000 5%

Research & development and clinical & regulatory expenses include the salaries and related overheacd of
our research znd clinical personnel, laboratory supplies, payments to third parties and sites to help us execute
clinical trials, depreciation of research related equipment, legal expenses related to filing and prosecuting
patents, other direct expenses and an allocation of our occupancy and related expenses based on the squarz
footage occupied by our research & development staff, their laboratories and clinical & regulatory staff. All of
our research and development programs are similar in nature as they are based on our common protein
discovery technology. As a result, a significant finding in any one cancer type may provide a similar benefit
across all projrams, Accordingly, we do not track our research and development costs by individual research
and development programs. However, since our breast cancer program has been our only active development
program since 2004, at least 90% of our research spending has been directed to that program. Research &
development, and clinical & regulatory expenses increased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily due to a
$231,000 incr2ase in payroll-related costs, partially offset by an $86,000 decrease in lab supply costs.

49




Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

2004 2005 $ Change % Change
Gross Profit on Product Sales. . ......... $ 4,695,000 § 7,205,000 $2,510,000 53%
Selling, General and Administrative
Expenses......... ..., 10,545,000 12,197,000 1,652,000 16%
SG&A as a % of Gross Profit on Product
Sales . .. . e 225% 169%

Selling, general and administrative expenses grew primarily due to a $710,000 increase in payroll-related
costs resulting from increased headcount for our direct-to-the-doctor sales force and an $833,000 increase in

sales-related marketing expenses.

We believe that a decrease in our SG&A expenses as a percentage of our gross profit on product sales
from 225% in 2004 to 169% in 2005 is a useful measure of our performance.

Operating Loss
2004 2005 $ Change % Change
Operating Loss. . ........... ... ....... $8,368,000 $7,670,000  $(698,000) (8%)

Our operating loss decreased primarily due to higher gross profit offset by increased SG&A expenses
discussed above.

Interest Income
2004 2005 $ Change % Change

Interest IncCOmE . . .. .. it e e $98.000 $120,000 $22,000 22%

Interest income increased slightly in 2005 over 2004 due to higher interest rates.

Interest Expense

2004 2005 $ Change % Change

Interest Related to Convertible Debentures:
Interest Paid (or to be Paid) in Stock . ... $§ 309,000 § 137,000  $(172,000) (56)%
Non-Cash Charges to Interest Expense. .. 2,536,000 2,077,000 (459,000) (18)%
Total . ..o e $2.845,000 $2,214,000  $(631,000) 22)%

Interest Related to Other Debt:

Interest PaidinCash . .. ............. $ 3000 $ 1,000 3§ (7,000 (88)%
Total Interest Expense. .. .............. $2,853,000 $2,215,000 $(638,000) (22)%

We completed a $5.0 million private placement of Convertible Debentures in March of 2003 and,
subsequent to issuance, recorded an additional $4.6 million of non-cash charges related to the Convertible
Debentures which was charged to our income statement through March 2006. As of December 31, 2003,
approximately $4.9 million of the $5.0 million non-cash charges and deferred financing costs had been
amortized and charged as interest expense and the remaining $0.1 miflion remained to be amortized using the
effective interest rate method during the first quarter of 2006.

All of the 2005 quarterly interest payments (totaling $152,000) were made in stock, and all of the
2005 monthly principal repayments of $192,000 each (totaling $2,308,000 at December 31, 2005) were made
in stock.

Non-Cash Charges to Interest Expense in 2005 consisted of:
« $112.000 of amortized deferred financing costs, which contributed to reducing the original $475,000
halance of deferred financing costs to $7,000 at December 31, 2005;
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« $335,000 of non-cash charges to record the discount from fair value when making the principal and
interest repayments on the Convertible Debentures in stock rather than cash;

+ $1,630,000 of amortized debt discount, which contributed to reducing the $4,558,000 of debt discount
on ouwr $5,000,000 note to $134,000 at December 31, 2005. This debt discount comprises the following:
the fair value allocated to the warrants issued in conjunction with the Convertible Debentures, the
charge to account for the beneficial conversion feature recorded at the date the Convertible Debentures
were cntered into, and additional charges to account for the beneficial conversion feature recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2003, the first quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005 as a result of the
triggering of the anti-dilution provisions.

Mark-to-Market Adjustment from Warrants

2004 2005 $ Change % Chang:

Mark-to-market Adjustment
from 'Warrants. .. ...... —  $1,900,000 $1,900,000 100%

Mark-to- market adjustment from warrants represents the net decrease in fair value of the 2005 Warrznts
we issued in connection with our Series A Preferred Stock in March 2005. Transaction costs of $3%0,000 were
allocated to the warrants and expensed upon closing of the transaction, offsetting subsequent mark-to-market
warrant adjustments.

Net Loss
2004 2005 $ Change % Chang:
Net Lost oot e e i $11,123,000 $7,865,000  $(3,258,000) 29N%
Net Loss. Attributable to Common
Sharelolders. . .................... $11,123,000 $9,492,000 $(1,631,000) (15%)

The net loss decreased primarily due to increased SG&A expenses partially offset by the increase in
revenues and mark-to-market adjustment from warrants. The net loss attributable to common shareholders
decreased primarily due to the increase in revenues and mark-to-market adjustment from warrants offset by
increased SG.%A expenses and the Series A Preferred Stock deemed dividend arising from the beneficial
conversion feature charge associated with this preferred stock. The amount of the beneficial conversion feature
was immediately accreted as a deemed dividend for the Series A Preferred Stock on the date of issuance since
the preferred stock is immediately convertible. The deemed dividends have been reflected as an adjustment to
net loss attributable to common shareholders on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Liquidity anid Capital Resources

Our operating activities used cash in 2005 and 2006 primarily to fund our net losses excluding non-cash
charges. The 1on-cash charges comprise depreciation and amortization expenses, as well as amortization of
debt discounts and deferred charges related to our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

2005 2006
Net LosS . oottt e e e e e e e e $(7,865,000) $(11,935,000)
Non-cash Charges . ... ... . i e e e 681,000 4,654,00C
Changes in Assets and Liabilities. . . ... ...................... (1,020,000 838,000
Net Operating Uses . . ... ... ittt i (8,204,000) (6,443,000}
NetInvestment Uses . ... .. ... .. ... vt eninn.. {161,000) (105,000)
Net Financing Sources . . ... ... ..ot in i it ae e 5,288,000 6,192,000
Foreign exchange effect. . .. ... ... ... ... . ... ... ... . ..... (39,000) 27,000
Change in cash and cash equivalents ......................... $(3,116,0000 $ (329,000)




In 2006, Changes in Assets and Liabilities increased mainly due to an increase in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabilities, inventory and decreases in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
and other assets. We expect Changes in Assets and Liabilities to be a use of cash in the foreseeable future
because we expect accounts receivable and inventory to grow as product sales increase at a faster rate than
other working capital accounts.

We expect that the Days Sales Qutstanding (“DSO”) (which includes only accounts receivable from
physicians to whom we have sold the NMP22 BladderChek Test) is likely to be higher in the future than the
31 days reported at December 31, 2006. Our DSO calculation at December 31, 2005 was 38 days. We expect
U.S. direct-to-physician revenues as a percentage of total revenues to increase and, since our DSO on
U.S. direct-to-physician sales was 50 days, we expect our average DSO to increase as U.S. sales become a
larger percent of our total,

We do not include in our DSO calculation any amount due from or any shipments to distributors of our
NMP22 BladderChek Test because historically, we have not recognized revenue upon shipment to distributors
because we lacked sufficient history with these distributors to estimate returns. Unpaid amounts due from
distributors are included in accounts receivable on our balance sheets even if we have not recorded revenue
from them. We also exclude from our DSO calculation any accounts receivable resulting from a non-revenue
source, such as receivables due from a supplier. For the period ended December 31, 2003, we excluded a
$252,000 reimbursement due from a supplier from our DSO calculation. This supplier receivable was paid in
full in 2006. We did not have any non-revenue source transactions in accounts receivable for the period ending
December 31, 2006.

When we include amounts due from and any shipments to distributors of our NMP22 BladderChek Test
or other products our DSO at December 31, 2006 was 38 days compared to 45 days at December 31, 2005.

Based on our negative working capital at December 31, 2006 of $3,607,000 plus funds received from our
January 2007 private placement and our current forecast of cash utilization, we expect to be able to fund our
operations into the second quarter of 2007, provided we pay interest and principal on our 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes in stock as we did in January, February and March, 2007. We will, as we deem necessary or
prudent, continue to seek to raise additional capital through various financing alternatives, including equity or
debenture financings, issuances of securities convertible into equity and corporate partnering arrangements.
However, we may not be able to raise needed capital on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If we raise
funds on unfavorable terms, we may provide rights and preferences to new investors which are not available to
current shareholders. In addition, our existing financing arrangements contain anti-dilutive provisions which
may require us to issue additional securities if certain conditions are met. If we do not timely receive
additional financing or do not receive an adequate amount of additional financing, we will be required to
curtail our expenses by reducing research and/or marketing or by taking other steps that could hurt our future
performance, including but not limited to, the premature sale of some or all of our assets or product lines on
undesirable terms, merger with or acquisition by another company on unsatisfactory terms ot the cessation of
operations, Any future equity financings or retirements of debentures with common stock will dilute the
ownership interest of our existing investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our common
stock. Any of the foregoing steps may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. There can be no assurance that capital will be available on terms acceptable to us, if at
all.
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We hav: substantially increased our indebtedness to approximately $10.2 million as of January 31, 2007.
As shown in the following table, the Secured Convertible Notes comprise over 99% of our indebtedness at that

date;
Conversions and
Original Issuance Repayments Outstandiny;
| 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. . ............ $6,998,000 $1,172,000  $ 5,826,000
2007 Secured Convertible Notes. . ... ......... $4,365,000 — 4,365,000
Other indebtedness. . . ..................... — — 45,000
$10.236,000

The tenns of our existing securities greatly restrict our future financing options. Qur Series A Preferred
Stock impos:s a limitation on indebtedness not outstanding on March 4, 2005 in excess of $12,000,000, except
in limited forms. While cur Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we also have restrictions on incurring
additional inlebtedness (other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of our receivables and equipment
purchase or lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restrictions on our payment of cash dividends
and redemption of securities. Moreover, we have granted to a collateral agent on behalf of the holders of the
Secured Convertible Notes a security interest in collateral including some cell lines, equipment, inventory and
general intangibles related to our NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds from any sale of the product line.
We also grarted contingent license rights to the collateral agent on behalf of the holders of the Secured
Convertible Notes in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents related to the NMP22
products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the NMP22 product line, and
license rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product line. The NMP22 product
line, portions of which serve as collateral for the Secured Convertible Notes, includes all of our currently
commercialived products. The agreements reflecting the collateral and license arrangements contain restrictions
on our sale cr abandonment of the collateral and the patent rights. Further, these agreements afford the
collateral agent the right to assume control of and sell the collateral and to use the license rights exclusively
within the ficld of bladder cancer detection in the event of our default in our obligations under the Secured
Convertible Notes. If we default on these obligations, and the collateral is sold, we will lose our primary
source of operating income, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and would severely
jeopardize our ability to continue operations,

As of December 31, 2006, we only had $1.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, we had negative
working capital of $3.6 million and we had a net loss of $11.9 million in the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006 which raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Excluding all obligations
which could potentially be paid in stock we had working capital of $0.6 million at December 31, 2006. If we
do not receive an adequate amount of additional financing in the future or such financing does not occur on a
timely basis, we will be required {0 curtail our expenses by reducing research and/or marketing or by taking
other steps that could hurt our future performance, including but not limited to, the premature sale of some or
all of our assets or product lines on undesirable terms, merger with or acquisition by another company on
unsatisfactorv terms or the cessation of operations. If we raise funds on unfavorable terms, we may provide
rights and pr:ferences to new investors that are not available to our current stockholders or debt holders. For
example, we granted contingent license rights to portions of our patent portfolio to a collateral agent, on behalf
of the holders of Secured Convertible Notes, and we have granted preferences upon liquidation to holders. of
our Series A Preferred Stock. These types of rights and preferences provide a more secure investment position
to the holder:; of these securities than our common stock investors enjoy.

In September 2006, we received notice from AMEX that we were not in compliance with certain
continued lisring standards relative to maintenance of stockholders’ equity and profitability. On October 23,
2006, we sutmitted to AMEX a plan of proposed actions we believe will bring us into compliance with
applicable listing standards no later than March 21, 2008. AMEX notified us on December 8, 2006 that i had
accepted our plan. AMEX may initiate delisting procedures against us if we do not make progress consisient
with the plan during the plan period or we are not in compliance with applicable listing standards at the ¢nd
' of the plan period. Delisting of shares of our common stock would violate terms of our various financing
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documents, could result in the declaration of an event of default in our Secured Convertible Notes and could
cause holders to seek to recover potential damages from us. In addition, any suspension of trading or delisting
of our shares could make it more difficult for us to raise needed additional capital on terms acceptable to us or
at all. Further, suspension of trading or delisting of our shares could seriously impair the ability of our
stockholders to sell shares of our stock.

Any future equity or convertible debenture financings will dilute the ownership interest of our existing
investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock. The table below includes shares
which have been reserved under the various agreements and plans we have outstanding and include shares
reserved for contingencies which have not yet occurred (such as future declines in the price of our common
stock). As of December 31, 2006, the total shares reserved were:

Conversion or
Exercise Price

Security Common Shares  Low  High
Common stock outstanding .. ............ .oy 56,759,000 — —
Stock reserved for 2006 Secured Convertible Notes .. .......... 16,250,000 $50 % .65
Stock reserved for warrant exercises. . . ...... ... 17,426,000 .65 2.70
Stock reserved for potential warrant shares .. ................. 631,000 .01 .01
Stock reserved for outstanding stock options and restricted stock

BIES L o ot et it e e e e 3,008,000 55 8.06
Stock available for issuance under stock plans . ............... 4,899 000 — ——
Stock reserved for Series A Preferred Stock . ............... .. 1,023,000 70 .70
Total . . e e 99,996,000

The above table includes shares for converting the Series A Preferred Stock and for paying interest on
and repaying the principal of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. We plan to use our common stock to pay
interest and repay principal on the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes so long as we meet the applicable stock
payment conditions. This use of our common stock will result in further dilution.

The sale of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the Purchaser Warrants in connection therewith was
deemed to be a dilutive issuance under the terms of our March 2003 Warrants, our Series A Preferred Stock
and accompanying March 2005 Warrants, and some warrants previously issued to a placement agent. As a
result, the exercise price of our March 2003 Warrants was adjusted to $0.65 per share. As of January 13, 2006,
our Series A Preferred Stock became convertible at a price of $0.70 per share, resulting in an increase in the
number of shares issuable upon conversion to 1,463,788, and the exercise price of the accompanying March
2005 Warrants was adjusted to $1.34 per share. The exercise prices of warrants granted in October 2003 and
March 2004 to a placement agent to purchase an aggregate of 105,821 shares of our common stock were
adjusted from $1.67 and $2.00 per share to $0.65 per share.

Our January 2006 financing was deemed to be a dilutive issuance under the terms of our Convertible
Debentures and our Series A Preferred Stock. Accordingly, the holders of the Convertible Debentures and the
Series A Preferred Stock received adjustments in conversion prices and warrant exercise prices as a result of
the January 2006 financing and the shares we were required to reserve for obligations under the Convertible
Debentures and the Series A Preferred Stock were increased as set forth in the table below.
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The following; table shows our fully diluted capitalization (assuming conversion to common stock of

Security Common Shares
Common stock outstanding .. ... ... ... ... .. Lo ., 56,759,000
Stock reserved for 2006 Secured Convertible Notes . ........... 14,152,000
Stock reserved for 2007 Secured Convertible Notes ............ 6,929,000
Stock reserved for warrant €XerciSes. . .. ..o h i e i e 21,639,000
Stock reserved for potential warrant shares. . ................. 631,000
Stock reserved for outstanding stock options and restricted stock

(113 ] - 3,008,000
Stock available for issuance under stock plans .. .............. 4,899,000
Stock reservad for Series A Preferred Stock ... ..., . ... ..., 1,023,000
B 0o) 1 P UP 109,040,000

outstanding conve tible or exercisable securities) after our January 2007 financing of Secured Convertible
Notes:

Conversion or
Exercise Price

Low High
$40 $ .63
63 .63
.63 2.70
.01 .01
55 8.06
70 70

Included in -he table above are shares currently reserved for conversion of the 2007 Secured Convertible
Notes at the initial conversion price of $0.63 per share and for the 2007 Warrants at their initial exercise
prices. If our stockholders approve issuances below $0.63 per share to satisfy our obligations under the 2007
Secured Convertible Notes and upon exercise of the 2007 Warrants, we would have to increase the number of
shares reserved for these securities.

Financings

Since Matritech became a publicly traded company in 1992, our primary source of cash has been sales of
securities. Our recent history of financing transactions is summarized below and the transactions entered into
in 2005 and 2005 are described in detail.

Price per
Share after
Securities Sold; Anti-Dilution Maturity Date # of Purchaser
13058 Common Stock Initial Price Protection of Debenture;  Warrant Shares
Date of Antount of Equivalent at per Share of Provisions Revised and Warrant
Financing __Proceeds Time of Sale Common Stock are Applied Maturity Date  Expiration Ditte
March 2003 $5.C million  7.5% Convertible $2.55 for $0.73 per share; March 31, 2006 784,314 shares;
Debentures, initially conversion, $0.65 for March 31, 2003
convertible into $2.278 for warrants
1,960,784 shares, and warrant shares
accompanying warrants
Fall 2003 $6.5 million 3,893,295 shares of $1.67 per share; N/A N/A 1,362,651
Common Stock and $2.45 for warrant shares;
accompanying warrants  shares QOctober 15,
2008 and
November 6,
2008
March 2004  $6.5 million 4,858,886 shares of $1.35 per share; N/A N/A 1,214,725 shares;
Common Stock and $2.00 for warrant March 19, 2009
accompanying warrants  shares
March 2005  $5.9 million  Series A Conventible $0.88 for $0.70 for N/A 4,991,434 shaves;
Preferred Stock, conversion; $1.47  conversion; March 4, 2010
initially convertible for warrant shares  $1.34 for

into 6,702,720 shares,
and accompanying
warrants
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Price per

Share after
Securities Sold; Anti-Dilution Maturity Date # of Purchaser
Gross Common Stock initial Price Protection of Debenture;  Warrani Shares
Date of Amount of Equivalent at per Share of Provisions Revised and Warrant
Financing Proceeds Time of Sale Comman Stock are Applied Maturity Date  Expiration Date
January 2006  $7.0 million 15% Secured $0.65 for $0.63 for January 13, 6,459,655 shares;
Convertible Notes, conversion; $0.67  conversion; 2009; January 13,
initially convertible for warrant shares  $0.63 for December 13, 2011
into 10,766,092 shares, warrants 2007
and accompanying
warrants
Januvary 2007 $4.36 million  15% Secured 30.63 for Subject to December 13, 4,157,143 shares;
Convertible Note, conversion; $0.63  Stockholder 2007 January 22, 2012
initially convertible for warrant shares  Approval

into 6,928,572 shares,
and accompanying
warrants

The above table includes information on warrants issued to purchasers of securities, but does not reflect
warrants issued to placement agents. Each of the financing transactions set forth above was a private
placement of securities.

In March 2003, we sold $5 million of 7.5% Convertible Debentures (“the Convertible Debentures™) and
Warrants (the “March 2003 Warrants”) to purchase 784,314 shares of common stock (including a warrant for
98,039 shares issued to a placement agent in connection with the transaction) at an initial exercise price of
$2.278 per share. We repaid both the principal and interest due on the Convertible Debentures in shares of our
common stock over a period of years, with the final payment made on March 31, 2006. Although the initial
conversion price was $2.278 per share, that conversion price was adjusted on four occasions, at the time of
each of the four financing transactions shown in the above table between Falt 2003 through January 2006, as a
result of the anti-dilution protection provisions of the Convertible Debentures. By the time of the final anti-
dilution adjustment prior to the March 2006 final payment, the conversion price had been reduced to $0.73 per
share. The March 2003 Warrants remain outstanding and have had their exercise prices reduced on the same
four occasions, so that the current exercise price is $0.65 per share. Although no adjustment was made in the
exercise price of these warrants as a result of the January 2007 sale of Secured Convertible Notes, future
dilutive issnances could result in further reduction of the exercise price,

In Fall 2003, we sold an aggregate of 3,893,295 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.67 and five
year warrants to purchase 1,362,651 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.45 per share for an aggregate
consideration of $6,501,802. The warrants did not contain any anti-dilution adjustment provisions.

In March 2004, we sold 4,858,887 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.35 and five year warrants
to purchase 1,214,725 shares of our common stock at a price of $2,00 per share for aggregate consideration of
$6,559,500. The warrants did not contain any anti-dilution adjustrnent provisions.

In March 2005, we entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) which provided for
the sale of an aggregate of 1,426,124 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and the issuance to the investors
of warrants to purchase 4,991,434 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.47 per share (the “March 2005
Purchaser Warrants”). The Purchase Agreement provided for two closings (the “First Closing” and the “Second
Ciosing”) because we could not issue all shares of the Series A Preferred Stock that we agreed to sell without
obtaining stockholder approval because the resulting conversion shares would exceed 20% of our outstanding
common stock. On March 4, 2005, we completed the First Closing which consisted of 670,272 shares of
Series A Preferred Stock and all of the March 2005 Warrants for aggregate consideration of $5,898,394
{before cash commissions and expenses of approximately $610,000). In addition, we issued warrants to a
placement agent for a total of 656,920 shares of common stock. Both the March 2005 Purchaser Warrants and
the placement agent warrants (collectively the “March 2005 Warrants™) had an initial exercise price of $1.47
per share, became exercisable on September 5, 2005 and expire on March 4, 2010. On June 20, 2005, we
entered into a Mutual Termination and Release Agreement with the investors who were parties to the Purchase
Agreement to terminate the obligations of all parties to consummate and complete the Second Closing.
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Accordingly, no additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock or warrants to purchase shares of cur common
stock were or wi l be issued in this private placement.

The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to a liquidation preference and have the benefit of
covenants by us aot to liquidate, merge, sell control or substantially all our assets, or amend the charter in any
way adverse to the holders. We are obligated not to issue other capital stock that would be senior to or on a
parity with the Series A Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation, not to have indebtedness in
excess of $12,000,000 except in limited forms, and not to enter into or consummate a transaction which would
result in the holcers of all the voting power of our outstanding capital stock having less than a majority of
voting power of a surviving entity after a merger, consolidation, share exchange or sale. Some of the holders
of the Series A Preferred Stock held now expired rights to participate in subsequent financings completed on
or before December 20, 2006. We are further required to reserve sufficient shares of common stock for
issuance of all shares issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Conversion Shares™) and
the exercise of the March 2005 Warrants and to use commercially reasonable efforts to continue the listing
and trading of such common shares with AMEX or another national stock exchange or stock market. The
holders of Series. A Preferred Stock are entitied to 6.56 votes for each share of Series A Preferred Stock held
by them. The hclders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together with the holders of common stock,
except when our Certificate of Designations or Delaware law provide for a separate class vote.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock was initially convertible into ten shares of our common stock.
Both the Series A Preferred Stock and the March 2005 Warrants have anti-dilution protection provisions. This
means that if we issue any shares (subject to limited exceptions) at a price that is less than the initial
conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock ($0.88 per common stock share) in the case of the Preferred
Stock or less than the initial exercise price ($1.47 per common stock shares) in the case of the March 2005
Warrants (a “Ditutive Issuance”), the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock or the exercise price of
the March 2005 Warrants, as applicable, will be adjusted downwards. There is a floor on the new conversion
price and the new exercise price that could result from a Dilutive Issuance, in the case of the Preferred Stock
the conversion price floor is $0.70 and in the case of the Warranis, the floor on the exercise price floor is
$1.34, Our January 2006 financing was deemed to be a Dilutive Issnance resulting in an adjustment of the
conversion price: of the Series A Preferred Stock to $0.70 per share and an adjustment in the exercise price of
the March 2005 Warrants to $1.34 per share. At the time of this Dilutive Issuance, there were 569,251 shares
of Series A Pre’erred Stock outstanding and an additional 1,463,788 shares of our common stock were
reserved for conversion at the new conversion price. Because our stockholders did not approve a proposal
which would hzve removed the floor on conversion and exercise prices for the Series A Preferred Stock anc
March 2005 Warrants, there will be no further adjustment to these conversion or exercise prices.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, 487,852 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted
into common stock. At December 31, 2006, 81,399 shares of Series A Preferred Stock remained outstanding,
which shares ate convertible into 1,023,301 shares of our Common Stock.

On January 13, 2006, we entered into a purchase agreement and related documents, pursuant to which we
sold the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes originally maturing January 13, 2009, which were initially
convertible intc: 10,766,092 shares of our common stock, and accompanying warrants (the “2006 Purchaser
Warrants”) to purchase up to 6,459,655 shares of our common stock, for an aggregate consideration of
$6,997,960 (before cash commission and expenses of approximately $748,000). The 2006 Secured Convertible
Notes had an initial conversion price of $0.65 per share of common stock. The 2006 Purchaser Warrants,
which become exercisable on July 14, 2006 and expire on January 13, 2011, had an initial exercise price of
$0.67 per share.. We also issued warrants to two placement agents with the same exercisability period as the
2006 Purchaser Warrants, to purchase up to 1,036,609 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of
$0.65 per share: (collectively with the 2006 Purchaser Warrants, the “2006 Warrants™). Both the conversion
price and the exercise price are subject to adjustment in the event of subsequent dilutive issuances, although
certain floors existed until after our stockholders approved proposals to remove those floors. Qur stockholders
approved those proposals at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders held June 9, 2006.
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The 2006 Secured Convertible Notes initially allowed for payment of both principal and interest in shares
of our common stock, so long as we satisfied certain conditions. The effective conversion price for payments
to be made in stock is the lower of the then conversion price, initially $0.65, or 85% of the 10 day volume
weighted average price of common stock (the “10-day VWAP”) on AMEX at the time any payment is due. No
payments were due on the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes prior to Januacy 2007, when interest became due
for the period from January 13, 2006 to January 13, 2007. Thereafter, interest is payable quarterly, in arrears,
and principal payments are due monthly beginning January 2007 in an amount equal to 1/24 of the initial
amount of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, or $291,582, but monthly principal payments will be lower
than that figure beginning in March 2007 as a resuit of optional conversions various Note holders undertook in
2006. The total amount of optional conversions in 2006 was $880,000 in principal and $43,648 in interest, all
of which we paid in stock at the $0.65 per share conversion price, issuing an aggregate of 1,420,993 shares of
common stock for this purpose. If we choose to prepay the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, in whole or in
part, there will be a 15% prepayment premium due.

The originai terms of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes required us to meet certain conditions in order
to make interest and principal payments in shares of common stock instead of cash. Those original conditions
were (i) one or more registration statements is effective and available for the resale of the shares required to
be registered by the terms of a Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the January
2006 financing; (ii) the shares of our common stock are designated for quotation or listed on the Nasdagq
Capital Market, Nasdaq Global Market or AMEX and have not been suspended from trading on any of such
exchanges or markets and no written notice of delisting by any of such exchanges or markets have been
received and not resolved; (iif) issuance of the shares will not result in a 2006 Secured Convertible Note
holder and its affiliates owning more than 9.99% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, unless
waived by the holder; (iv) the number of shares to be issued to all holders on a specific payment date shall not
exceed 10% of the trading volume (as reported by Bloomberg) of our common stock for the period of 20
consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date; {v) our common
stock is not selling at a price below $0.50 per share; {vi) the current price per share of the common stock
delivered in payment is equal to or greater than $0.61, or we receive stockholder approval to allow issuances
below that price; (vii) prior to receipt of that stockholder approval, the 10-day VWAP of our common stock is
equal to or greater than the then-effective conversion price; and (viii) we have not issued any notice relating to
the redemption of any warrant(s) during the 30 day period immediately prior to the payment date. Prior to the
first payment due date of January 13, 2007, we entered into an agreement with the holders of a majority of the
outstanding principal value of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to permit us to make the January 2007
payment in shares of common stock without regard to the volume trading limitations set out in clause (iv)
above. Subsequently, on January 22, 2007, we entered into an agreement with the hoiders of a majority of the
outstanding principal value of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to amend the conditions to payment in
shares and we deleted clauses (ii), (iv), (vi) and (vii) and changed clause {v) to a floor price of $0.40 per
share.

While the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we have restrictions on incurring additional
indebtedness (other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of receivables and equipment purchase or
lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restrictions on payment of cash dividends and redemption
of securities. Our obligations under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes are secured by first priority liens
against certain assets related to our NMP22 product line. The security interest covers cell lines, equipment,
inventory and general intangibles related to the NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds from the sale of the
product line. We also entered into a contingent license agreement with the collateral agent, SDS Capital Group
SPC, Ltd., granting license rights in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents related to the
NMP22 products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the NMP22 product
line, and license rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product line.

The 2006 Secured Convertible Notes require us to pay interest and liquidated damages and may become
immediately due and payable in cash at a premium of 120% of the outstanding principal amount plus accrued
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interest and damages in the event we default under their terms. Potential defaults would include, among other
things:

+ our failure to make payments as they become due;
+ our failure to remain listed on any of a Nasdaq Market, NYSE or AMEX;

« our failure to have an effective registration statement available for resale of the shares upon conversion
of the 2C06 Secured Convertible Notes;

» failure tc timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion,
s our writtzn notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upon conversion;

+ our making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appointment
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiary;

* bankruptcy, insolvency or simitar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
* a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;
¢ our defanlt on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000; and

* a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purchasers of
the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

We granted the holders of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes or shares of our common stock issued upon
conversion of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes valued at or in excess of $250,000 the right to participate in
future financing; transactions. These rights were subject to the prior right of holders of at least $495,000 of our
Series A Preferred Stock to participate in future financings closed on or before December 20, 2006, The
holders of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes who qualify for participation rights in our future financing
transactions als have the right to exchange up to 50% of the then-held principal value of their 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes for participation in the transaction, subject to an overall restriction for all holders that limits
them to an aggegate of 50% of each future financing transaction.

Under the terms of the transaction documents, we were obligated to file a registration statement covering
the shares into which the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes may be converted and the shares for which the
warrants may te exercised , which we filed on February 10, 2006. The registration statement was declared
effective on Fesruary 21, 2006, and we are obligated to keep it available for resale of these shares. We filed a
second registrazion statement in June 2006, which was declared effective on July 12, 2006, covering resale of
additional sharcs that may be issued as a result of anti-dilution adjustments and to cover additional shares for
exercise of warrants which could become available to the holders. We are also obligated to keep our stock
listed for tradirg on AMEX, NYSE or Nasdaq. If we fail to maintain the effectiveness of these registration
statements, we may be subject to penalties, including payment of 1.5% of the consideration paid for the 2026
Secured Convertible Notes for each thirty day period of delay in registration.

The sale cf the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the 2006 Purchaser Warrants was deemed to be a
dilutive issuance under the terms of varicus previously issued securities. As a result, in addition to the
adjustments noted above, the exercise price of warrants granted in October 2003 and March 2004 to a
placement agent to purchase an aggregate of 105,821 shares of our common stock were adjusted from $1.67
and $2.00 per share to $0.65 per share.

On January 22, 2007, we entered into two agreements with the holders of a majority of outstanding
principal value of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes that made it possible for us to enter into and
consummate tke sale of additional convertible secured promissory notes. In connection with these other
agreements, th: maturity date of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes was shortened to December 13, 2007.
The monthly principal payments scheduled in 2007 are $291,582 in January and February 2007, $279,082 in
March 2007 and, assuming no further optional conversions in 2007, $270,748 from April 2007 to November
2007 until a lump sum payment of $3,089,729 is made on December 13, 2007. All accrued interest from 2006
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will be paid in January 2007 and thereafter, the quarterly payments of interest will be made in April, July,
October, and December 2007.

On January 22, 2007, we entered into a purchase agreement and related documents, pursuant to which we
sold the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, which were inttially convertible into 6,928,572 shares of our
common stock, par value $.01 per share, and accompanying warrants (the “2007 Purchaser Warrants™) to
purchase up to 4,157,143 shares of our common stock, for an aggregate consideration of approximately
$4.36 million (before cash commission and expenses of approximately $520,000). The 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $0.63 per
share of common stock. The warrants, exercisable over a five year period, have an exercise price of $0.63 per
share. We issued five year placement agent warrants (collectively with the 2007 Purchaser Warrants, the ‘2007
Warrants”) to purchase up to 55,556 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.76 per share, Both
the conversion price and the exercise prices of the 2007 Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event of
subsequent dilutive issuances but only if our stockholders approve issuances below $0.63 per share.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes mature December 13, 2007 and allow for payment of both principal
and interest in shares of our common stock, so long as stock payment conditions are satisfied. The effective
conversion price for payments to be made in stock is the lower of the then conversion price, currently $0.63,
or 10-day VWAP on AMEX at the time any payment is due. Interest is payable quarterly, in arrears, beginning
in June 2007, and principal payments of $727,500 per month {assuming no prepayment or conversion by any
Note holder) are due monthly beginning in July 2007. We cannot issue any shares in conversion of 2007
Secured Convertible Notes, whether for a conversion initiated by the holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible
Notes or a repayment of a portion of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes by us, at a price below $0.63 per
share until after stockholder approval is received for payments below that price. If we choose to prepay the
2007 Secured Convertible Notes, in whole or in part, there will be a 25% prepayment premium due.

‘We must meet all of the following stock payment conditions in order to make interest and principal
payments on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes in shares of common stock instead of cash: (i) issuance of
the shares will not result in a 2007 Secured Convertible Note holder and its affiliates owning more than 9.99%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock, unless waived by the holder; {ii) the number of shares to be
issued to all holders of Secured Convertible Notes on a specific payment date shall not exceed 20% of the
trading volume (as reported by Bloomberg) of cur common stock for the pertod of 20 consecutive trading days
ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date; (i) our common stock is not selling at a
price below $0.40 per share; and (iv) we have not issued any notice relating to the redemption of any
warrant(s) during the 30 day period immediately prior to the payment date. We cannot make payment in
shares if the Effective Conversion Price is below $0.63 and our stockholders have not approved our issuance
of shares in satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes below that price. If we
are unable to make payments due in stock because we have not received stockholder approval of payments
below $0.63 per share, the interest rate on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will be increased to 17% for
the affected payments.

The terms of our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes with respect to limitations on incurrence of additional
indebtedness are identical to those of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, In connection with the sale of our
2007 Secured Convertible Notes, we entered into an amended and restated security agreement and an amended
and restated contingent license agreement with the collateral agent, SDS Capital Group SPC, Ltd. As a result,
our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are secured by liens against certain assets related to
our NMP22 product line as described above for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the holders of the
2007 Secured Convertible Notes have the benefit of the same license rights as described above for the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes,

We have granted the holders of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes or shares of our common stock issued
upon conversion of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes valued at or in excess of $250,000 the right to
participate in future financing transactions, up to a maximum of 50% of the new transaction. Holders may not
generally exercise these rights if they have exercised similar rights under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.
If, however, all participating holders of the Secured Convertible Notes do not elect to purchase the full 50%,
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then those holdzrs who have exercised rights under only the 2006 or the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will
have the right t> further participate based on their holdings of the other year’s Secured Convertible Notes. The
holders of the 007 Secured Convertible Notes who qualify for participation rights in our future financing
transactions als> have the right to exchange up to 50% of the then-held principal value of their 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes for participation in the transaction, subject to an overall restriction for all holders that limits
them to an aggregate of 50% of each future financing transaction.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes require us to pay interest and liquidated damages and may become
immediately dve and payable in cash at a premium of 120% of the outstanding principal amount plus accrued
interest and damages in the event we default under their terms. Potential defaults would include, among otker
things:

* our failure to make payments as they become due;
* our failure to remain listed on any of a Nasdaq Market, NYSE or AMEX;

» our failure under certain circamstances to have an effective registration statement available for resale of
the shares upon conversion of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes if registration has been demanded;

« failure to timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion;
* our written notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upon conversion;

+ our making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appointment
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiary;

* bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
* a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;

* our defiult on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000 including the 2006 Secured
Converlible Notes; and

*» a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purchasers of
the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes.

Although it is not an event of defauli, a change of control of the Company will automatically trigger
prepayment of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, including payment of the required premium due in that
circumstance.

Under the: terms of the transaction documents, we may be required to file a registration statement
covering the shares into which the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes may be converted and the shares for which
the 2007 Warrants may be exercised if the purchasers holding at least 22% of the aggregate amount of
securities initially acquired in the sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Note financing, based on the
conversion price in effect at the time of filing the registration statement, demand that we file such a statement.
No demand may be made before July 21, 2007. If a demand is made, we have 90 days thereafter in which to
have a registration statement declared effective (150 days in the event of an SEC review). We are also
obligated 1o kzep our stock listed for trading on AMEX, NYSE or Nasdag. If, after demand, we fail to timely
register the shares we have committed to register other than if the SEC will not deciare the registration
statement effective due to interpretations of Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, we may be subject to
penalties, including payment of 1.5% of the consideration paid for the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes for
each thirty day period of delay in registration. Further, we agreed to seek stockholder approval of the issuance
of our common stock in satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertibte Notes and upcn
exercise of th: 2007 Warrants at a conversion price or exercise price below $0.63 per share. We intend to
present these matters to our stockholders at a Special Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Apnil 17, 2007.

The sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and the 2007 Purchaser Warrants has been deemed to be
a dilutive issvance under the terms of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the 2006 Warrants. As a result,
as of January 22, 2007, the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes became convertible at a price of $0.63 per share,
so that they became convertible into an extra 284,561 shares, and the exercise price of the 2006 Warrants was
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reduced to 3$0.63 per share. We have calculated an additional beneficial conversion charge totaling approxi-
mately $208,000 which will be recorded as a debt discount in the first quarter of 2007 and amortized as
interest expense over the remaining life of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes,

The accounting treatment of certain aspects of our various financing transaction are described in further
detail in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Contractual Obligations

Our future commitments are described in further detail in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Qur future commitments as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Payment Due by Period

Less Than 1-3 3.5 More Than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Operating Lease

Arrangements(1) .. ........ $ 2229000 § 604,000 $1,608,000 $17,000 $—
Capital Lease

Arrangements(1) ... ....... 36,000 24,000 32,000 —_ —_—
Debenture Obligations(2). . . . .. 7,943,000 4,896,000 3,047,000 — —
Purchase Commitments(1). .. .. 1,684,000 648,000 1,036,000 — —
Service Agreement

Commitments ............ 31,000 24,000 7,000 — -
Total......... ... it $11,943,000 $6,196,000 $5,730,000 $17,000 §—

(1) See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies”,

(2) See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Convertible Debentures, 2006 Secured Convertible
Notes and Notes Payable”.

The $8.0 million of debenture obligations reflected in the above table primarily consist of $6.1 million of
principal payments on the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes as well as $1.8 million of interest on the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes. In January 2007, when we sold our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, we incurred
an additional $4.365 miilion of debt.

On November 3, 2006, we executed a supply agreement with Inverness which contains purchase
commitments totaling approximately $1,684,000 over the next two years.

Service agreement commitments include primarily service and maintenance contracts related to manufac-
turing and research operations and equipment. The majority of the service agreement commitments do not
extend past one year and no commitment exceeds $5,000 for any single vendor.

The $2.2 million of operating lcase arrangements reflected in the above table primarily consist of
$1.7 million for the lease agreement for our corporate headquarters in Newton, Massachusetts which expires in
December 2010 as well as $377,000 for the lease agreement for our office in Freiburg, Germany which expires
in January 2011,

We have no material capital expenditure commitments.

Our intention is to pay the interest and principal on our Secured Convertible Notes in stock so long as we
meet the applicable stock payment conditions,
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not party to, any special-purpose or ofi-balance sheet entities for purpose of
raising capital, incurring debentures or opening parts of our business that are not consolidated (to the extent of
our ownership interest therein) into our financial statements. However, since inception, we have raised capital
through issuance of common stock, preferred stock and convertible debenture. All those arrangements include
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issuance of warrants. Warrants are instruments that qualify as off-balance sheet arrangements. We have
provided further details about those arrangements in ltem 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The prepiration of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions in certain
circumstances that affect amounts reported in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and related
footnotes. In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, we have made our best estimates and
judgments of certain amounts included in the financial statements, giving due consideration to materiality and
assuming that we will continue as a going concern. However, since application of these accounting policies
involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties actual results could differ,
potentially materially, from these estimates.

Historically, there have been no material changes in the assumptions or methodologies used to determine
our estimates. Qur estimates have not been materially different from the actual experiences. On a quarterly
basis, we analyze the assumptions and the underlying data used in our methodologies that determine our
estimates. We do not currently expect any material change in the assumptions or methodologies that are used
to determine our estimates.

We believe that the accounting policies described below are critical to understanding our business, results
of operations and financial condition because they involve significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it
requires a judgment of accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highlv
uncertain, anc: if different estimates that could have been used, or if changes in the accounting estimates that
are reasonably likely to occur periodically, could materially impact our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Effective January 1, 2006, we account for employee stock-based compensation costs in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123R”).
We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock based
compensation at the date of grant, which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including
expected vol:tility and expected life. Further, as required under SFAS 123R, we now estimate forfeitures for
options granted, which are not expected to vest. Changes in these inputs and assumptions can materially affect
the measure of estimated fair value of our stock-based compensation. For further information for how we
account for stock-based compensation, please see Note 6 — “Stock-based Compensation™ of the accompanying
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, contained in Item 15,

Revenue Kecognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Butletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104”} and the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 0-21,
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (“EITF 00-21"), We recognize revenue when the following
criteria have been met:

1. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

2, Delivery has occurred and risk of loss has passed to our customers;
3. Our jprice to the customer is fixed or determinable; and

4. Colleetibility is reasonably assured.

When determining whether risk of loss has transferred to customers on product sales, we evaluate both
the contractual terms and conditions of our sales agreements as well as our business practices. When
determining whether collectibility is reasonably assured, we evaluate the facts and circumstances associaled

63




with the individual transaction. Factors we consider differ depending on the nature of the customer (end-user
versus distributor), nature of the product (well established or relatively new), size of the transaction, whether
we have a past history with the customer and the geographic location of the customer. These general principles
are applied somewhat differently in three different circumstances:

(a) Sales of Laboratory Test Kits (whether to distributors or end-users)

Sales of Laboratory Test Kits include our NMP22 Lab Test Kit which we have manufactured and sold
directly 10 end-user laboratories and to distributors since 1995 and non-NMP22 products which consist of
various diagnostic products made by others, purchased by us and resold by us to end-user laboratories,
principally in Germany. For these well established products, we record revenue when the product is shipped
and the above-noted requirements of SAB 104 are met. None of these products has any significant risk that
regulaiory approvals, reimbursement arrangements or inadequate physician education will prevent Yaboratory
customers from successfully using the product. For sales of these products to distributors and end-user
laboratories, we evaluate our prior collection history with the customer and occasionally obtain credit reports
from external sources. We closely monitor our accounts receivable aging for these customers and establish
reserves for significantly aged accounts if we believe the account is uncollectible. OQur collection history has
been favorable and we have not been required to establish material bad debt provisions for our end-user
laboratory customers or for distributors of this product.

(b) Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to end-users

Qur NMP22 BladderChek Test is a point-of-care bladder cancer test that we have manufactured and sold
since 2001. Because it is the first point-of-care diagnostic test for any type of cancer, it can only be sold
successfully if a commercially supportive marketplace has been established (eg, appropriate regulatory
approvals, reimbursement arrangements and physician education are in place).

Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to end-user physicians are made in Germany and the United States
because we have made significant investments to create a commercially supportive marketplace in each’
country. Despite these efforts, we have found that some physician customers demand a right of return because
after product delivery they are not ready or able to utilize the product in their practice in the way they
expected before their purchase. We have also found that some physician customers are less creditworthy than
others. Due to the high volume and small size of these sales, we generally do not perform credit checks on
potential customers but instead establish credit limits and closely monitor the aging of our receivable balances
for these customers. If a physician customer account ages beyond 90 days, the customer will be put on credit
hold and no further revenue will be recognized related to that customer until their greater than 90 day
outstanding balances are paid in full.

While we record revenue when the product is shipped and the above-noted requirements of SAB 104 are
met, at the same time we establish reserves for returns and non-payment based on our credit and collection
history. These reserves are recorded as a reduction of revenue, and we regularly adjust the reserves based on
our actual experience. To date, our historical calculations of the size of required reserves have been consistent
with our expectations.

(c) Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to distributors

Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to distributors began in late 2001 to reach markets other than
Germany and the United States. Like us, each of these distributors has needed te make a significant investment
to start-up and establish a commercially supportive marketplace in order to successfully sell the NMP22
BladderChek Test to physicians. While distributors for this product are typically established companies with
experience in selling medical products, we discovered that the time required to create a commercially
supportive marketplace in their territory was longer than they expected and that the new distributor’s initial
sales were less than they projected. Such delays put their initial purchases of NMP22 BladderChek Tests at
risk of expiration and over the years, despite our contractual prohibitions against returns, some have asked us
to exchange their inventory for newer inventory in order to avoid a loss.
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Busines: practices such as agreeing to product exchanges may indicate the existence of an implied right
to return the product even if there are no such contractual provisions for product returns. We treat such
practices, whether contractual or implied, as conveying a right of return and will establish provisions for
returns when reasonable and reliable estimates can be made. In accordance with SAB 104, where we do not
have sufficieat history to make reasonable and reliable estimates of returns, as is the case with distributors
with whom we do not have a ten quarter history, we defer revenue until the distributor reports to us that it no
longer has tte product or we determine the shelf life of the product has expired (each indicating that the
possibility or return is remote). After we have ten quarters of experience with an individual distributor, we
recognize any remaining deferred revenue related to that distributor and subsequently recognize revenue upon
shipment to that distributor. Shipments recorded as deferred revenue were approximately $423,000 in 2005 and
approximately $130,000 in 2006.

As witt. our other distributor customers, we closely monitor our accounts receivable aging for these
customers and establish reserves for significantly aged accounts if we believe the account is uncollectible. Qur
collection history has been favorable and we have not been required to establish material bad debt provisions
for our significant distributor customers.

We gererate alliance and collaboration revenue primarily through collaborative license and development
agreements with strategic partners for the development and commercialization of our product candidates. The
terms of these agreements typically inclede non-refundable license fees, funding of research and development,
payments based upon achievement of certain milestones, payments for product manufacturing and royalties on
net product sales. We examine revenue arrangements where multiple products or services are sold together
under one contract to determine if each element represents a separate unit of accounting as defined in E[TF
00-21. EITF 00-21 requires the following criteria to be met for an element to represent a separate unit of
accounting:

1. The delivered items have value to a customer on a stand-alone basis;
2. There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items; and

3. Delivery or performance is probable and within the control of the vendor for any delivered items that
have a right of return.

In the event that an element of a multiple element arrangement does not represent a separate earnings
process anc. a separate unit of accounting, we recognize revenue from that element over the term of the related
contract or as the undelivered items are delivered.

Where we have continuing performance obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, we
recognize non-refundable license fees as revenue over the period during which we complete our perforinance
obligations. We recognize revenues from milestone payments related to arrangements under which we have no
continuing performance obligations upon achievement of the related milestone only if all of the following
conditions are met: the milestone payments are non-refundable; substantive effort is involved in achieving the
milestone; and the amount of the milestone is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk
associated with achievement of the milestone. If any of these conditions is not met, we defer the milestone
payments ind recognize those amounts as revenue over the term of the arrangement as we complete our
performance obligations.

We recognize payments received from collaborative partners for research and development services
performed by us as revenue on a straight line basis (unless evidence indicates an alternative earnings pattern
can be derionstrated) over the term of the arrangement or the expected service period, whichever is longer.
We recognize revenue from royalty payments upon the receipt of data from the licensees in accordance: with
the related license agreement supporting the amount of and basis for such royalty payments to us.

Valuation Allowances

Inventory. We value our inventory account balances at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We
analyze inventory levels quarterly, review inventory account balances and compare those amounts with sales
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forecasts and projections, historical revenue trends and shelf life of items in inventory. This analysis involves
our estimates of future cash flows which are highly judgmental and may differ from actual cash flows. We
dispose of inventory with a life in excess of its shelf life and we write the related costs off. If actual market
conditions are less favorable than those we project, additional inventory writedowns may be required.

Accounts Receivable. 'We periodically review outstanding balances in accounts receivable to determine
future collections. Management determines an allowance for uncollectible accounts based on our historical
experience, current business conditions and expected future collections. In the event circumstances change that
affect the assumptions underlying this allowance, we might be required to take additional write-offs of our
accounts receivable balances, With the transition in our U.S. operations to a direct sales force, we have been
exposed to a greater volume of transactions which we expect to improve our concentration of credit risk but
this benefit has been offset by an extended collection cycle.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill.  Our policy regarding long-lived assets is to evaluate the
recoverability or usefulness of these assets when the facts and circumstances suggest that these assets may be
impaired. In conducting this analysis we rely on a number of factors, including changes in strategic direction,
business plans, regulatory developments, economic and budget projections, technological improvements, and
operating results. The test of recoverability or usefulness is a comparison of the asset value to the undiscounted
cash flow of its expected cumulative net operating cash flow over the asset’s remaining useful life, We treat
any write-downs as permanent reductions in the carrying amount of the asset and we recognize an operating
loss. To date, we have had recurring operating losses and the recoverability of our long-lived assets is
contingent upon executing our business plan that includes, among other factors, significantly increasing sales.
If we are unable to execute our business plan, we may be required to write down the value of our long-lived
assets in future periods.

Income Tax. We record deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the net tax effects of tax credits,
operating loss carryforwards, and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We then assess the likelihood
that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent that we determine that
recovery is not likely, a valuation allowance is established. The valuation allowance is based on estimates of
taxable income by jurisdiction in which we operate and the period over which deferred tax assets will be
recoverable. Through December 31, 2006, we believe it is more likely than not that all of our deferred tax
assets will not be realized and, accordingly, have recorded a valuation allowance against all deferred tax assets.
If results of operations in the future indicate that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be recovered, the
reduction of the valuation allowance will be recorded as a tax benefit during one or over many periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R and SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payment, These standards
require that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized
in the statement of operations based on their fair values, The adoption of these standards did have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. See Note 6, Stock-Based Compensation,
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, (“SFAS 154”),
which replaces Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3,
Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and changes the requirements for the
accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principles. This Statement requires retrospective
application to prior periods’ financial statements of changes in accounting principles, unless it is impracticable
to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. The adoption of
SFAS No. 154 did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows,

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, which amends Accounting Research
Bulletin (“ARB”) No. 43 Chapter 4. This standard clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current period charges and
requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the
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production facilities. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2006, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-03, How Taxes Collected from
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That I,
Gross versuy Net Presentation) (“EITF 06-03"). EITF 06-03 provides that the presentation of taxes assessed by
a governmexital authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a
customer on either a gross basis (included in revenues and costs) or on a net basis (excluded from revenues) is
an accountir g policy decision that should be disclosed. The provisions of EITF 06-03 become effective as of
January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact EITF 06-03 could have on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”)
No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This
interpretation prescribes new methodology by which a company must measure, report, present, and disclose in
its financial statements the effects of any uncertain tax return reporting positions that the company has taken
or expects to take. The interpretation requires financial statement reporting of the expected future tax
consequence:s of uncertain tax return reporting positions on the presumption that all relevant tax authorities
possess full knowledge of the tax reporting positions as well as all of the pertinent facts and circumstances,
but it prohibits any discounting of these effects for the time value of money. In addition, the interpretation also
mandates expanded financial statement disclosure about uncertainty in tax reporting positions. The interpreta-
tion will bei:ome effective in the first quarter of 2007, We are currently evaluating the impact FIN No. 48
could have »n our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (“SFAS 1577). This
standard addresses how companies should measure fair value when they are required to use a fair value
measure for recognition or disclosure purposes under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). This
standard is =ffective for all financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 200)7. We
are currently evaluating the impact SFAS 157 could have on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In Sepiember 2006, the SEC issued SAB 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, (“SAB 108”). This standard addresses
quantifying the financial statement effect of misstatements, specifically, how the effects of prior year
uncorrected errors must be considered in quantifying misstatements in the current year financial statements.
This standaxd is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not
have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. EITF 00-19-2, Accounting for Regisiration
Payment Arrangements, (“FSP No. EITF 00-19-2"), which addresses an issuer’s accounting for registrat.on
payment arrangements. FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 specifies that the contingent obligation to make future
payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a
separate ag-eement or included as a provision of a financial instrument or other agreement, should be
separately recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
The guidanze in FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 amends FASB Statements No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, and No. 130, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, and FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, 1o include
scope exceptions for registration payment arrangements, FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 further clarifies that a financial
instrument subject to a registration payment arrangement should be accounted for in accordance with other
applicable generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) without regard to the contingent obligation to
transfer consideration pursuant to the registration payment arrangement. FSP No. EITF (0-19-2 shall be:
effective immediately for registration payment arrangements and the financial instruments subject to those
arrangemer.ts that are entered into or modified subsequent to the date of issuance of FSP No. EITF 00-19-2.
For registretion payment arrangements and financial instruments subject to those arrangements that were
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entered into prior to the issuance of FSP No. EITF 00-19-2, this guidance shall be effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The adoption of this standard is expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Investment Portfolio. We own financial instruments that are sensitive to market and interest rate risks as
part of our investment portfolio. We use this investment portfolio to preserve our capital until it is required to
fund operations including our research and development activities. We do not hold any of these market-risk
sensitive instruments for trading purposes. Cur investment policy prohibits investing in derivatives and limits
the amount of credit exposure due to any one issue, issuer, and type of instrument. See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements — “Operattons and Significant Accounting Policies.”

‘We invest our cash in securities classified as cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2005 and 2006,
these securities totaled $1.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively, and included money market accounts and
certificates of deposit. Changes in interest rates affect the investment income we earn on our investments and,
therefore, impact our cash flows and results of operations. A hypothetical 50 basis point decrease in interest
rates would result in a decrease in annual interest income and a corresponding increase in net loss of
approximately $8,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Foreign Exchange. We translate the financial statements of our German subsidiary in accordance with
SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. The functional currency of our foreign subsidiary is the local
currency (Euro). Accordingly, we translate all assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiary using the
applicable exchange rate at the balance sheet date except for intercompany receivables which are of long-term-
investment nature, and capital accounts which are translated at historical rates. We (ranslate revenues and
expenses at average rates during the period to which they relate. We exclude adjustments resulting from the
translation of the financial statements of our German subsidiary into U.S. Dollars from the determination of
net income and we accumulate them in a separate component of stockholders’ equity. We report foreign
currency transaction gains and losses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and they are
immaterial to the current results of operations. We had sales denominated in foreign currency of approximately
$7,222,000, $5,622,000, and $4,348,000 for the periods ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Ytem 8. Financiol Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by this item is contained in the financial statements set forth in Item 15(a)
under the caption “Consolidated Financial Statements™ as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

As of December 31, 2006, our management, with the participation of cur Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to
Rule 13a-15(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of December 31, 2006, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable
assurance that material information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such material information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. During the fiscal quarter ended
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December 31, 2006, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9E. Other Information.

There was no information required to be disclosed in a Periodic Report on Form 8-K in the fourth quarter
of 2006 which was not reported.

PART I

Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commissicn not later than 120 days after the close
of our fscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Th information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Thz information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statemet pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.,

Thz information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statemeat pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days after the close
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) 1. Conselidated Financial Statements,
* Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
= (Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006.
*» (Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

« (Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) and Comprehensive Loss for the Years
IZnded December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

+ {“onsolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.
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* Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

2. All schedules are omitted as the information required is inapplicable or the information is presented in
the consolidated financial statements or the related notes.

3. List of Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

31

32

33

34

35

3.6

37

3.8

39

3.10

311

4.1

Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant {originally filed as Exhibits 3,
4.1 to our Registration Statement No. 33-46158 on Form S-1 and re-filed in electronic form as
Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant (originatly filed as Exhibits 3.2, 4.1 to our
Registration Statement No. 33-46158 on Form S-1 and re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 3.2 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 200! and incorporated
herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment dated June 16, 1994, of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Registrant (originally filed as Exhibit 3.2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1995 and re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 3.3 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein
by reference).

Certificate of Amendment dated June 5, 1995, of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Registrant (originally filed as Exhibit 3.3 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1995 and re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 3.4 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein
by reference).

Certificate of Amendment dated June 26, 2002, of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to our Registration Statement No. 333-96701 on
Form S-8, filed on July 18, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment, dated June 11, 2004, of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment, dated June 9, 2006, of Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Matritech, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 13, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, dated
March 4, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Correction of Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K/A filed March 25, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment to Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 17, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference}

Amendment to Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock of Matritech, Inc. dated January 19, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Description of Capital Stock contained in the Registrant’s Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, filed herewith as Exhibits 3.1, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7.
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Exhibit
Number

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

49

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

418

4.19

4.20

4.21

Description of Exhibit

Purchase Agreement dated June 28, 2000, by and among Petra Urban, on behalf of Fran: Maier,
Eva Heidt and Joachim Hevler, the shareholders of ADL, and Stephan Schmidt, on behalf of the
Company {filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement between the Company and each of the
Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our 8-K, filed on December 9, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between the Company and several invesiors
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2003 and incorporated herein by raference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between the Company and several investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2003 and incorporated herein by rzference)

Form of 7.5% Convertible Debenture (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to our Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2003
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant between the Company and several investors {filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
our Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated October 15, 2003 between the Company and several investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated October 15, 2003 between the Company and several investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant between the Company and several investors (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
our Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated October 17, 2003 between the Company and a purchaser of
common stock and warrants (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to our Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated October 15, 2003 between the Company and a purchaser of
common stock and warrants (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated November 6, 2003 between the Company and a purchaser
of common stock and warrants (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to our Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2003
and incorporated herein by reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 19, 2004 between the Company and several investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated March 19, 2004 between the Company and several investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Stock Purchase Warrant between the Company and severa! investors (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
our Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2004 and incorperated herein by reference),

Investor Relations Warrant Agreement dated July 14, 2000, by and among the Company and the
individuals set forth on Exhibit A thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Purchase Agreement dated March 4, 2005 between Matritech, Inc. and various [nvestors
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

4722

423

424

4.25

4.26

427

4.28

4.29

430

4.31

4.32

4.33

434

4.35

4.36

4.37

4,401t

4.41

Description of Exhibit

Registration Rights Agreement dated March 4, 2005 between Matritech, Inc. and various Investors
(filed as Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Placement Agent Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Registration Rights Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed April 20, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference)

Revised Form of Common Stock Warrant (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed April 20, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Mutual Termination and Release Agreement between Matritech, Inc. and various Investors
(field as Exhibit 4.1 to our current Report on Form 8-K filed June 23, 2005 and incorporated herein
by reference)

Form of Purchase Agreement dated January 13, 2006 between Matritech, inc. and various
Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.1 on our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Note dated January 13, 2006 issued to various Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.2 on our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated January 13, 2006 between Matritech, inc. and various
Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.3 on our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Purchaser Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.4 on our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Placement Agent Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.5 on
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Security Agreement dated January 13, 2006 between Matritech, Inc. and SDS Capital Group SPC,
Ltd. as Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.6 on our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, .
2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Contingent License Agreement dated January 13, 2006 between Matritech, Inc. and SDS Capital i
Group SPC, Ltd. as Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.7 on our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 18, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Consent of Majority Holders of 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes dated January 13, 2006
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 19, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Consent of Majority Holders of 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes dated January 13, 2006
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form §-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Agreement and Amendment to 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes dated January 13, 2006
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Form of Purchase Agreement dated January 22, 2007 between Matritech, Inc. and various
Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 20067 and [
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Note dated January 22, 2007 and issued to various Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

442

443

4,44

4.45

4.46

10.1@

10.24#

10.3#

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7@

10.8

Description of Exhibit

Form of Purchaser Warrant to Purchase Shares of Commen Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated January 22, 2007 between Matritech, Inc. and variouos
Purchasers (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference). '

Placement Agent Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.7 to our Current
Report on Ferm 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated January 22, 2007 by and between Matritech, Inc.
and SDS Capital Group SPC, Lid, as Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Contingent License Agreement dated January 22, 2007 by and between
Matritech, Inc. and SDS Capital Group SPC, Ltd. as Coliateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

License Agreement between the Company and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology cated
December 14, 1987, as amended March 15, 1988, December 20, 1989 and March 4, 1992
(originally filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Statement No. 33-46158 on Form S-1 #nd re-
filed in electronic form as Exhibit 10.1 to our Annual Report on Form §0-K for the fiscal vear
ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

1992 Stock Plan as amended June 16, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to our Registration Statement
No. 333-51116 on Form S-8, filed on December 1, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated 1992 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan as amended June 16, 2000 (filed
as Exhibit 4.7 to our Registration Statement No. 333-51116 on Form S-8, filed on December 1,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Indemnity Agreement with directors (originally filed as Exhibit 10.14 10 our Registration
Statement No. 33-461358 on Form S-1 and re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 10.6 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Fourth Amendment dated March 18, 1993 to License Agreement between the Company and the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology dated December 14, 1987, as amended (originally fil:d as
Exhibit 10.9 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997 and
re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 10.7 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

Fifth Amendment dated April 14, 1994 to License Agreement between the Company and the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology dated December 14, 1987, as amended (originally filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarier ended March 31, 1994 and re-filed in electronic
form Exhibit 10.8 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December %1, 2001
and incorporated herein by reference).

Exclusive Distribution Agreement between the Company and Konica Corporation dated as of
November 9, 1994 (originally filed as Exhibit 10.26 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for'the
iiscal year ended December 31, 1994 and re-filed in electronic form as Exhibit 10.9 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by
reference),

lFirst Amendment to Agreement of Lease between the Company and One Nevada Realty Trust dated
June 22, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

10.9

10.10

10.11@

10.12

10.13@

10144

10.15@

10.16@

10.17

10.18#

10.19@

10.20@

10.214#

10.22#

10.23#

Description of Exhibit

Sixth Amendment dated March 1, 1996 to License Agreement between the Company and the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology dated December 14, 1987, as amended (originally filed as
Exhibit 10.26 to our Annuat Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995 and
re-fited in electrenic form as Exhibit 10.11 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

Senior Loan and Security Agreement No. 0096 between the Company and Phoenix Leasing,
Incorporated dated August 29, 1997 including form of Senior Secured Promissory Note between the
Company and Phoenix Leasing, Incorporated (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to our Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Distributorship Agreement by and between the Company and Curtin Matheson Scientific, a division
of Fisher Scientific Company, L.L.C. dated March 19, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Bank Loan between Matritech GmbH and Sparkasse Freiburg, dated May 7, 1999 (filed as
Exhibit 10.17 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Distributorship Agreement by and between Matritech GmbH and Hitachi Chemical Diagnostics,
Inc., dated October 1, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).

2002 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (filed as Appendix C to our Definitive Proxy
Statement, filed April 22, 2002 on Form 14A and incorporated herein by reference).

Exclusive License and Supply Agreement between Matritech, Inc. and Sysmex Corporation, dated
November 20, 2002 filed as Exhibit 10.22 with our Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement dated Qctober 31, 2003 between Cytogen
Corporation and Matritech, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Agreement of Lease dated May 12, 2004 between the Company and Francis
L. Biotti as trustee of One Nevada Realty Trust (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended effective June 11, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Sublicense Agreement between the Company and Abbott Laboratories, dated as of April 1, 2004
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter Agreement regarding Contract Manufacturing Arrangement between the Company and
Unotech Diagnostics, Inc. executed in April 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Stock Qption Agreement for stock option grants made in February 2005 to executive
officers (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 16, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Management Bonus Plan as of December 9, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 9, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for restricted stock used for bonus awards under
Amended and Restated Management Bonus Plan as of December 9, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

10.24#

10.25#

10.26#

10.27#
10.28#

10.29#

10.30#

10.314#
10.324

10.33

10.34#
10.35#

10.361t

10.371%

10.384

14.1

P
31.1

Description of Exhibit

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for restricted stock units used for bonus awards
under Amended and Restated Management Bonus Plan as of December 9, 2005 (filed as

Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 10, 2006 and incorporation herein by
reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement in lieu of stock option grants to US based executive
officers (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 10, 2006 ané.
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement in liev of stock option grants to non-US based
executive officer (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 10, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 10, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Change of Contro! Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.] to our Current Report on Formn 8-K
filed March 21, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Amended Restricted Stock Award Agreement for restricted stock awards used for honus
awards under Amended and Restated Management Bonus Plan as of December 9, 2005 (fil:d as
Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 21, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference)

Form of Amended Restricted Stock Award Agreement in lieu of stock options granted to executive
officers (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 21, 2006 and
incorporation herein by reference)

Form of Amended Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 21, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Stock Option Agreement with executive officer (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 3-K filed
on June 13, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Extension Agreement, dated June 12, 2006, by and between the Registrant and Unotech
Diagnostics, Inc., amending the termination date of the Letter Agreement regarding Contract
Manufacturing Arrangement between the parties dated March 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the our
Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

2006 Equity and Incentive Plan, as amended September 15, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10,1 to our
Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

2002 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended September 15, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Supply Agreement dated November 3, 2006 by and between Matritech, Inc. and Inverness Medical
Innovations, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Distribution Agreement dated November 3, 2006 by and between Matritech, Inc. and Inverness
Medical Innovations, Inc, (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for bonus awards made in March, 2007 (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed March 19, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Code of Business Conduct and Ethics dated May 25, 2005 (filed as
Exhibit 14.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 26, 2005 and incorporated hereia by
reference)

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

312 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32,17 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer under Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
3227 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

@ Confidential Treatment granted for portions thereof
** Filed herewith

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to
this Form 10-K pursnant to Item 14{c} of this report.

t1 Confidential Treatment has been requested as to omitted portions pursuant to Rule 24b-2 promulgated
under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A complete copy of this agreement has been
filed separately with the SEC.

A Fumished as exhibits

{c) Exhibits, The Company hereby files as exhibits to this Form 10-K those exhibits listed in
Item 15(a)(3), above.

76




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly cansed this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Newton, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on the 27th day of March, 2007. :

Matritech, Inc.

By: /s/ Stephen D. Chubb

Stephen D. Chubb
Director, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Pussuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  Stephen D. Chubb Director, Chairman, and Chief Executive March 27, 2007
Stephen D. Chubb Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ David L. Corbet Director, President and Chief March 27, 2007
David L Corbet Operating Officer
/s/ Richard A. Sandberg Director, Vice President, Chief Financial March 27, 2007
Richard A. Sandberg Officer and Treasurer (Principal

Accounting and Financial Officer)

fs/ Walter O. Fredericks Director March 27, 2007
Walter Q. Fredericks

/s/  Jud:th Kurland Director March 27, 2007
Judith Kurland

/s/ Bruce Lehman Director March 27, 2007
Bruce Li:hman

fs/  David B. Musket Director March 27, 2007
David B. Musket

fs/ Jonathan M. Niloff Director March 27, 2007
Jonathan M, Niloff

fs/  Robert J. Rosenthal Director March 27, 2007
Robert J. Rosenthal
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Signature

fs/ T. Stephen Thompson

T. Stephen Thompson

fs/ C. William Zadel

C. William Zadel

78

Title

Director
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Date
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March 27, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Matritech, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive loss and of cash flows present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Matritech Inc. and its subsidiary at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in
which it accounts for share-based compensation as of January I, 2006.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will
continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has
suffered recurring losses from operations and negative cash flows from operations that raise substantial donbt
about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also
described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result
from the outcome of this uncertainty.

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 27, 2007




MATRITECH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Decembe:: 31,

2005 2006
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... i $ 1,789,792 § 1,460,403
Acconts receivable less allowance of $110,059 and $152,043 in 2005 and 2006,
respectively . ... e 1,534,096 1,266,481
L= YUY < 756,079 968,737
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . . . ... .. o i i 323,660 140,338
Total cUmment @SSets . . . v . oottt it i e e e e e e 4,403,627 3,835,959
Property and equipment, at cost:
Laboiatory equipment . . .. ... ... e 2,287,161 2,344,586
Office equipment. . . .. vttt et et et e e s 582,798 706,963
Laboratory fumiture . . ... ... . .. 62,739 62,739
Leasehold improvements . . . .. ... .. e 141,267 141,267
AOINObIES . . . . e e e e 18,896 _ 25,110
3,092,861 3,280,665
Less -— Accumulated depreciation and amortization . ........................ 2,211,618 2,512,627
881,243 768,038
GoodWill . ... e e e e e e 132,615 132,615
Dbt SSUANCE oSS . . . i e e et e e i, 6,721 493,164
OHHEr @SSCES « . . o ot et e e e e e e 200,227 276,099
Receivadle fromrelated party . . .. ... ... .. ... . e i ' 3,551 —
Total BSSEIS L . o\ v e e $ 5627984 § 5,505,875
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of notes payable . . ... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ..., 3 13,571 % 17,384
Current maturities of convertible debentures . . . . .. ... ... ... .. .. .. ... . ..... 634,971 3,298,976
Accounts payable . . .. ... e 523,742 1,271,534
AcCTred eXPeNSES . . . . ... e e 1,301,719 2,373,006
Deferied TBVENUE. . . . . .. o i e e e 286,186 136,335
Regiszation rights liability . . . .. ... ... .. .. .. . e - _ 324,953
Total current Habilities . .. ... . .ttt i it e e e, 2,760,189 7,442 688
Notes payable, less current matumities . . ... .o it i et it et e e e e 9,979 26,740
Convertible debentures, less current maturities . .. ... ... ... .. .. . i .. — (8,487
Defermer] TeVeMUE | . . . s e e e e e e 641,725 610,346
Other long term liabilities . . . ... ... ... .. e 132,852 123,754
Total Habilities . . . .. i i i e e e e e e s 3,544,745 8,302,015
Commit nents and Contingencies (Note 4)
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $1.00 par value
Auwhorized — 4,000,000 shares
Designated as Series A Convertible Preferred — 1,426,124 shares
Issued and outstanding — 569,251 shares in 2005 and 81,399 shares of Series A
LY 2000 . .o e e e e e e 729,495 104,312
Liquidation preference of $5,009,409 and $716,311 for Series A in 2005 and 2006,
easpectively . . .. e e e e e 729,495 104,312
Stockhoders’ Equity (Deficit):
Common stock, $0.01 par value
Auwthorized — 90,000,000 shares in 2005 and 150,000,000 shares in 2006
Issued and outstanding — 47,498,008 shares in 2005 and 56,759,061 shares in
2006 . . e e e e 474,979 567,590
Additional paid-in capital. . ... ... ... e e e 98,800,393 106,313,122
Accuraulated other comprehensive income . . . . ..., ... ... e e 65,367 140,633
Accuraulated deficit. . . ... ... L e (97,986,995)  (109,921,797)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 1,353,744 (2,900,452)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) .. ........... ... .. ......... $ 5627984 § 5505875

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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MATRITECH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 11,

2004 2005 2006
Revenue:
Product sales, net of allowances . ... ................. $ 7,274,789  $10,290,097 $ 12,085,455
Alliance and collaboration revenue .. ................. 208,306 125,373 109,570
Totalrevenue . ...........0 i iiiiinrinninnnrens 7,483,095 10,415,470 12,195,025
Expenses:
Costof product sales. . . ...... ... . ... ... ... ... ... 2,579,581 3,085,465 3,122,099
Research & development and clinical & regulatory
EXPEMSES . . v ot e et e 2,726,030 2,862,744 2,868,935
Selling, general and administrative expenses . ........... 10,545,268 12,196,962 14,233,523
Total operating expenses . .............. .. iu... 15,850,879 18,145,171 20,224,557
Gainonsaleof fixedassets. .. ...................... — 60,091 —
Loss fromoperations. . . . ...........oiniuienn., (8,367,784) (7,669,610) (8,029,532)
Interestincome . . ... ..o vt ie it e e e 97,741 120,051 136,186
Interest expense .. ....... ... ... . it 2,853,112 2,215,102 3,986,828
Mark-to-market adjustment from warrants . ............. —_— 1,899,698 —_
Mark-to-market adjustment from registration rights ....... — — 54,628
o [ 1 - $(11,123,155) $(7.864,963) §(11,934,802)
Beneficial conversion feature related to series A
convertible preferred stock . ... ........ ... .. ... .. — (1,627,232) —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders. . ... ... .. $(11,123,155) $(9,492,195) $(11,934,802)
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to common shareholders
percommon share. . ........ .. $ 027) % 021) § (0.22)
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares
outstanding . . . . ... L. 40,686,755 45,002,662 54,595,633

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MATRITECH, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Commean Stock Additional A e Total

Number Pald-ln Comprehensive  Accumulated Stockholders’

of shares  Par Value Capital Income (Loss) Deflcit Equity (Deficit}

Balance, December 31,2003 . . .. ........... 36,121,934 $361,219 § 83,316,769 $119.119 $ (78,998,877) § 4,798,230
NetLiss . ..ot it i i —_ — — - (11,123,155) (11,123,155)
Cumulative translation adjustment . . . . ... ... — — — 23,280 — 23,280
Total comprehensive loss. . ... ........... {11,099,875)

Sale ol common stock and warrants, net of .
issuince costs of $712,530 . .. .. .. ... ... 4,858,887 48,589 5,798,380 —_ —_— 5,846,969
Beneficial conversion feature associated with

convertible debentures . .. . ... ... ... .. — — 1,338,669 1,338,669
Exercite of common stock options . ... ..... 100,000 1,000 83,000 —_ — 84,000
Issuance of common stock for interest on

convertible debentures . . ., ... ......... 257,728 2,577 326,203 — — 328,780
Issuance of commaon stock for redemption '

payments on convertible debentures . . . .. .. 1,669,994 16,700 2,072,439 2,089,139
Issuance of common stock under employee

stoch purchase plan. . .. .............. 6,000 60 8,940 — — 9,000

Balance, December 31,2004, . .. ... .. ... ... 43,014,543 $430,145 § 92,044400  $142399  § (90,122,032) § 3,394,912
NetLois ..., . i, — — — — {7,864,963)  (7,864,963)
Cumul: tive translation adjustment. . . ... .... —_ —_ — (77,032) — (17,032}
Total comprehensive loss. . . .. ........... (7,941,995)
Issuanc: of warrants to a placement agent. . . . . — - 562,125 — — 562,125
Beneficial conversion feature associated with

convirtible debentures . . . ... ... ... ... —_ _ 442,027 — — 442,027
Conversion of preferred stock into common

stock .. 1,010,210 10,102 119,357 — — 129,459
Issnanc: of common stock for interest on

convertible debentures . . ... ... . ... ... 198,927 1,989 161,262 —_ — 163,251
Issuance: of common stock for redemption

payments on convertible debentures . . ... .. 3,268,102 32,681 2,598,116 — — 2,630,797
Issuanc of common stock under employee

stockpurchase plan. . ... ............. 6,226 62 6,164 — — 6,226
Reclassification of warrants from a liability 10

eqQUILY. . . e — — 1,966,942 1,966,942

Balance, Dlecember 31,2005. . . ............ 47498008 $474979 § 98,800,393  $ 65367 $ (97,986,995) § 1,353,744
Netboss ......... ... .. — — — — (11,934,802) {11,934,802)
Cumula jve translation adjustment. . . .. ... .. — — — 75,266 - 75,260
Total comprehensive loss. . .. ............ {11,859,536)
Issuance of warrants in connection with 2006

securcd convertible notes . ... .. .. ... ... _ _ 1,941,854 — —_ 1,941,854
Beneficial conversion feature associated with

2006 secured convertible notes . ... ... ... — — 2,974,992 —_ — 2,974,992
Convers an of preferred stock into common

SEOCK . .. 6,132,986 61,330 563,853 _ —_ 625,183
Conversion of 2006 secured convertible notes

intocommon stock , . ... ... ... ... ... 1,420,995 14,210 909,438 —_ —_ 923,648
Exercise of warrants . . . .. .............. 61,337 613 39,281 — —_ 39,894
Issuance of commen stock for interest on

convertible debentures . . . ... ... ... ... 15,950 160 12,651 — — 12,811
Issuance of common stock for redemption

payments on convertible debentures . . ., , .. 1,215,304 12,153 887,514 — — 899,667
Issuance of restricted stock .. ............ 414,481 4,145 (4,145) —_ — —
Restricte ] stock & restricted stock unit

BXPRIEE . . vttt i s ——— — 39,651 - — 34,651
Stock optionexpense . . ... ... — — 147,640 — — 147,640
Balance, December 31,2006 . .. .......... 56,759,061 $567,590 $106,313,122  $140,633  $(109,921,797) § (2,900,452)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MATRITECH, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 3,

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

2004

2005

2006

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-6

Net 0SS . ot e e e e $(11,123,155) $(7.864,963) 5(11,934,802)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation . . . .. ...t e e i 256,289 250,222 280,791
Amortization of debtdiscount . ... ... .. .. i e e 2,149,943 1,629,569 2,472,461
Amortization of deferred charges . . . .......... ... ... . .. e 210917 111,937 425,959
Stock OptiOn EXPENSE. . . . . . o i e — — 147,640
Restricted stock & restricted stock unitexpense . . ......... ... ... ... ..., — — 39,651
Issuance of common stock for interest ondebentures . . .. ... ... ... L oo 328,781 163,250 12,811
Noncash InlErest eXpense . . ... ..t tur i e e 166,059 323,104 1,063,392
Mark-to-markel adjustment on Wammants. . . . ... ... i —  (1,899,698) —
Mark-to-market adjustment on registration rights. . . . ... .. ... . . . oo — — 54,628
Gainonsaleof fixed assets. . . .. ... cun it e — (60,091) —
Noncashexpense related tobomus plan . . .. ... ... ... .. . ... ... ... — 66,426 28,390
Provision forbad debts . .. ... .. i i e 61,532 96,609 127,772
Changes in assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE . . v v e e e e (358,690) {768,356) 173,214
Y (248,582) 75,496 (174,969}
Prepaid expenses and other assets . .. .. ... i i (87.782) {128,884) 111,002
Accounts payable . . ... e 187,023 59,168 742,697
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . . . .......... ... .. . . ... oo 582,598 (162,813) 117,608
Deferred revenue . . . . ... . e e (145,412) (95,052) (131,230
Net cash used in operating activities . . ... ... ... .. .. ... .. (8,020,479) (8,204,076)  (6,442,985)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . . . . .. ... ... .. i e (229,969) (221,022) (105,467
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets . . .. ... ... i e — 60,091 —
Net cash used in investing activities . ............. ... ... ... .oy (229,969)  (160,931) (105,467}
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Payments onnotes payable . .......... ... ... ... . ... . (295,212) (6,120) (31.934)
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock and warrants, net . . .. ................... — 52871721 —
Proceeds from secured convertible notes and warrants, net . ... ... .. i e — — 6,184,053
Proceeds from sale of common stock and warrants, oet . . ... ... L i 5,846,969 — —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options . . . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 84,000 — —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants . . . .. ... .. .. ... oo — — 39,894
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan. . ... ... 9,000 6,226 —
Net cash provided by financing activities . . .. .......... ... ... ... 0. 5,644,757 5,287,827 6,192,013
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents . . ... ................. (6,255) (39,206) 27,050
Increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents . . . . ... ... ... .. o (2,611,946) (3,116,386) (329,389)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginningof year . . .. ............ ... .. i 7,518,124 4,906,178 1,789,792
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . . . ... ... . . ittt i $ 4906178 $ 1,789,792 § 1,460,403
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year forinterest . . . ... ... ... .. ... .. i 3 8444 % 1,668 $ 16,497
Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Financing and Investing Activities:
Noncash dividends to preferred stockholders arising from the beneficial conversion feature . . . § — $1627232 % —
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible debentures and 2006 secured convertible notes. . . § 1,338,660 $ 442027 $ 2974992
Issuance of common stock as payment of principal on convertible debentures:
Number of sharesissued. . . . . . ... .. .. i i i i i 1,669,994 3,268,102 1,215,304
Payment on debentures indollars . .. .. ... .. ... e e $ 1923078 $2307692 § 769,231
Issuance of common stock as payment of interest on convertible debentures:
Number of shares issued. . . . ... .0ttt e 257,728 198,927 15,950
Payment on debentures indollars . . .. ... ... ... e $ 308893 $ 151443 % 12,020
Conversion of 101,021 and 487,852 shares of convertible preferred stock to 1,010,210 and
6,132,986 shares of common stock in 2005 and 2006, respectively .. ............... 3 — $ 129459 625,183
Registration rights liability recorded as adebtdiscount .. ........................ $ — 5 — § 305829
Allocation of $1,285,000 closing cost related to the 2006 secured convertible notes:
Registration rights Liability .. ......... ... .. i 3 — 3 — 3 35,505
2006 secured convertible notes (recorded in other assets). . . ... oot $ — 3 — % 912403
Purchaser warrants (recorded in additional paid incapital). . .. ......... ... ... 0., 3 — 8 — § 33172
Payment of clesing cost related to the 2006 secured convertible notes with issuance of warrant
10 PIACEMENE ARERIS . . o ottt e et e e e e e et e $ — § — § 471,700
Warrants issued to stockholders and recorded as debt discount to the 2006 secured convertible
OBBS . o v v et et e e e e e e 3 — 3 — $ 1.807,876
Conversion of 2006 secured convertible notes into common stock . .. ... . ............ $ — § — % 880,000
Purchase of fixed assets through capital lease . . . . ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .iou 3 - 5 5791 % 51,308




MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

Marritech, Inc. (“the Company” or “we™) was incorporated on Cctober 29, 1987, to develop, produce and
distribute products for the diagnosis and potential treatment of cancer based on its proprictary nuclear matrix
protein tzchnology. We initially licensed nuclear matrix protein technology from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology (“MIT”), and have since obtained an additional 14 U.S. patents relating to our products and
nuclear matrix protein technology.

We are devoting substantiatly all of our efforts toward product research and development, raisinz capital,
securing partners, and manufacturing, distributing and marketing our products. We are subject to risks common
to compinies in similar stages of development, including a history of operating losses and anticipated future
losses, fluctuation in operating results, uncertainties associated with future performance, near-term dependence
on a limited number of products, uncertainties around bringing new products to market, reliance on sole
suppliers, dependence on key individuals, competition from substitute products and larger companies, the
developrient of commercially usable products and the need to obtain adequate additional financing necessary
to fund our operations and the development of future products. In addition, because we have a substantial
amount of debentures due prior o the end of 2007, we have an important additional risk that many companies
in similar stages of development do not have,

We have incurred losses from operations since our inception. We had an accumulated deficit of
$110 miilion at December 31, 2006 and had only $1.5 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
2006. Bzsed on our current forecast of cash utilization and plans for management of expenses and cash flow,
and subsequent to the completion of a financing in Januvary 2007 (as described in Note 13, “Subsequant
Event™) we believe that our capital resources will be sufficient to fund operations into the second quarter of
2007, but we expect to need additional capital in order to continue our operations beyond the second quarter
of 2007. We were required by the terms of the 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes we issued in
January 2006 (“2006 Secured Convertible Notes™) to pay the holders thereof more than $1.2 million of
principal and interest in January 2007, The terms of these notes require that we pay all or a very large portion
of the armount due in cash unless we were able to renegotiate payment terms with the holders of the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes. We were successful in renegotiating payment terms on these secured convertible
notes as described in Note 13, “Subsequent Event”. Failure to make timely payments due on our 2006 Secured
Convertisle Notes would constitute an event of default under those 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and could
result in our inability to continue operations, as further described in Note 7. We will, as we deem necessary or
prudent, continue to seek to raise additional capital and will consider various financing alternatives, including
equity or debenture financings, issuance of securities convertible into equity and corporate partnering
arrangements. However, we may not be able to timely raise needed capital on terms that are acceptable to us,
or at all. If we raise funds on unfavorable terms, we may provide rights and preferences to new investors
which are not available to current shareholders. In addition, our existing financing arrangements contain anti-
dilutive provisions which may require us to issue additional securities if certain conditions are met. If we do
not timely receive additional financing or do not receive an adequate amount of additional financing, we will
be requited to curtail our expenses by reducing research and/or marketing or by taking other steps that could
hurt our future performance, including but not limited to, the premature sale of some or all of our assets or
product lines on undesirable terms, merger with or acquisition by another company on unsatisfactory terms or
the cessation of operations. Any future equity financings or retirements of debentures with common stock will
ditute the: ownership interest of our existing investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our
common stock, Any of the foregoing steps may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition: and results of operations. There can be no assurance that capital will be available on terms
acceptable to us, if at all.

In September 2006, we received notice from the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX™), the principal
trading market of our common stock, that we were not in compliance with certain continued listing standards
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MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

relative to maintenance of stockholders’ equity and profitability. On October 23, 2006, we submitted to AMEX
a plan of proposed actions we believe will bring us into compliance with applicable listing standards no later
than March 21, 2008. On December 8, 2006, we received notice that AMEX had accepted our plan. AMEX
may initiate delisting procedures against us if we do not make progress consistent with the plan during the
plan period or we are not in compliance with applicable listing standards at the end of the plan period.
Delisting of shares of our common stock would violate terms of our various financing documents, could result
in the declaration of an event of default in our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and could cause holders to
seek to recover potential damages from us. In addition, any suspension of trading or delisting of our shares
could make it more difficult for us to raise needed additional capital on terms acceptable to us or at all.
Further, suspension of trading or delisting of our shares could seriously impair the ability of our stockholders
1o sell shares of our stock.

The terms of our existing securities greatly restrict our future financing options. For example, the terms
of our Series A Preferred Stock impose a limitation on indebtedness not outstanding on March 4, 2005 in
excess of $7,500,000 except in limited forms ($12,000,000 after January 19, 2007 — see Note 13, “Subsequent
Event”). While our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we have restrictions on incurring
additional indebtedness {other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of receivables and equipment
purchase or lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restrictions on payment of cash dividends and
redemption of securities. Moreover, we have granted (o a collateral agent on behalf of the holders of the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes a security interest in collateral including some cell lines, equipment, inventory and
general intangibles related to our NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds from any sale of the product line.
We also granted contingent license rights to the collateral agent on behalf of the holders of the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of cur patents related to the NMP22
products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the NMP22 product line, and
license rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product line. The NMP22 product
line, portions of which serve as collateral for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, includes all of our currently
commercialized products. The agreements reflecting the coliateral and license arrangements contain restrictions
on our sale or abandonment of the collateral and the patent rights. Further, these agreements afford the
collateral agent the right to assume control of and sell the collateral and to vse the contingent license rights
exclusively within the field of bladder cancer detection in the event of our default in our obligations under the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes. If we default on these obligations, and the collateral is sold, we will lose our
primary source of operating income, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and would
severely jeopardize our ability to continue operations. As described in Note 13, “Subsequent Event™ after
January 22, 2007, we face similar restrictions under our Series B 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes
(“2007 Secured Convertible Notes™ and collectively with our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, the “Secured
Convertible Notes™).

If we raise funds on unfavorable terms, we may provide rights and preferences to new investors which
are not available to current stockholders. In addition, our existing financing arrangements contain anti-dilutive
provisions which may require us to issue additional securities if certain conditions are met. Any future equity
financings or retirements of debentures with common stock will dilute the ownership interest of our existing
investors and may have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock. Any of the foregoing steps may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no
assurance that capital will be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. These financial statements do not
include any adjustments that would be necessary if we were unable to continue as a going concern entity.

We have suffered recurring losses from operations and negative cash flows from operations that raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As a result, if we do not receive an
adequate amount of additional financing in the future or such financing does not occur on a timely basis, we
will be required to curtail our expenses by reducing research and/or marketing or by taking other steps that
could hurt our future performance, including but not limited to, the premature sale of some or all of our assets
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MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

or product lines on undesirable terms, merger with or acquisition by another company on unsatisfacrory terms
or the cessation of operations.

{a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Matritech, Inc., a Delaware corporation and
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Matritech GmbH, based in Freiburg, Germany. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(k) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the re:ported
amount; of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
staternents and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ materially from those estimates.

(c) Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of Matritech GmbH are translated in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52, Foreign Currency Transiation. The functional currency of our German
subsidiiry is the local currency (Euro), and accordingly, all assets and liabilities of our German subsidiary are
translat:d using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date except for capital accounts, including loans that
are considered long-term in nature, which are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses ire
translatzd at average rates during the period. Adjustments resulting from the transiation of the financial
statements of Matritech GmbH into U.S. Dollars are excluded from the determination of net income: and are
included in accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction
gains axd losses are reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and are immaterial to
the results of operations. :

(d) Cash and Cash Eguivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of purchase to be
cash equivalents. We follow the provisions of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments ir. Debt and
Equity Securities, in accounting for our marketable securities. Securities held at December 31, 200Z and 2006,
include only cash and cash equivalents and money market accounts.

(e) Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

Financial instruments that potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk consist primariiy of cash
and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. We limit credit risk in cash and cash equivalents by
investing only in short-term, investment grade securities with financial institutions of high credit standing. To
reduce credit risk associated with our trade accounts receivable, we routinely assess the financial strength of
our customers and utilize credit limits and, as a consequence, we believe that our trade accounts receivable
credit risk exposure is limited. We do not require collateral from our customers.

No customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues in fiscal 2004, 2005, and 2005,
respectively. No customer accounted for more than 10% of our accounts receivable balance at December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006.
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MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on a first-in first-out basis) or market and consist
of the following:

December 31,
2005 2006
Raw Materials . . . .. e e e e $206,200 $195,724
WOTK-I-PrOCESS . .o ittt e i i e e e s 22,117 10,647
Finished goods . ... ... . .. i i i e e e 462,732 752,605
Consignment iNVENIOTY . ... ... .o ut it en i en i enneanns 65,030 9,761

$756,079  $968,737

(g) Depreciation

We provide for depreciation using straight-line methods by recording charges to operations in amounts
that allocate the cost of property and equipment over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset Classification Useful Life

Laboratory equipment. . . . ............. ... . .. i, 4 to 10 years

Office equipment . ........... .t 2-5 years

Laboratory furniture . . . ... ... ... .. ... . .. i e 5 years

Leasehold improvements. . . ........... .. i, Shorter of useful life or lease term
Automobiles. . .. ... ... . e 5 years

(h) Capital leases

Assets acquired under capital lease agreements are recorded at the present value of the future minimum
rental payments using interest rates appropriate at the inception of the lease. Property and equipment subject
to capital lease agreements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the estimated useful life of
the asset unless the lease transfers ownership or containg a bargain purchase option, in which case the leased
asset is amortized over the estimated useful life of such asset.

(i) Disclosure of Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, convertible debentures and notes payable. The carrying amounts of our financial instruments,
excluding the Convertible Debentures (as defined below) and 2006 Secured Convertible Notes (as defined
below), approximate their estimated fair values at December 31, 2005 and 2006. The estimated fair values
have been determined through information obtained from market sources and management estimates.

The fair value of the Convertible Debentures and 2006 Secured Convertible Notes at December 31, 2005
and 2006 as estimated by management is approximately $769,000 and $6,118,000, respectively. The carrying
value of the Convertible Debentures and 2006 Secured Convertible Notes in our financial statements reflects
discounts related to beneficial conversion charges calculated in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
Issue No. 00-27, Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments (“EITF 00-27").
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MATRITECH, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(/) Goodwill and Long-lived Assets

We have completed the annual impairment tests as required by SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangibie Assets (“SFAS 1427} and, based on the results of these tests, no impairment of goodwill was
identifiecl.

Our policy regarding long-lived assets is to evaluate the recoverability or usefulness of these assets when
the facts and circumstances suggest that these assets may be impaired. In conducting this analysis, we rely on
a number of factors, including changes in strategic direction, business plans, regulatory developments,
economi:: and budget projections, technological improvements, and operating results. The test of reccverability
or usefulness is a comparison of the asset value to the undiscounted cash flow of its expected cumulztive net
operating; cash flow over the asset’s remaining useful life. We treat any write-downs as permanent recluctions
in the caTying amount of the asset and we recognize an operating loss. To date, we have had recurring
operating, losses and the recoverability of our long-lived assets is contingent upon executing our business plan
that includes, among other factors, significantly increasing product sales. If we are unable to execute our
business plan, we may be required to write down the value of our long-lived assets in future periods.

(k) HRevenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104™) and EITF 00-21 Revenue Arrangements with Mudiiple
Deliveranies (“EITF 00-21""). We recognize revenue when the following criteria have been met;

1. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

2. Delivery has occurred and risk of loss has passed to our customers;
3. Our price to the customer is fixed or determinable; and

4. Collectibility is reasonably assured.

When determining whether risk of loss has transferred to customers on product sales, we evaluate both
the contractual terms and conditions of our sales agreements as well as our business practices. When
determining whether collectibility is reascnably assured, we evaluate the facts and circumstances asscciated
with the individual transaction. Factors we consider differ depending on the nature of the customer (end-user
versus distributor), nature of the product (well established or relatively new), size of the transaction, whether
we have a past history with the customer and the geographic location of the customer. These general principles
are applied somewhat differently in three different circumstances:

(a) Sales of Laboratory Test Kits (whether to distributors or end-users)

Sales of Laboratory Test Kits include our NMP22 Lab Test Kit which we have manufactured and sold
directly t2> end-user laboratories and to distributors since 1995 and non-NMP22 products which consist of
various diagnostic products made by others, purchased by us and resold by us to end-user laboratories,
principally in Germany. For these well established products, we record revenue when the product is shipped
and the above-noted requirements of SAB 104 are met. None of these products has any significant rick that
regulatory approvals, reimbursement arrangements or inadequate physician education will prevent laboratory
customer: from successfully using the product. For sales of these products to distributors and end-user
laboratories, we evaluate our prior collection history with the customer and occasionally obtain credit reports
from external sources. We closely monitor our accounts receivable aging for these customers and establish
reserves for significantly aged accounts if we believe the account is uncollectible. QOur collection history has
been favorable and we have not been required to establish material bad debt provisions for our end-user
laboratorv customers or for distributors of this product.
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(b} Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to end-users

Our NMP22 BladderChek Test is a point-of-care bladder cancer test that we have manufactured and sold
since 2001. Because it is the first point-of-care diagnostic test for any type of cancer, it can only be sold
successfully if a commercially supportive marketplace has been established (eg, appropriate regulatory
approvals, reimbursement arrangements and physician education are in place).

Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to end-user physicians are made in Germany and the United States
because we have made significant investments to create a commercially supportive marketplace in each
country. Despite these efforts, we have found that some physician customers demand a right of return because
after product delivery they are not ready or able to utilize the product in their practice in the way they
expected before their purchase. We have also found that some physician customers are less creditworthy than
others. Due to the high volume and small size of these sales, we generally do not perform credit checks on
potential customers but instead establish credit limits and closely monitor the aging of our receivable batances
for these customers. If a physician customer account ages beyond 90 days, the customer will be put on credit
hold and no further revenue will be recognized related to that customer until their greater than 90 day
outstanding balances are paid in full.

While we record revenue when the product is shipped and the above-noted requirements of SAB 104 are
met, at the same time we establish reserves for returns and non-payment based on our credit and collection
history. These reserves are recorded as a reduction of revenue, and we regularly adjust the reserves based on
our actual experience. To date, our historical calculations of the size of required reserves have been in line
with our expectations.

(¢) Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to distributors

Sales of NMP22 BladderChek Test to distributors began in late 2001 to reach markets other than
Germany and the United States. Like us, each of these distributors has needed to make a significant investment
to start-up and establish a commercially supportive marketplace in order to successfully sell the NMP22
BladderChek Test to physicians. While distributors for this product are typically established companies with
experience in selling medical products, we discovered that the time required to create a commercially
supportive marketplace in their territory was longer than they expected and that the new distributor’s initial
sales were less than they projected. Such delays put their initial purchases of NMP22 BladderChek Tests at
risk of expiration and over the years, despite our contractual prohibitions against returns, some have asked us
to exchange their inventory for newer inventory in order to avoid a loss.

Business practices such as agreeing to product exchanges may indicate the existence of an implied right
to return the product even if there are no such contractual provisions for product returns. We treat such
practices, whether contractual or implied, as conveying a right of return and will establish provisions for
returns when reasonable and reliable estimates can be made. In accordance with SAB 104, where we do not
have sufficient history to make reasonable and reliable estimates of returns, as is the case with distributors
with whom we do not have a ten quarter history, we defer revenue until the distributor reports to us that it no
longer has the product or we determine the shelf life of the product has expired {(each indicating that the
possibility of return is remote). After we have ten quarters of experience with an individual distributor, we
recognize any remaining deferred revenue related to that distributor and subsequently recognize revenue upon
shipment to that distributor. Shipments recorded as deferred revenue were approximately $423,000 in 2005 and
approximately $130,000 in 2006.

As with our other distributor customers, we closely monitor our accounts receivable aging for these
customers and establish reserves for significantly aged accounts if we believe the account is uncollectible. Our
collection history has been favorable and we have not been required to establish material bad debt provisions
for our significant distributor customers.

F-12




MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

We generate alltiance and collaboration revenue primarily through collaborative license and development
agreemen:s with strategic partners for the development and commerciatization of our product candidates. The
terms of these agreements typically include non-refundable license fees, funding of research and development,
payments based upon achievement of certain milestones, payments for product manufacturing and royalties on
net product sales. We examine revenue arrangements where multiple products or services are sold together
under one contract to determine if each element represents a separate unit of accounting as defined in EITF
00-21. EITF 00-21 requires the following criteria to be met for an element to represent a separate unit: of
accountinz;

1. The delivered 1tems have value to a customer on a stand-alone basis;
2. There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items; and

3. Delivery or performance is probable and within the control of the vendor for any delivered items
that have a right of return.

In the event that an element of a multiple element arrangement does not represent a separate eanings
process and a separate unit of accounting, we recognize revenue from that element over the term of the related
contract cr as the undelivered items are delivered.

Where we have continuing performance obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, we
recognize non-refundable license fees as revenue over the period during which we complete our performance
obligatior s. We recognize revenues from milestone payments related to arrangements under which we have no
continuiny performance obligations upon achievement of the related milestone only if all of the following
condition; are met: the milestone payments are non-refundable; substantive effort is involved in achieving the
milestone; and the amount of the milestone is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk
associatecl with achievement of the milestone. If any of these conditions is not met, we defer the milestone
payments and recognize those amounts as revenue over the term of the arrangement as we complete our
performance obligations.

We tecognize payments received from collaborative partners for research and development services
performes! by us as revenue on a straight line basis (unless evidence indicates an alternative earnings pattem
can be demonstrated) over the term of the arrangement or the expected service period, whichever is longer.
We recognize revenue from royalty payments upon the receipt of data from the licensees in accordance with
the related license agreement supporting the amount of and basis for such royalty payments to us.

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

December 31,
2005 2006
Colliboration TEVETIUE . . . . v ittt ot it it et et e ettt een s $715,608  $706.,038
Deferred product revenue . ........... ...t i, 212,303 90,643

$927,911  $796,681

(I} Rusearch and Development Costs

Research and development costs, which are comprised of costs incurred in performing research end
development activities including wages and associated employee benefits, clinical trial costs, contract services,
and facilities and overhead costs, are expensed as incurred.
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{(m) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of product sales includes payroll-related expenses, product materials, rent and related expenses,
supplies, depreciation of fixed assets used in production as well as royalties paid to third parties. Gross profit
is calculated by deducting the cost of product sales from product sales.

(r) Significant Risks and Uncertainties

We do not currently have alternative suppliers manufacturing our NMP22 BladderChek Tests or providing
processes for our NMP22 Test Kits. Unless and until we secure additional suppliers for the NMP22
BladderChek Test and for processes for the NMP22 Test Kit and we demonstrate to the FDA that additional
suppliers are equivalent to our current sources, we will be at risk of disruption of our product supply and may
be unable to meet our sales commitments to customers. Although we have executed a supply agreement with
Inverness Medical Innovations, Inc. (“Inverness”) for our NMP22 BladderChek Test and Inverness plans on
having multiple manufacturing locations qualified and available for the manufacture of this product, to date
the product is being manufactured at only one location and only one location has been qualified. We have not
yet obtained approval from the FDA to use a different manufacturing location. We may face delays in securing
FDA approval for use of an additional manufacturing location for the NMP22 BladderChek Test and we may
not be able to secure the necessary approval at all. In that event, we would expect that our product would
continue to be manufactured at the same location it has been for several years. While we attempt to maintain
an adequate level of inventory to provide for contingencies such as key product components becoming
unavailable or available in insufficient quantities, or an assembler failing to meet our requirements, our
inventory levels may not be adequate to meet our commitments for an extended period of time. We may be
forced to modify our products to enable another supplier or another manufacturing location to meet our
requirements or we may be required to cease production and sale of our products altogether if our existing
supply sources do not continue to provide sufficient quantities of product to us for whatever reason. Any
product modification or cessation of production and sale of our products would likely cause us to fail to
satisfy our sales commitments to customers.

{0} Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss} is comprised of net income {loss) and foreign currency translation
adjustments related to our German subsidiary.

(r) Stock-Based Compensation

We have four stock-based compensation plans which are described in Note 6 “Stock-based
Compensation”.

(q) Net Loss per Common Share

We compute earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Basic net loss per
common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as the effects of our potential dilutive common shares are anti-dilutive. Potential common stock
equivalents consist of stock options, warrants, restricted stock and restricted stock units, convertible preferred
stock and convertible notes. The number of anti-dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted
loss per share were 9,391,336, 19,576,067 and 31,283,626 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006, respectively. In January 2007, we entered into a purchase agreement pursuant to which we sold our
2007 Secured Convertible Notes (further described in Note 13, “Subsequent Event”). This transaction would
add approximately 11,709,703 shares to the number of anti-dilutive securities prior to the receipt of
stockholder approval of further issuances.
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(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS 123 and SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payment. These standards require
that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized in the
statemen: of operations based on their fair values. The adoption of these standards did have a material effect
on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. See Note 6, Stock-Based Compensation, in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, {“SFAS 1547),
which replaces Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3,
Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and changes the requirements for the:
accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principles. This Statement requires retrospective
application to prior periods’ financial statements of changes in accounting principles, unless it is impracticable
to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. The adoption of
SFAS 154 did not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In January 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, which amends Accounting Research
Bulletin {“ARB") No. 43 Chapter 4. This standard clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, Fandling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current period charges and
requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the
production facilities. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our financial position,
results of’ operations or cash flows.

In June 2006, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-03, How Taxes Collected from
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That /s,
Gross versus Net Presentation) (“EITF 06-037). EITF 06-03 provides that the presentation of taxes assessed by
a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a
customes on either a gross basis (included in revenues and costs) or on a net basis (excluded from revenues) is
an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed. The provisions of EITF 06-03 becomes effective as of
January [, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact EITF 06-03 could have on our financial position,
results ol operations or cash flows.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN™) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This interpretation prescribes new meihodology
by which a company must measure, report, present, and disclose in its financial statements the effects of any
uncertair. tax return reporting positions that we have taken or expect to take. The interpretation requires
financial statement reporting of the expected future tax consequences of uncertain tax return reporting
positions on the presumption that all relevant tax authorities possess full knowledge of the tax reporting
positions as well as all of the pertinent facts and circumstances, but it prohibits any discounting of these
effects for the time valve of money. In addition, the interpretation also mandates expanded financial statement
disclosure about uncertainty in tax reporting positions. The interpretation will become effective in the: first
quarter cf 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact FIN No. 48 could have on our financial position,
results o)’ operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (“SFAS 157" ). This
standard addresses how companies should measure fair value when they are required to use a fair value
measure for recognition or disclosure purposes under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). This
standard is effective for all financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, We
are currently evaluating the impact SFAS 157 could have on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatemeats when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, (“SAB 108”). This standard addresses
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quantifying the financial statement effect of misstatements, specifically, how the effects of prior year
uncorrected errors must be considered in quantifying misstatements in the current year financial statements.
This standard is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not
have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. EITF 00-19-2, Accounting for Registration
Payment Arrangements, (“FSP No. EITF 00-19-27), which addresses an issuer’s accounting for registration
payment arrangements. FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 specifies that the contingent obligation to make future
payments or otherwise transfer consideration under a registration payment arrangement, whether issued as a
separate agreement or included as a provisicn of a financial instrument or other agreement, should be
separately recognized and measured in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
The guidance in FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 amends FASB Statements No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, and No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, and FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, to include
scope exceptions for registration payment arrangements. FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 further clarifies that a financial
instrument subject to a registration payment arrangement should be accounted for in accordance with other
applicable generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) without regard to the contingent obligation to
transfer consideration pursuant to the registration payment arrangement. FSP No. EITF 00-19-2 shall be
effective immediately for registration payment arrangements and the financial instruments subject to those
arrangements that are entered into or modified subsequent to the date of issuance of FSP No. EITF 00-19-2.
For registration payment arrangements and financial instruments subject to those arrangements that were
entered into prior to the issuance of FSP No. EITF 00-19-2, this guidance shall be effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The adoption of this standard is expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

(2) Agreements

In March 2001, we entered into an eight-year, non-exclusive product supply and marketing agreement
with Diagnostic Products Corporation (*DPC”) enabling DPC to develop and market an automated version of
our NMP22 Test Kit. This agreement was terminated effective December 31, 2005. During the term of this
agreement, we received royalty payments which were recognized when earned based upon the receipt of data
from DPC supporting the amount of and basis for royalty payments to us.

In March 2002, we entered into a supply and distribution agreement with Medical and Biological
Laboratories Group of Nagoya, Japan (“MBL”} granting MBL the exclusive right in Japan to sell the NMP22
BladderChek Test. MBL is responsible for conducting clinical trials and securing the necessary regulatory
approvals in Japan and it received regulatory approval and commenced sales of the NMP22 BladderChek Test
during the summer of 2005. Under the terms of this agreement MBL paid us a non-refundable license fee
which is being recognized as revenue over the eight-year term of the agreement.

In October 2002, we entered into a distribution agreement with Cytogen Corporation (“Cytogen”),
granting Cytogen the exclusive right to market and sell the NMP22 BladderChek Test in the United States to
the urology and oncology marketplace. This agreement was amended in November 2003 to provide Cytogen a
non-exclusive right to sell NMP22 BladderChek Tests to urologists until December 31, 2003 and an exclusive
right to continue to sell NMP22 BladderChek Tests to oncologists through December 31, 2004. Under the
terms of the agreement, Cytogen paid a non-refundable license fee which was recognized as revenue over the
term of the agreement.

In November 2002, we entered into an exclusive license and supply agreement with Sysmex Corporation
(“Sysmex”), granting Sysmex the use of NMP179 technology for automated non-slide-based laboratory
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instruments. Under the terms of the agreement, Sysmex purchased shares of our common stock at a premium.
A premium of approximately $500,000 has been ascribed to the value of the license and is being recognized
as revenue over the fourteen-year term of the retated patents. This agreement also contains future royalty,
milestone and research and development payments. We will recognize any future milestone payments over the
remaininyg life of the related patents and will recognize future royalty payments when they are determinable.

In March 2003, we entered into a collaboration and commercialization agreement with Mitsubishi Kagaku
Iastron, Inc., a division of Mitsubishi Chemical (“MKI"), whereby they or their designees will serve us our
Japanese clinical laboratory partner for further validation of our NMP66 technology and pursuant to which we
and they may negotiate the terms for distribution rights for the Japanese market for products and services
incorporzting the NMP66 technology. Under the terms of this agreement, MKI paid Matritech an upfiont fee
and several milestone payments may become due in the future. These payments will be recognized over the
term of (1e agreement.

In November 2006, we executed a five-year distribution agreement with Inverness whereby we appointed
Inverness as our exclusive distributor for the non-prescription, OTC, sale of our NMP22 BladderChek: Test in
the United States. Under the distribution agreement, we agreed to secure all necessary regulatory approvals for
the mark>ting and sale of the NMP22 BladderChek Test in the non-prescription OTC market in the United
States and to be responsible for the conduct of necessary clinical trials and submission of all regulatory filings
with the FDA or elsewhere. Inverness agreed to pay the cost of clinical trials above a set floor amount and to
otherwise: cooperate with us in efforts to secure regulatory approval, We expect to collaborate with Inverness
in assessing the market opportunity, with a goal of submitting a regulatory filing seeking FDA approval to
distribute: and sell the test as a non-prescription or OTC test. Inverness’ commencement of distribution of the
test in th2 OTC market is subject to receipt of FDA approval and there is no guarantee that clinical tials we
conduct ‘will support a non-prescription, OTC use of the NMP22 BladderChek Test, that we will be able to
secure FIDA approval for sale in that market or that Inverness will ever commence sale of the NMP22
BladderChek Test in that market.

(3) Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table sets forth activity in our accounts receivable reserve account:

Balance at Balance at
Beginning of  Provision Charged Erd of
Year To Income Write-offs Year
2004 .. e 23,591 61,532 — 84,123
2005 .. 85,123 66,609 71,673 110,059
2005 .. e 110,059 56,099 14,115 152,043
The following table sets forth activity in our valuation allowance against deferred tax assets account:
Ralance at Balarce at
Beginning of End of
Year Additions Deductions Year
2004 ... 31,704,000 3,228,000 — 34,932,000
2005 ... 34,932,000 1,209,000 — 36,141,000
2000 ... e 36,141,000 2,305,000 — 38,446,000

(4) Cemmitments and Contingencies

In 2004, we extended our lease agreement for our corporate headquarters in Newton, Massachusetts, The
lease expires on December 31, 2010, with the right to renew for an additional five-year period at the then
market rate,
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In 2005, we entered into a new lease agreement for our office in Freiburg, Germany. This lease
commenced in January 2006 and continues through January 2011 with the right to renew for an additional
five-year period.

In 2005 and 2006, we entered into capital lease agreements, totaling approximately $5,800 and $51,000,
respectively, to provide us with office equipment. The lease terms are three years. Capital lease obligations are
recorded as notes payable in our balance sheet.

We lease office and laboratory facilities and certain equipment under operating and capital leases that
expire through 2011. Total commitments are due as follows:

Operating Lease  Capital Lease

2007 . e e e e $ 604,000 $24,000
2008 L e e e e 568,000 - 24,000
2000 . e e e e 532,000 8,000
2000 . e e 508,000 —
1 P 17,000 —
Thereafter . ... ... ... ... e — —
Total . . . e $2,229.000 $56,000

Rent expense, including facility and equipment rentals, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006 was approximately $601,000, $592,000 and $631,000, respectively.

On November 3, 2006, we executed a supply agreement with Inverness, which contains purchase
commitments totaling approximately $1,684,000 over the next two years.

In December 2003, a third party complaint was filed against us by the lessor of the property we occupy
in Newton, Massachusetts in a suit brought against the lessor by a former employee of ours. The action was
filed in Middlesex County Superior Court, Massachusetts under the caption Kira Shapiro et al v. Francis Biotti
as Trustee of One Nevada Street Realty Trust, Civil Action No. (02-05439. In the underlying action, the
plaintiff sought damages for personal injuries allegedly sustained as a result of the negligence of the lessor in
maintaining the interior of the leased premises. Our lessor sought reimbursement from us for any amounts for
which he may be held liable. The plaintiffs’ action was dismissed by the court on January 25, 2005, and a
stipulation of dismissal covering the third party claims against us was filed with the court on January 28,
2005. These dismissals concluded the case.

Guarantees

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors
for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such
capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these
indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we have a director and officer insurance policy that may
enable us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of our insurance policy coverage, we
believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal,

We enter into standard indemnification agreements in our ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these
agreements, we indemnify, hold harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party, generally our business partners or customers, in connection with any
U.S. patent or any copyright or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect
to our products. The terms of these indemnification agreements vary. The maximum potential amount of future
payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. We have never
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incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. As a result, we
believe the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal.

Intellectual Property Rights

Our NMP22 BladderChek Test is a point-of-care device which may infringe the intellectual property
rights of third parties. In August 2004, we entered into a license agreement, effective as of April 1, 2004, with
one holder of such patent rights, Abbott Laboratories. On November 3, 2006, we executed a supply agreement
with Inverness, which holds substantial patent rights in the lateral flow area covering the professional field,
which includes licensed health care providers and diagnostic laboratories. As part of this agreement, we have
secured protection from claims by Inverness of infringement of its lateral flow patent rights for products we
purchase from Inverness and resell in the professional field. Inverness has also agreed not to sue us, our
resellers, distributors and end-customers for infringement of these lateral flow patent rights for products sold
prior to November 3, 2006. We do not expect our future profit margins to be significantly affected by this new
supply azreement. We may need to secure additional licenses or other similar rights to lateral flow technology
in the United States or elsewhere. If we are required to obtain additional licenses, we can not currenily
estimate the extent of any liabilities we may incur or whether future profit margins will be significantly
affected by the arrangements we may negotiate.

Licene Agreements
a. MIT License Agreement

MI7” has granted us a worldwide exclusive license to certain technology, which was extended waen we
obtained FDA approval of our first cancer diagnostic product in 1996, until the expiration of all patent rights.
Pursuant to the license agreement, we pay royalties on the sales of products incorporating the licensed
technology. We paid $76,638, $163,770 and $200,425 in royalties in the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005 andl 2006, respectively. The majority of these license rights expired at the end of 2006.

b. Hybritech License Agreement

In August 1994, we entered into a non-exclusive license agreement with Hybritech, Inc. for the
manufac:ure and sale of certain patented technology for immunometric assays using menoclonal antibodies.
We are required to pay a royalty equal to 8% of net sales of licensed products subject to the license in
countries. where Hybritech, Inc. has a valid patent in effect. The last Hybritech, Inc. patent expires in 2008.
We paid $2,976, $0 and 50 in royalties in the years ending December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively.

¢.  Abbott Laboratories License Agreement

In August 2004, we entered into a sublicense agreement with Abbott Laboratories, effective as of April 1,
2004, to license certain United States and foreign patent rights covering our BladderChek Test point-of-care
product. We paid $227,538, $363,721 and $427,026 in royalties in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005
and 2000, respectively.

(5) Stackholders’ Equity

In March 2003, we sold $5 million of 7.5% Convertible Debentures (“the Convertible Debentures’™) and
Warrants (the “March 2003 Warrants”) to purchase 784,314 shares of common stock (including a warrant for
08,039 saares issued to a placement agent in connection with the transaction) at an initial exercise price of
$2.278 per share. (See Note 7, “Convertible Debentures, 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and Notes Payable”).
We repaid both the principal and interest due on the Convertible Debentures in shares of our commena stock
over a period of years, with the final payment made on March 31, 2006. Although the initial conversion price
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was $2.278 per share, that conversion price was adjusted on four occasions, at the time of financing
transactions completed in Fall 2003, March 2004, March 2005 and January 2006, as a result of the anti-
dilution protection provisions of the Convertible Debentures. By the time of the final anti-dilution adjustment
prior to the March 2006 final payment, the conversion price had been reduced to $0.73 per share. The March
2003 Warrants remain outstanding and have had their exercise prices reduced on the same four occasions, so
that the current exercise price is $0.65 per share. Although no adjustment was made in the exercise price of
these warrants as a result of the January 2007 sate of Secured Convertible Notes, future dilutive issuances
could resutt in further reduction of the exercise price.

In Fall 2003, we sold an aggregate of 3,893,295 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.67 and five
year warrants to purchase 1,362,651 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.45 per share for an aggregate
consideration of $6,501,802. The warrants did not contain any anti-dilution adjustment provisions. The values
of the warrants and common stock in excess of par value have been reflected in additional paid-in-capital.

In March 2004, we sold 4,858,887 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.35 and five year warrants
to purchase 1,214,725 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.00 per share for aggregate consideration of
$6,559,500. The warrants did not contain any anti-dilution adjustment provisions. The values of the warrants
and common stock in excess of par value have been reflected in additional paid-in-capital.

In March 2005, we entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement’) which provided for
the sale of an aggregate of 1,426,124 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock and the issuance to the investors
of warrants to purchase 4,991,434 shares of our common stock at a price of $1.47 per share (the “March 2005
Purchaser Warrants™). The Purchase Agreement provided for two closings (the “First Closing” and the “Second
Closing™) because we could not issue all shares of the Series A Preferred Stock that we agreed to sell without
obtaining stockholder approval because the resulting conversion shares would exceed 20% of our outstanding
common stock. On March 4, 2005, we completed the First Closing which consisted of 670,272 shares of
Series A Preferred Stock and all of the March 2005 Warrants for aggregate consideration of $5,898,394
(before cash commissions and expenses of approximately $610,000). In addition, we issued warrants to a
placement agent for a total of 656,920 shares of common stock. Both the March 2005 Purchaser Warrants and
the placement agent warrants (collectively the “March 2005 Warrants”) had an initial exercise price of
$1.47 per share, became exercisable on September 5, 2005 and expire on March 4, 2010. On June 20, 2005,
we entered into a Mutual Termination and Release Agreement with the investors who were parties to the
Purchase Agreement to terminate the obligations of all parties to consummate and complete the Second
Closing. Accordingly, no additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock or warrants to purchase shares of our
common stock were or will be issued in this private placement.

The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to a liquidation preference and have the benefit of
covenants by us not to liquidate, merge, sell control or substantially all our assets, or amend the charter in any
way adverse o the holders. We are obligated not to issue other capital stock that would be senior to or on a
parity with the Series A Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation, not to have indebtedness in
excess of $12,000,000 except in limited forms, and not to enter into or consummate a transaction which would
result in the holders of all the voting power of our outstanding capital stock having less than a majority of
voting power of a surviving entity after a merger, consolidation, share exchange or sale. Some of the holders
of the Series A Preferred Stock held now expired rights to participate in subsequent financings completed on
or before December 20, 2006. We are further required to reserve sufficient shares of common stock for
issuance of all shares issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Conversion Shares™) and
the exercise of the March 2005 Warrants and to use commercially reasonable efforts to continue the listing
and trading of such common shares with AMEX or another national stock exchange or stock market. The
holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to 6.56 votes for each share of Series A Preferred Stock held
by them. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together with the holders of common stock,
except when our Certificate of Designations or Delaware law provide for a separate class vote.
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Each share of Series A Preferred Stock was initially convertible into ten shares of our common stock.
Both the Series A Preferred Stock and the March 2005 Warrants have anti-dilution protection provisions. This
means that if we issue any shares (subject to limited exceptions) at a price that is less than the initial
conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock ($0.88 per common stock share) in the case of the Series A
Preferrec! Stock or less than the initial exercise price ($1.47 per common stock shares) in the case of the
March 2303 Warrants (a2 “Dilutive Issuance”), the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock ot the
exercise price of the March 2005 Warrants, as applicable, will be adjusted downwards. There is a floor on the
new conversion price and the new exercise price that could result from a Dilutive Issuance, in the case of the
Series A Preferred Stock the conversion price floor is $0.70 and in the case of the Warrants, the floor on the
exercise price floor is $1.34. Our January 2006 financing was deemed to be a Dilutive Issuance resulting in an
adjustment of the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock to $0.70 per share and an adjustment in the
exercise price of the March 2005 Warrants to $1.34 per share. At the time of this Dilutive Issuance, there were
569,251 shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding and an additional 1,463,788 shares of our common
stock were reserved for conversion at the new conversion price. Because our stockholders did not approve a
proposal which would have removed the floor on conversion and exercise prices for the Series A Preferred
Stock and March 2005 Warrants, there will be no further adjustment to these conversion or exercise prices.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, 487,852 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted
into common stock. At December 31, 2006, 81,399 shares of Series A Preferred Stock remained outstanding,
which shares are convertible into 1,023,301 shares of our Common Stock.

The net cash proceeds of $5,288,000 from the First Closing, further reduced by the fair value of the
placement agent warrants totaling $562,000, were allocated between the Series A Preferred Stock (approx-
imately :$844,000) and the 2005 Warrants (approximately $3,881,000). The value of the 2005 Warrants was
calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of ero
percent; expected volatility of 85%; risk free interest rate of approximately 4% and a term of five years.

In connection with the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, we recorded a beneficial conversion
feature cf $1,627,000. A beneficial conversion feature is recorded when the consideration allocated to the
convertible security, divided by the number of common shares into which the security converts, is below the
fair valuz of the common stock into which the Series A Preferred Stock can convert at the date of issuance.
The amcunt of the beneficial conversion feature has been immediately accreted as a deemed dividend because
the preferred stock is immediately convertible. The value of the beneficial conversion feature has been
reflected as an adjustment to the net loss attributable to common shareholders on our Consolidated Statements
of Operztions.

As art of the March 2005 private placement, we entered into a Registration Rights Agreement
committing to timely file a registration statement covering the resale of the conversion shares into which the
Series A Preferred Stock may be converted and the shares for which the 2005 Warrants may be exercised (the
“Warranr: Shares”). If we failed to timely file a registration statement, if the registration statement was not
declared effective within certain time limits or if the registration statement does not remain effective, we
would b obligated to pay liquidated damages in an amount equal to 1.5% of the consideration paid for the
Series A Preferred Stock for each thirty day period during which the failure persists. In accordance with EITF
Issue Nc. 00-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed To, and Potentially Settled in a
Company’s Own Stock, (“EITF 00-19"), a transaction which includes a potential for net cash settlement,
including; liquidated damages, of a derivative instrument, including warrants, requires that such derivative
financial instruments be recorded at fair value as a liability and that subsequent changes in fair value be
reflected in the statement of operations. We concluded that the Registration Rights Agreement liquidited
damages provision applicable to the Warrant Shares met the definition of net cash settlement under EITF 00-19.
In accordance with EITF ()-19, the fair value of the warrants of $4,271,000 was accounted for as a liability at
March 4. 2005, the date of the First Closing, and the subsequent changes in the fair value of the 2005
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Warrants were reflected on our Consolidated Statement of Operations as mark-to-market warrant adjustments.
Transaction costs of $390,000 were allocated to the warrants and expensed upon closing of the transaction,
offsetting subsequent mark-to-market warrant adjustments.

On April 18, 2003, we amended the Registration Rights Agreement to eliminate any obligation to pay
liquidated damages with respect to a failure to maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement covering
resale of the Warrant Shares. On May 9, 2005 the registration statement covering resale of the Warrant Shares
became effective and the 2005 Warrants were reclassified as equity because there is no future potential for a
net cash seitlement with regard to the 2005 Warrants. The resulting mark-to-market adjustments (approxi-
mately $1,900,000) and the reclassification of the 2005 Warrants as equity are preseated in our financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2005.

This sale has been deemed to be a dilutive issuance under the terms of our Convertible Debentures and
our March 2003 Warrants. As a result, as of March 4, 2005, the Convertible Debentures became exercisable
into 2,525,253 shares of our common stock at a price of $.99 per share, representing a current increase of
869,623 shares from the conversion terms of the Convertible Debentures at December 31, 2004, and the March
2003 Warrants became exercisable to purchase shares of our common stock at a price of $0.88 per share. We
have calculated an additional debt discount in the first quarter of 2005 of approximately $442,000 based on
the beneficial conversion feature of this debenture. This charge is being amortized as interest expense over the
remaining life of the Convertible Debentures.

A rollforward of warrant activity for 2005 is as follows:

Balance
Balance December 31,

January 1, 2005 Additions Subtractions 2005 Expiration Date Exercise Price
200,600 {200,000) - July 2005 $2.50
222,077 (222,071 — December 2005 $2.30
784,314 784,314 March 2008 $0.88

1,257,861 1,257,861 October 2008 $2.45
61,377 . 61,377 October 2008 $51.67
359,390 359,390 October 2008 $1.84
125,786 125,786 October 2008 $2.70
104,790 104,790 November 2008 $2.45
1,649,200 1,649,200 March 2009 $2.00
— 5,648,354 5,648,354 March 2010 5147
4,764,795 5,648,354 (422,077) 9,991,072
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A rollforward of warrant activity for 2006 is as follows:

Balance Deq]:?.e?'tl:ﬂcreiil,
Januury 1, 2006 Additions Subtractions 2006 Expiration Date Exercise Price
784,314 784,314 March 2008 $0.65
1,257,861 1,257,861 October 2008 $2.45
61,377 (61,371 — October 2008 $0.67
159.390 359,390 October 2008 $1.84
125,786 125,786 October 2008 $2.70
104,790 104,790 November 2008 $2.45
1,649,200 1,649,200 March 2009 $0.65 - 2.00
5,648,354 5,648,354 March 2010 $1.34
_ — 7,496,264 7,496,264 January 2011 $0.65 - 67
,691,072 7,496,264 {61,377) 17,425,959

See Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Subsequent Event” for further vvarrants
issued in January 2007 and the reduction in exercise price for other previously issued warrants.

(6) Stock-based Compensation
Stock Incentive Plans

In June 2006, our stockholders approved the 2006 Equity and Incentive Plan under which 4,000,000 shares
are authorized, but no equity-based awards have been made under the plan. In September 2006, we amended
the 2006 Zquity and Incentive Plan and the 2002 stock option and incentive plan to require adjustment of
outstanding options and awards in the event of stock splits, recapitalizations, mergers or similar transactions.
We have jranted incentive and nonqualified options under our 1992 stock plan and 2002 stock option and
incentive plan and the 1992 and 2002 Directors’ plans. The total shares authorized under the 1992 stock plan
and the 1992 Directors’ plan are 5,000,000 and 465,000 shares, respectively. There are no shares available for
issuance ¢t December 31, 2006 under either the 1992 stock plan or the 1992 Directors’ plan. The total shares
authorized under the 2002 stock option and incentive plan and the 2002 Directors’ plan are 2,000,000 and
965,000 shares, respectively. The total shares available for issuance at December 31, 2006 under the 2002
stock option and incentive plan and the 2002 Directors’ plan are 213,789 and 685,000 shares, respectively. All
option grents, prices and vesting periods are determined by the Board of Directors. Incentive stock options
must be granted at a price not less than the fair market value on the date of grant. Options vest at various rates
over pericds of up to four years and all options issued prior to mid-February 2005 expire ten years frcm the
date of grant. In February 2003, the form of option agreement for grants under the 2002 stock option and
incentive plan was changed to reduce the option term to seven years. The exercise price of incentive stock
options granted to an option holder who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of the
outstandirg capital stock must be at least equal to 110% of the fair market value of the common stock: on the
date of grant. Our policy for issuing shares of stock related to the exercise of stock options is to have the
option holder pay the full exercise price of the stock option and in return we issue shares of stock directly to
the option holder.

We have granted restricted stock under our 2002 stock option and incentive plan in 2006. All restricted
stock grarts and vesting periods are determined by the Board of Directors. Restricted stock granted in 2006
vests over a period of four years for grants with time-based vesting, three years for bonus awards with time-
based vesling and approximately two years for grants with performance-based vesting. Compensation cost is
calculated using the number of awards that we expect to vest and is adjusted to include those awards that
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ultimately do vest. Performance-based restricted stock vests upon the achievement of pre-established operating
result targets associated with the 2007 fiscal year. Compensation cost is recorded for these awards based on
the assessment of the likelihood of achieving the performance targets, net of an estimate of pre-vesting
forfeitures. We reassess the likelihood of vesting at each reporting period and adjust compensation cost as
appropriate.

In December, 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of
vesting of approximately 574,000 unvested stock options granted between January 2002 and December 2004
to employees of the Company. These optiens had exercise prices greater than the market value of our stock at
that time. The exercise price and number of shares underlying each affected stock option were unchanged. The
acceleration of these options was primarily done in connection with cur impending adoption of SFAS 123R
effective January 1, 2006 in order to avoid the recognition of compensation expense in 2006 and thereafter
with respect to the vesting of these options. As a result of this acceleration, we will not be required to
recognize share-based compensation, net of related tax effects, of $450,000 in future years, based on valuation
calculations using the Black-Scholes methodology. Total 2005 stock-based compensation expense under
SFAS 123 would have been approximately $1,102,000 including approximately $450,000 of expense as a
result of the acceleration of the 574,000 unvested options in December 2005.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisiens of SFAS 123R, which establishes accounting for
equity instruments exchanged for employee services. Under the provisions of SFAS 123R, share-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is
recognized as an expense over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the
equity grant). Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based compensation to employees in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations.
We also followed the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148 (“SFAS 1438”),
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure. We elected to adopt the modified
prospective transition method as provided by SFAS 123R and, accordingly, financial statement amounts for the
prior periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have not been restated to reflect the fair value
method of expensing share-based compensation. The impact of complying with SFAS 123R on earnings per
share for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.004 per common share.

The effect of recording stock-based compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2006 was as follows:

Cost of Product SAlES . . ...ttt e e e $§ 9,565
Research & development and clinical & regulatory expense. . . ..............vun. .- 30,527
Selling, general and administrative eXpense. . .. .......... .. ... i 175,589
Stock-based compensation expense included inmetloss. . ........................ $215,681

Effect on earnings per share:
Basicand diluted . . .. .. ... ... .. e $ 0.004

There was no stock-based compensation expense recorded in our consolidated statement of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005. There was no capitalized stock-based employee compensation
cost as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. There was no recognized tax benefits during the
year ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
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We liad previously adopted the provisions of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, through disclosure

only. The following table illustrates the effects on net loss and loss per share if we had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to share-based employee awards.

2004 2005

Net loss attributable to common shareholders . . .. .. ... ......... $(11,123,155) § (9.492,195)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under fair value based method for all awards. ... . ... (701,434) (1,102,437)
Pro forma net loss attributable to common shareholders ... ... .. .. $(11,824,589) $(10,594.,632)
Net loss attributable to common shareholders per common share:
Basic and diluted —asreported . . ... ... .. .. ... ... $ 027 $ 10.21)
Basic and diluted —proforma. ... ......... .. ... . ... 3 (0.29) $ i0.24)

We cstimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Key input
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options include the exercise price of the award, the
expected option term, the expected volatility of our stock over the option’s expected term, the risk-free interest
rate over the option’s expected term, and our expected annual dividend yield. We believe that the valuation
technique: and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions are appropriate choices from the
permitted allernatives in calculating the fair values of the Company’s stock options. Estimates of fair value are
not intenied to predict actual future events or the value uitimately realized by persons who receive equity
awards.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing miodel with the following assumptions:

2004 2005 20006
Risk-free interestrate(1) . .. ................... 3.74-469% 3.61-434% 458-487%
Exp:cted dividend yield . ..................... — —
Expactedlife .......... . ... i i, 5 years 5 years 4.75 years(2)
Expzcted volatility(3) .. .......... ... ... ... .. 85% 68% - 85% 68%

(1) The :isk-free interest rate for periods equal to the expected term of the share option is based on the
U.S. Treasury bond yield in effect at the time of grant.

(2) In 2006 the option term was calculated using the simplified method for estimating expected opticn life, in
accordance with SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payment (“SAB 107").

(3) The stock volatility for each grant is an estimate of volatility we expect to experience over the term of the
opticn. Historical weekly price changes of our common stock over the most recent period equal 1o the
expe:ted option term play an important role in such estimates. Such estimates have been and may continue
to be adjusted for stock market activity.

Weighted-average Exercise Price and Fair Values of Options on the Date of Grant 2004 2005 2006
EXercise PriCe . ..ottt e e e $1.46 $0.88 30.87
Fair value .. ... . e e e $0.85 3058 3051

The total grant date fair value of options vested in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006
was $69'7,977, $1,377,754 and $118,711, respectively.
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The following table summarized stock option activity:

Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per

Number of Options Share

Options outstanding, December 31,2003 . ................ 2,528,472 $3.36
Granted . ... . e e e 594,112 1.46
Exercised . . ... ... . e e (100,000) 0.84
Terminated . . .. ... ... ... (433,738) 2.04
Options outstanding, December 31,2004 . ... ............. 2,588,846 3.24
Granted ... ... e e 609,486 0.88
Exercised . ... ... — —
Terminated . . . ..., ... . . . e (82,748) 1.80
Options outstanding, December 31,2005. ... ............. 3,115,584 2.82
Granted ... .. .. e e 352,900 0.87
Exercised . ........ ... i e —_ _
Terminated;

—Cancellation . . .. .......... ... ... . . . (64,007) 1.69

— oI eitures . ... e e e (53,803) 0.81

—Expiration . ......... .0 e (402,907) 8.16
Options outstanding, December 31,2006................. 2,947,767 $1.92
Options exercisable, December 31,2006 ................. 2,264,782 $2.23
Options exercisable, December 31,2005 . ................ 2,523,431 $3.27
Options exercisable, December 31,2004 ... .............. 1,549,173 $4.15

The weighted average remaining contractual life for stock options outstanding and fully vested stock
options at December 31, 2006 was 5.74 years and 5.35 years, respectively. The total intrinsic value, which is
the difference between the exercise price and sale price of our common stock on the date of sale, of stock
option exercised during the year ended December 31, 2004 was $25,349. There were no options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. As of December 31, 2006 the total intrinsic value, which
is the difference between the exercise price and closing price of our common stock as of December 31, 2006,
of stock options outstanding and fully vested stock options was $1,439 and $374, respectively.

Information about outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31, 2006 is as follows.
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Options Outstanding

VX‘e{igrl;tgced Options Exercisable

Remaining Weighted Weighted

Contractual Average Average

Number Life Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding (in Years) Price Exercisable _ Price
$055-3084. ... ... ..., 280,325 5.95 $0.73 64,625 $0.08
085- L16.... ... ... ... ... 654,215 7.32 $0.96 199,430 $0.98
1.17- 200.............. ... 598,802 6.56 $1.53 588,802 $1.54
201- 285 . ... .. 1,061,494 498 $2.3] 1,058,994 $2.31
286- 434, ... L 280,606 4.02 $3.38 280,606 $3.38
435- 669, ...... ... ... ... 42,325 2.84 $6.28 42,325 $6.28
670 - 1063.............. ..., 30,000 0.45 $8.06 30,000 $8.06
Total .......... ... ...... 2,947,767 5.74 $1.92 2,264,782 $2.23

The following table summarizes the status of our outstanding unvested options for the year ended
December 31, 2006:

Weighted

Number of Average Fair

Shares Value
Unvested at December 31, 2005 .. ... .. i e e 592,153 $0.60
Gramted .. v e e e e e e 352,900 0.51
Vet . . e e e e e e e e e (208,265) 0.57
Cancelled. . ... . e e e e — -—
Forfited ... ... e e e e (53,803) 0.51
Expited ... ... e — -—
Unvested at December 31,2006 . .. ... o i i e 682,985 0.57

As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $186,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to unvested stock options granted under our stock plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted. average period of 1.56 years.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity under all of our stock plans for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is summarized as follows:

Number of

Shares Units
Outstanding at December 31,2005 . . .. ... ... e —
Gratted . .. .. e e e e e 483,345
Forfeitures . . ... ... o e (8,993)
Outstanding at December 31,2006 . .. .. ... ... .. .. . e 474,352
Vested restricted stock and restricted stock units at December 31,2006 . ............ —
Weizhted average fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units granted in

206 . . e e e e $ 079
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The aggregate value of outstanding restricted stock and restricted stock units as of December 31, 2006
was approximately $318,000. No restricted shares or units vested during the year ended December 31, 2006.

As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $78,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to restricted stock and restricted stock units granted under our stock plans. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.49 years. In calculating unrecognized compensation cost we
apply estimated forfeiture rates to the awards. We also use an assessment of the likelihood of achieving the
performance targets when we calculate compensation cost for the performance-based awards. These two
factors substantially reduced the unrecognized compensation cost of these awards.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
At December 31, 2004, we had accumulated payroll deductions of $6,226 for the issuance of 6,226 shares

of common stock which were issued to employees under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under this plan
stock is sold at 85% of fair market value, as defined. Effective June 30, 2005, we terminated this plan.

Reserved Shares

As of December 31, 2006 the following shares of common stock were reserved and available for future

issuance:
Stockoption plans. . . ... .. . 7,906,465
Exercise of warrants outstanding . . ... ... ... L e 18,056,959
Stock reserved for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. . . ...................... 16,249,580
Stock reserved for preferred stock conversions ... ... . L L 1,023,301

43,236,305

The table above includes additional shares for warrant exercise and note conversions which we are
required to reserve and keep available under the terms of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and
accompanying warrants.

(7) Convertible Debentures, 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and Notes Payable
Convertible Debentures Issued March 2003

In March 2003, we sold $5 million of 7.5% Convertible Debentures (“the Convertible Debentures™) and
Warrants (the “March 2003 Warrants™) to purchase 784,314 shares of common stock (including a warrant for
08,039 shares issued to a placement agent in connection with the transaction) at an initial exercise price of
$2.278 per share., We repaid both the principal and interest due on the Convertible Debentures in shares of our
common stock over a period of years, with the final payment made on March 31, 2006. Although the initial
conversion price was $2.278 per share, that conversion price was adjusted on four occasions, at the time of
financing transactions completed in Fall 2003, March 2004, March 2005 and January 2006, as a result of the
anti-dilution protection provisions of the Convertible Debentures. By the time of the final anti-dilution
adjustment prior to the March 2006 final payment, the conversion price had been reduced to $0.73 per share.
The March 2003 Warrants remain outsianding and have had their exercise prices reduced on the same four
occasions, so that the current exercise price is $0.65 per share. Although no adjustment was made in the
exercise price of these warrants as a result of the January 2007 sale of Secured Convertible Notes, future
dilutive issuances could result in further reduction of the exercise price.

The proceeds of $5 million, less closing costs, were allocated between the Convertible Debentures
(approximately $3,450,000) and the warrants (approximately $950,000) based on their relative fair values. The
value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:
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dividend vield of zero percent; expected volatility of 110%; risk free interest rate of approximately 3% and a
term of five years. The initial carrying value of the Convertible Debentures is being accreted ratably, over the
term of the notes, to the $5 million amount due at maturity using the effective interest method. Total closing
costs were approximately $600,000 and included a warrant issued to the placement agent valued at
approximately $162,000 using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the same assumptions as the warrants
above. The closing costs were allocated between the debenture and the warrants resulting in $475,000 beinyg
ascribed 10 the debenture as deferred offering costs and such costs included $132,000 related to the placement
agent warrant. In addition, the difference between the effective conversion price of the debentures into
common stock and the fair value of our common stock on the date of issuance of the debentures resulted in a
beneficial conversion feature totaling approximately $199,000, which was calculated in accordance with EITF
00-27, Application of Issue No. 98-5 10 Certain Convertible Instruments. This beneficial conversion feature
was recorded as a debt discount and ts being amortized using the effective interest rate over the life of the
debenture.

A summary of the Convertible Debentures accounting is as follows:

Proceeds at closing in March 2003 ... ... ... .. ... . $ 5,000,000
Less:
Fuir value ascribed to the warrants and recorded as debt discount. . .. ... ........ (950,000)
Fair value ascribed to placement agent warrant and recorded as debt discount. . .. .. {131,000}
Bi:neficial conversion feature calculated on date of closing and recorded as debt
QIS OUNL . . . e e {199,000}
Additional beneficial conversion feature recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003 as
debt discount .. ... . ... e (1,497,000)
Additional beneficial conversion feature recorded in the first quarter of 2004 as debt
QIsCOUNt . . e e (1,33%,000)
Additional beneficial conversion feature recorded in the first quarter of 2005 as debt
QISCOUNT . oL e e e (442.,000)
Cuamulative principal payments made in stock .. ............... ... .. ....... (5,000,000)
Add back:
Camulative amortization of debt discount and beneficial conversion features . ... .. 4,556,000
Balance, December 31, 2006 . ... ... ... .. $ —

The debt discount has been amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the
term of the Convertible Debentures. These Convertible Debentures were fully repaid as of March 31, 2006.
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, $2,150,000, $1,630,000 and $134,000, respectively,
representing amortization of these costs is included in interest expense.

Debt issuance costs attributable to the Convertible Debentures, which totaled approximately $475,000,
had been capitalized as other assets and other current assets on the condensed balance sheet and were
amortized based on the effective interest method over the term of the debenture, For the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, $210,000, $112,000 and $7,000, respectively representing amortization of
these costs is included in interest expense. As of December 31, 2005 unamortized debt issuance costs totaled
$7.000 and are included in other current assets. As of December 31, 2006, unamortized debt issuance costs
totaled 3$i).

The 2004, 2005 and 2006 quarterly interest payments under the Convertible Debentures, totaling
$309,000, $151,000 and $12,000 respectively, were made in stock and the monthly principal repayments of
$192,000 each commencing in March 2004 (totaling $1,920,000, $2.308,000 and $769,000 at December 31,
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2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively) were made in stock. Common stock issued during the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006 was 3,467,029 and 1,231,254, respectively.

2006 Secured Convertible Notes Issued January 2006

On January 13, 2006, we entered into a purchase agreement and related documents, pursuant to which we
sold the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes originally maturing January 13, 2009, which were initially
convertible into 10,766,092 shares of our common stock, and accompanying warrants (the “Purchaser
Warrants™) to purchase up to 6,459,655 shares of our commaon stock, for an aggregate consideration of
$6,997,960 (before cash commission and expenses of approximately $748,000). The 2006 Secured Convertible
Notes had an initial conversion price of $0.65 per share of common stock. The Purchaser Warrants, which
became exercisable on July 14, 2006 and expire on January {3, 2011, had an initial exercise price of $0.67 per
share. We also issued warrants to two placement agents with the same exercisability period as the Purchaser
Warrants, to purchase up to 1,036,609 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.65 per share
(coliectively with the Purchaser Warrants, the “2006 Warrants”). Both the conversion price and the exercise
price are subject to adjustment in the event of subsequent dilutive issuances, although certain floors existed
until after our stockholders approved proposals to remove those floors at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders
held June 9, 2006.

The 2006 Secured Convertible Notes initially allowed for payment of both principal and interest in shares |
of our common stock, so long as we satisfied certain conditions. The effective conversion price for payments |
to be made in stock is the lower of the then conversion price, initially $0.65, or 85% of the 10 day volume
weighted average price of common stock (the “10-day VWAP”)} on AMEX at the time any payment is due. No !
payments were due on the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes prior to January 2007, when interest became due 1
for the period from January 13, 2006 to January 13, 2007. Thereafter, interest is payable quarterly. in arrears, |
and principal payments are due monthly beginning January 2007 in an amount equal to 1/24 of the initial ‘
amount of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, or $291,582, but monthly principal payments will be lower
than that figure beginning in March 2007 as a result of optional conversions various note holders undertook in |
2006. The total amount of optional conversions in 2006 was $880,000 in principal and $43,648 in interest, all ‘

' of which we paid in stock at the $0.65 per share conversion price, issuing an aggregate of 1,420,993 shares of |
' common stock for this purpose. If we choose to prepay the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, in whole or in \
part, there will be a 15% prepayment premium due.
|
|

i The original terms of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes required us to meet certain conditions in order

| to make interest and principal payments in shares of common stock instead of cash. Those original conditions

were (i) one or more registration statements is effective and available for the resale of the shares required 1o

be registered by the terms of a Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the January

2006 financing; (ii) the shares of our common stock are designated for quotation or listed on the Nasdaq

Capital Market, Nasdaq Global Market or AMEX and have not been suspended from trading on any of such |
exchanges or markets and no written notice of delisting by any of such exchanges or markets have been
received and not resolved; (iii} issuance of the shares will not result in a Secured Convertible Note holder and
its affiliates owning more than 9.99% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, unless waived by the
holder; (iv) the number of shares to be issued to all holders on a specific payment date shall not exceed 10%
of the trading volume (as reported by Bloomberg) of our common stock for the period of 20 consecutive
trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date; (v) our common stock is not
selling at a price below $0.50 per share; (vi) the current price per share of the common stock delivered in
payment is equal to or greater than $0.61, or we receive stockholder approval to allow issuances below that
price; (vii) prior to receipt of that stockholder approval, the 10-day VWAP of our common stock is equal to or |
greater than the then-effective conversion price; and (viii) we have not issued any notice relating to the :
redemption of any warrant(s) during the 30 day period immediately prior to the payment date. Prior to the first

payment due date of January 13, 2007, we entered into an agreement with the holders of a majority of the
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outstanding principal value of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to permit us to make the January 2007
payment i shares of common stock without regard to the volume trading limitations set out in clause (iv)
above. Subsequently, on January 22, 2007, we entered into an agreement with the holders of a majority of the
outstanding principal value of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes 10 amend the conditions to payment in
shares and deleted clauses (ii), (iv}), (vi) and (vii} and changed clause (v} to a floor price of $0.40 per share.
The January 22, 2007 agreement also changed the maturity date of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to
December 13, 2007. The monthly principal payments scheduled in 2007 are $291,582 in January and February
2007, $272,082 in March 2007 and, assuming no further optional conversions in 2007, $270,748 from April
2007 to November 2007 until a Jump sum payment of $3,089,729 is made on December 13, 2007. All accrued
interest from 2006 will be paid in January 2007 and thereafter, the quarterly payments of interest will be made
in April, July, October, and December 2007.

Whil= the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we have restrictions on incurring additional
indebtedness (other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of receivables and equipment purchase or
lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restrictions on paying cash dividends and redeeming
securities. Our obligations under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes are secured by first priority liens against
certain assets related to our NMP22 product line. The security interest covers cell lines, equipment, inventory
and general intangibles related to the NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds from the sale of the product
line. We clso entered into a contingent license agreement with a collateral agent, SDS Capital Group $PC,
Ltd., granting license rights in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents related to the
NMP22 products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the NMP22 product
line, and license rights to trademarks vsed exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product line.

The 2006 Secured Convertible Notes require us to pay interest and liquidated damages and may become
immediatcly due and payable in cash at a premium of 120% of the owtstanding principal amount plus accrued
interest and damages in the event we default under their terms. Potentia! defaults would include, among other
things:

* ou: failure to make payments as they become due;
* ou: failure to remain listed on any of a Nasdaq Market, NYSE or AMEX;

* ou: failure to have an effective registration statement available for resale of the shares issued upon
conversion;

* failure to timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion;
* our written notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upen conversion,

* our making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appnintment
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiary;

+ bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
* a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;
* our default on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000; and

* a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purcaasers of
the: 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

We iranted the holders of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes or shares of our common stock issuedd upon
conversion of the Secured Convertible Notes valued at or in excess of $250,000 the right to participat2 in
future financing transactions. These rights were subject to the prior right of holders of at least $495,000 of our
Series A Preferred Stock to participate in future financings closed on or before December 20, 2006. The
holders of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes who qualify for participation rights in our future financing

F-31




MATRITECH, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

transactions also have the right to exchange up to 50% of the then-held principal value of their 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes for participation in the transaction, subject to an overall restriction for all holders that limits
them to an aggregate of 50% of each future financing transaction.

Under the terms of the transaction documents, we were obligated to file a registration statement covering
the shares into which the Secured Convertible Notes may be converted and the shares for which the warrants
may be exercised. The registration statement was declared effective on February 21, 2006, and we are
obligated to keep it available for resale of these shares. We filed a second registration statement in June 2006,
which was declared effective on July 12, 2006, covering resale of additional shares that may be issued as a
result of anti-dilution adjustments and to cover additional shares for exercise of warrants which could become
available to the holders. We are also obligated to keep our stock listed for trading on AMEX, NYSE or
Nasdagq. If we fail to maintain the effectiveness of these registration statements, we may be subject to
penalties, including payment of 1.5% of the consideration paid for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes for
each thirty day period of delay in registration.

The sale of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes has been deemed to be a dilutive issuance under the terms of
the warranis issued in connection with our Convertible Debentures, our Series A Preferred Stock and
accompanying March 2005 Warrants and some warrants previously issued to a placement agent. As a result,
the March 2003 Warrants became exercisable to purchase shares of our common stock at a price of $0.65 per
share. The outstanding Series A Preferred Stock became convertible into 7,156,629 shares of our commen
stock at a price of $0.70 per share, representing a current increase of 1,463,788 shares from the conversion
terms of the Series A Preferred Stock at December 31, 2005, and the March 2005 Warrants became exercisable
to purchase shares of our common stock at a price of $1.34 per share. Additionally, the exercise prices of
warrants granted in October 2003 and March 2004 to a placement agent to purchase an aggregate of
105,821 shares of our common stock were adjusted from $1.67 and $2.00 per share to $0.65 per share.

The offer and sale of securities in the January 2006 financing transaction described above were exempt
from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D
promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of
securities in this transaction represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not
with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to
the securities issued in this transaction.

The proceeds of approximately $6,998,000 and the closing costs of $1,285,000 were allocated in the
following manner:

Allocation of Allocation of

of Associated
Instrument . Proceeds Costs
2006 Secured Convertible Notes. . ... ... .. it $4,884,000 $ 912,000
Purchaser WaITants . .. ... oot i ittt e i e e et e e 1,808,000 337,000
Registration Rights Liability . .. .. ... oo 306,000 36,000

$6,998,000  $1,285,000

The allocation of the total proceeds among these elements requires us to separately record the
Registration Rights Liability at its full fair value (approximately $306,000) and then allocate the remaining
value between the Purchaser Warrants and the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes based on their relative fair
values. The fair value of the Registration Rights Liability was determined using a probability weighted
discounted cash flow technique based on the potential cash penalties, and subsequent changes in its fair value
are reflected in the statement of operations. We valued the Purchaser Warrants using the Black-Scholes pricing
mode} with the following assumptions: dividend yield of zero percent; expected volatility of 68%: risk free
interest rate of 4.14% and a term of five years.
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Total closing costs were approximately $1,285.000 and included the Agent Warrants, which we valued at
approximztely $472,000 using the same method used for valuing the Purchaser Warrants. Debt issuance costs
of $912,000 were allocated to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, have been capitalized as other assets on
our condensed consolidated balance sheet and are being amortized based on the effective interest rate method
over the term of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. The $337,000 of costs allocated to the Purchaser
Warrants were deducted from the net proceeds attributable to the Purchaser Warrants. We expensed $36,000 of
costs aliocated to the Registration Rights Liability upon the closing of this transaction.

The difference between the effective conversion price of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the fair
value of our common stock on the date of issuance of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes equals the
beneficial conversion feature calculated in accordance with EITF 00-27. The first step in this calculation
shown below divides the value allocated above to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes by the shares issued
upon comersion to determine the effective conversion price:

Face Valu:z of 2006 Secured Value Allocated to 2006 Secured

Conveniible Notes . ............ $ 6,998,000 Convertible Notes . ... ......... $ 4,884,000
Shares Upon Conversion . .. ... .... 10,766,092 Shares Upon Conversion . .. ..., ... 10,766,092
Conversion Price. . ... ........... $ 0.65 Effective Conversion Price ........ $ 0.454

The second step in this calculation, as shown below, determines the discount to market based on the
effective conversion price and uses this discount to determine the beneficial conversion feature:

Closing Price January 13,2006 . ... ... . .. . . e $ 0.73
Effective Conversion Price . . ... ... ... ... . . b 0454
Discount to Market per Share. . ... ... .. .. .. . $ 0.276
Share:s Upon Conversion . ... .. ...ttt e e e 10,766.092

Beneficial Conversion Feature . . ... ... ... . .. ..t $ 2,975.000

This beneficial conversion feature of approximately $2,975,000 was recorded as a debt discount end
resulted in a carrying value for the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes of $1,909,000 at closing. The diffzrence
between Lae carrying value recorded at closing and the $6,998,000 face value of the 2006 Secured Convertible
Notes is being accreted over their 3 year term vsing the effective interest rate method.

Whe note holders convert any of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes prior to maturity, the proportionate
share of the remaining unamortized debt discount, debt issuance costs and beneficial conversion feature related
to the amount of converted principal is charged to expense in the current period and the amount remaining is
charged to expense over the remaining term of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

For the period ended December 31, 2006, we included $419,000, (representing amortization of deferred
financing costs), and $2,338,000, (representing accretion of debt discount and beneficial conversion feature) in
interest expense.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, $880,000 of principal of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes was
converted into equity.
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A summary of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes accounting is as follows:

Proceeds at closing in January 2006 . .. ... . L o $ 6,998,000
Less:

Fair value ascribed to the Purchaser Warrants . ........... ... ... .. ... ...... (1,808,000}

Fair value of Registration Rights Liability .. ........... .. ... ... o0t (306,000)

Beneficial conversion feature calculated on date of closing and recorded as debt

AISCOUNT & o vttt et et e e e e e e e e e (2,975,000)

Carrying value at closing in January 2006. . ... ... .. oo 1,909,000
Add back:

Cumulative principal payments made instock ... ..., . o ool (880,000)

Cumulative amortization of debt discount and beneficial conversion features . .. ... 2,338,000
Balance, December 31, 2006 .. .. i e $ 3,367,000

Minimum future payments on the debenture are as follows:

Total PAYMENIS . . ..ot o ottt it e $ 7,943,000
Less: Portion related to periodic interest payments. .. ... ... i (1,825,000)

Non-cash interest related to debt discount. . . ... ... ... ... i (2,751,000)
Balance, December 31, 2006 . ... ... . $ 3,367,000
Less CUITENt POTLIOM . . oot vt vt e et e et et e et et e e e 3,299,000
LONg-term POTHON . . .o\ttt et et i $ 68,000

Notes Payable

In connection with the acquisition of ADL (now Matritech GmbH), we assumed certain debt obligations.
These obligations consisted of a third-party demand note. The note bore interest at 5.2%, and was due in
monthly installments of $4,000 and was secured by trade receivables and inventory. A key Matritech GmbH
employee paid us all amounts due under the demand note. We have recorded a corresponding asset for this
employee receivable at December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2006, these obligations were paid in full by the
Matritech GmbH employee.

In 2005 and 2006, we entered into capital lease agreements to provide us with office equipment. The
lease term of each agreement is three years. At December 31, 2006 the balance of the capital lease obligations
totaled $45,000. Capital lease obligations are recorded as notes payable in our balance sheet.

Maturities of debt obligations are as follows:

00T o o e e e e $3,317.,000
008 e e e e e 89,000
2000 . . L e e e 6,000
O Rt . v e e e e e e e e e $3,412,000
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(8) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2005 2006
Payroll and related costs . ... ........ .. it $ 747,625 $ 659809
Professional fees . .. ... . i e 222,057 218,865
Interest on Convertible Debentures and 2006 Secured Convertible
NS, . ottt e e e 4,808 880,844
Royalties . .. ... e 159,186 205,236
Other. ... 168,043 401,252

$1,301,719  $2,375,006

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate is as follows:

December 31,
2004 2005 2006

(9) Income Taxes
|
|

Inceme tax provision at federal statutory rate . .. ................... (34.00% (34.0)% (34.0)%
Permanent differences. ... . ... ... .. . e e 8.49 316 12.12
Incrzase in tax resulting from State tax provision, net of Federal benefit .. (5.15) (4.77) 1.71)
Incrzase in valuation allowance. , ... .......... ... . iriirn... 27.23 1537 1933
Expiration of carryforwards .. ... ... ... .. ... ... . 420 25.21 5.21
OHher L e e 077y @497y (0.94)
Effecivetaxrate ....... .. ... ... . i 0% 0% 0%

We follow the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, (“SFAS 109”). Under the
provisior s of SFAS 109, we recognized a current tax liability or asset for current taxes payable or refundable
and a dei'erred tax lability or asset for the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying values of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax basis and carryforwards
to the extent they are realizable. A valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than not that all or a
portion cf the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been established
for the full amount of the deferred tax asset. Of the total valuation allowance, approximately $352,000 relates
to stock ption compensation deductions. The tax benefit associated with the stock option compensation
deductions will be credited to equity when and if realized.

At December 31, 2006, we had federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”} of
approximately $79,623,000 and $36,620,000, which will, if not used, expire at various dates from 2007
through 2026. Approximately, $5,385,000 of state NOLs and $1,581,000 of federal NQLs expired in 2006. We
also have a NOL from our operation in Germany of approximately $1,753,000, which carries forward
indefinitely. At December 31, 2006, we had federal and state research and experimentation credit
carryforvrards of approximately $1,671,000 and $1,159,000, respectively, which will, if not used, expire at
various clates from 2007 through 2026. Based upon Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended,
changes in our ownership could limit the utilization of our tax attributes.
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QOur net deferred tax asset consists of the following:

December 31,

2005 2006
Net operating loss carryforwards . .. ..... ... ... .. .. ... $ 27,870,000 $ 30,034,000
Capitalized research and development expenses ................ 5,452,000 5,464,000
Tax credits . . . oot e e e e e 2,347,000 2,436,000
Deferred teVenUe . . ..o ot e e e 374,000 321,000
Other temporary differences. . . ........ .. ... .. . o oo 98,000 191,000
Deferred tax assel . . . ... . ot it i e 36,141,000 38,446,000
Valuation alloWanCe. . . oo vttt i e e e (36,141,000)  (38,446,000)
Net deferred taX @SS8L . . v vt v vttt e e e e et $ — % —

A full valuation allowance has been provided due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of the
deferred tax asset.

(10) Related Party Transactions

On November 6, 2003, a distributor of our products in South Korea acquired $500,000 of our common
stock and warrants (see Note 5, “Stockholders’ Equity™). We shipped approximately $108,000, $164,000 and
$220,000 of product to this distributor during 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Following our sale of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes {see Note 13 “Subsequent Event”), we elected two
new members of our Board of Directors. One of these individuals purchased $250,000 of the 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes and received accompanying warrants to purchase 238,095 shares of our commen stock at an
exercise price of $0.63 per share. In addition, various investment funds, of which this new Board member is
an affiliate, purchased $800,000 of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and received accompanying warrants
to purchase 761,905 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.63 per share. This new Board
member disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by each of these investment funds except to the
extent of his pecuniary interest in any of the funds. In addition, this Board member is the president of the firm
that served as our placement agent in connection with our sale of 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. For
services rendered, we paid this firm cash compensation of approximately $449,000 and issued warrants to
purchase 986,609 shares of our common stock at an initial exercise price of $0.65 per share. This Board
member personally purchased $135,000 of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and received accompanying
warrants to purchase 124,615 shares of our common stock at an initial exercise price of $0.67 per share.
Various investment funds, of which this Board member is an affiliate, purchased $1,250,000 of the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes and received accompanying warrants to purchase 1,153,846 shares of our common
stock at an initial exercise price of $0.67 per share.

(11) Segment and Geographic Information

We apply SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,
(“SFAS 131”), which establishes standards for reporting information regarding operating segments in annual
financial stalements and requires selected information for those segments to be presented in interim financial
reports issued to stockholders. SFAS 131 also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and
services and geographic areas. Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which
separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker or
decision making group, in making decistons how to allocate resources and assess performance. Our chief
decision maker, as defined under SFAS 131, is a combination of the Chief Executive Officer, the President and
the Chief Financial Officer. To date, we have viewed our operations and manage our business as principally
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one segment, the sale of diagnostic products. As a result, the financial information disclosed herein, represents
all of the material financial information related to the principal operating segment. All of our products were
shipped from our facilities located in the United States or from our facilities in Freiburg, Germany. Revenues

by destination are as follows:

Germany .......... ... . ... ..
United States ... ... it

Europe (excluding Germany). . ............
Restofworld.........................

Total sales ............ ... ...

Alliance and collaboration revenue
(United States) . .....................

Total revenue . .. ... i e

Product sales by type are as follows:

NMP22 products. .. .............oovnn.
Otherproducts .. ......... ... ... ......

Totalsales .. ... ... ... .. .. ... . . .. ...

Revenue _
2004 2008 2006 _
$ % $ T $ %
($ in 000’s)
$4,271 59% $ 5414 53% §$ 7,020 58%
2,413 33 3,932 38 4,049 33

203 3 301 3 475 4
154 2 251 2 202 2
234 3 392 4 339 3

$7.275  100% $10,290 100% $12,085 100%

208 125 110

$7,483 $10,415 $12,195
Revenue
2004 2005 2006
$ % $ % $ %
$ in 000°s)
$5,369 T4% $ 8,543 83% $11,089 92%
1906 26 1,747 17 996 8

$7,275 100% $10,290 100% $12,085  100%

Our total net fixed assets in the United States and Germany are as follows:

United States . .. ....... ... ... .........
.................. 76 9 90 12

Genmnany . ............ . .

(12) Supplemental Financial Disclosure

Revenue . . ........ .o it o
Loss from operations . ..................
Net loss attributable to commeon shareholders .
Basic/diluted net loss pershare .. ..........

Total Net Fixed Assets.

2005 2006
$ %o $ %
($ tn 000’s)
................. $805 91% $678 885

................. $881  100% $768  100%

0Q1-05 Q2-05 Q3-05 Qa-05

Unaudited
($ in 000’s, except per share amounts)

........ $2,174 $2644 $2780 $2818
........ (2,165)  (2,035)  (1,675)  (1,795)

(3,723) (1,384) (2,168) (2,218)

........ $ (0.09) § (0.03) $ (0.05) $ (0.05)




MATRITECH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Q1-06 Q2-06 Q3-06 Q4-06
Unaudited
($ in 000’s, except per share amounts)
REVEIUE . . . et e e $2909 $2823 $2830 §3,633
Loss from operations . .......... . ..coiiniennnn. (2,197  (2,306) (2,140) (1,386}
N (3,093) (3,567) (2939 (2,336}
Basic/diluted net loss pershare . . .................. $ (0.06) % (006) $ (0.05 3 (0.04)

(13) Subsequent Event

On January 19, 2007, we amended our Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock of Matritech, Inc. (the “Certificate’) with the written consent of more than 75% of
the holders of outstanding Series A Convertibte Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock™), to increase
the amount of indebtedness we may incur, assume or suffer to permit without the prior consent of the holders
of at least 75% of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock from $7,500,000 to $12,000,000. On January 22,
2007, we entered into two new agreements with the holders of a majority of outstanding principal value of our
2006 Secured Convertible Notes, a Consent under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and an Agreement and
Amendment to the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes. The execution of these two agreements was done
contemporaneously with the sale of additional convertible secured promissory notes.

The Consent allowed us to issue Series B 15% Secured Convertible Promissory Notes (the “2007 Secured
Convertible Notes” and collectively with the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes, the “Secured Convertible
Notes™), in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $4.5 million, ranking on a pari passu basis with the
2006 Secured Convertible Notes as to payment and security and allowed us to incur increased indebtedness to
cover the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes in addition to the outstanding indebtedness under the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes. The Consent also directed the collateral agent for the holders of the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes to consent to and to enter into an amendment and restatement of the existing security
agreement and contingent license agreement so that the holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes would
have a pari passu position with the holders of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

The Agreement and Amendment changed the potential events of default under the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes to include non-payment of, or default on another obligation related to, the 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes, shortened the scheduled maturity date of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes to
December 13, 2007, eliminated some Stock Payment Conditions (as defined in the 2006 Secured Convertible
Notes), including the volume trading limitation, provided for the designation by ProMed Partners, L.P. of a
representative, initially David B. Musket, to our Board of Directors and made further changes to the 2006
Secured Convertible Notes primarily to reflect events occurring since their issuance in January 2006.

On January 22, 2007, we also entered into a purchase agreement and related documents, pursuant to
which we sold the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, which were initially convertible into 6,928,572 shares of
our common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and the 2007 Purchaser Warrants to purchase up to
4,157,143 shares of our common stock, for an aggregate consideration of approximately $4.36 million (before
cash commission and expenses of approximately $520,000). The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are
convertible into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $0.63 per share of common
stock. The 2007 Purchaser Warrants, exercisable over a five year period from their date of issuance, have an
exercise price of $0.63 per share. We also issued placement agent warrants to purchase, at any time within five
years of issuance, up to 55,556 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.76 per share. Both the
conversion price and the exercise prices are subject to adjustment in the event of subsequent dilutive issuances
but only if our stockholders approve issuances below $0.63 per share.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes mature December 13, 2007 and aliow for payment of both principal
and interest in shares of our common stock, so long as stock payment conditions are satisfied. The effective
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conversicn price for payments to be made in stock is the lower of the then conversion price, currently $0.63,
or 85% of the 10 day volume weighted average price of common stock (the “10-day VWAP”) on AMEX al
the time :ny payment is due. No payments are due on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes prior to June 2007,
Interest is payable quarterly, in arrears, beginning in June 2007, and principal payments of $727,500 per month
(assuminy; no prepayment or conversion by any Note holder) are due monthly beginning in July 2007. We
cannot isiue any shares in conversion of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, whether for a conversion iritiated
by the holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes or a repayment of a portion of the 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes by us, at a price below $0.63 per share until after stockholder approval is received for
payments below that price. If we choose to prepay the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, in whole or ia part,
there will be a 25% prepayment premium due.

We raust meet all of the following stock payment conditions in order to make interest and principal
payments on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes in shares of common stock instead of cash: (i) issnance of
the shares will not result in a 2007 Secured Convertible Note holder and its affiliates owning more than 9.99%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock, unless waived by the holder; (ii) the number of shares. 10 be
issued to ali holders of Secured Convertible Notes on a specific payment date shall not exceed 20% of the
trading valume (as reported by Bloomberg) of our common stock for the period of 20 consecutive tracing days
ending on the trading day immediately prior to such payment date; (iii} our common stock is not selling at a
price befow $0.40 per share; and (iv) we have not issued any notice relating to the redemption of any
warrant(s) during the 30 day peried immediately prior to the payment date. We cannot make payment in
shares if the Effective Conversion Price is below $0.63 and our stockholders have not approved our issuance
of shares in satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes below that price. If we
are unable to make payments due in stock because we have not received stockholder approval of payments
below $0.63 per share, the interest rate on the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will be increased to 17% for
the affected payments.

While the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes are outstanding, we are restricted from incurring additional
indebtedness (other than receivables financing not to exceed 80% of receivables and equipment purchase or
lease financing not to exceed $200,000), as well as restricted from paying cash dividends and redeeming
securities. In connection with the sale of our 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, we entered into an amended
and restated security agreement and an amended and restated contingent license agreement with the collateral
agent, SDS Capital Group SPC, Ltd. As a result, our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes
are securec. by liens against certain assets related to our NMP22 product line. The security interest covers cell
lines, equipment, inventory and general intangibles related to the NMP22 product line, as well as proceeds
from the szle of the product line. We also entered into an amended and restated contingent license agreement
with the collateral agent granting license rights in the field of bladder cancer detection to some of our patents
related to the NMP22 products, sublicense rights to patents licensed to us and used in connection with the
NMP22 product line, and license rights to trademarks used exclusively in connection with the NMP22 product
line. The contingent license allows the collateral agent to rely on and use the licensed patent rights if we
default in our payment obligations under the Secured Promissory Notes relating to bankruptcy or similar
insolvency proceedings or arrangements. The license rights will terminate upon payment in full of all amounts
payable under the Secured Convertible Notes or earlier upon the expiration date of the underlying licensed
patents.

We have granted the holders of 2007 Secured Convertible Notes or shares of our common stock issued
upon conve.sien of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes valued at or in excess of $250,000 the right to
participate in future financing transactions, up to a maximum of 50% of the new transaction. Holders may not
generally exercise these rights if they have exercised similar rights under the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.
If, however, all participating holders of the Secured Convertible Notes do not elect to purchase the full 50%,
then those holders who have exercised rights under only the 2006 or the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes will
have the right to further participate based on their holdings of the other year’s Secured Convertible Notes. The
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holders of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes who qualify for participation rights in our future financing
transactions also have the right to exchange up to 50% of the then-held principal value of their 2007 Secured
Convertible Notes for participation in the transaction, subject to an overall restriction for all holders that limits
them to an aggregate of 50% of each future financing transaction.

The 2007 Secured Convertible Notes require us to pay interest and liquidated damages and may become
immediately due and payable in cash at a premium of 120% of the outstanding principal amount plus accrued
interest and damages in the event we default under their terms. Potential defaults would include, among other
things:

* our failure to make payments as they become due;
* our failure to remain listed on any of a Nasdaq Market, NYSE or AMEX;

* our failure under certain circumstances to have an effective registration statement available (after a
valid demand for registration) for resale of the shares upon conversion of the 2007 Secured Convertible
Notes;

« failure to timely remove restrictive legends from any stock certificates delivered upon conversion;
*» our written notice or public announcement of the intention not to issue shares upon convetsion;

* cur making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or applying for or consenting to the appointment
of a receiver or trustee for a substantial portion of our property or business or that of any subsidiary;

= bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings being filed by or against us or any subsidiary;
* a sale or disposition of substantially all our assets;

= our default on our existing or future liabilities in excess of $250,000 including the 2006 Secured
Convertible Notes; and

+» a breach of any material term of any other transaction document we entered into with the purchasers of
the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes.

Under the terms of the transaction documents, we may be required to file a registration statement
covering the shares into which the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes may be converted and the shares for which
the Warrants may be exercised if the purchasers holding at least 22% of the aggregate amount of securities
initially acquired in the sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Note financing, based on the conversion price in
effect at the time of filing the registration statement, demand that we file such a statement. No demand may
be made before july 22, 2007. If a demand is made, we have 90 days thereafter in which to have a registration
statement declared effective (150 days in the event of an SEC review). We are also obligated to keep our stock
listed for trading on AMEX, NYSE or Nasdaq. If, after demand, we fail to timely register the shares we have
committed to register other than if the SEC will not declare the registration statement effective due to
interpretations of Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, we may be subject to penalties, including payment
of 1.5% of the consideration paid for the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes for each thirty day period of delay
in registration. Further, we agreed to seek stockholder approval of the issuance of our common stock in
satisfaction of our obligations under the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and upon exercise of the 2007
Warrants at a conversion price or exercise price below $0.63 per share. We intend to present these matters to
our stockholders at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 8, 2007.

The sale of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and the Purchaser Warrants has been deemed to be a
dilutive issuance under the terms of our 2006 Secured Convertible Notes and the warrants issued in 2006 in
connection with the sale of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes (the “2006 Warrants™). As a result, as of
January 22, 2007 the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes became convertible at a price of $0.63 per share, and
the exercise price of the 2006 Warrants was reduced to $0.63 per share. We had previously reserved shares
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sufficient to cover this adjustment in conversion price. We have calculated an additional beneficial cenversion
charge totaling approximately $208,000 which will be recorded as a debt discount in the first quarter of 2007
and amortized as interest expense over the remaining life of the 2006 Secured Convertible Notes.

The offer and sale of securities in the transaction described above was exempt from registration under ‘the
Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D promulgated thercunder,
as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of securities in this transaction
represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in
connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the securities issued in this
transactioq.

The -aroceeds of approximately $4,365,000 and the closing costs of $543,000 were allocated in the
following manner:

Allocation of Allocation of

of Associuted
lnstmn_le_m Proceeds Costs
2007 Secured Convertible Notes. . . .. .. ... i $3,178,000 $395,000
Purckaser Warrants . ...... ... ... .. ... .. . . i 1,187,000 148,000

$4,365,000  $543,000

The total proceeds of $4,365,000 were allocated between the Purchaser Warrants and the 2007 Secured
Convertibl: Notes based on their relative fair values. We valued the Purchaser Warrants using the Black-
Scholes pr.cing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of zero percent; expected volatility of
68%; risk 1tee interest rate of 4.24% and a tert of five years.

Total losing costs were approximately $543,000 and included the Agent Warrants, which we valued at
approximately $23,000 using the same method used for valuing the Purchaser Warrants. Debt issuance costs of
$395,000 veere atlocated to the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes, have been capitalized as other assets cn our
condensed consolidated balance sheet and are being amortized based on the effective interest rate method over
the term of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes. The $148,000 of costs allocated to the Purchaser Wartants
were deducted from the net proceeds attributable to the Purchaser Warrants.

The difference between the effective conversion price of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes and the fair
value of our common stock on the date of issuance of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes equals the
beneficial conversion feature calculated in accordance with EITF 00-27. The first step in this calculation
shown belo'w divides the value allocated above to the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes by the shares issned
upon conversion to determine the effective conversion price:

Face Value of 2007 Secured Value Allocated to 2007 Secured

Convertible Notes .. ......... $4,365,000 Convertible Notes . . ....... $3,178,000
Shares Upon Conversion . ....... 6,928,571 Shares Upon Conversion . . .. .. 6,928,571
Conversion Price . . .. .......... g 0.63 Effective Conversion Price. .. .. $ 0.439

The second step in this calculation, as shown below, determines the discount to market based on the
effective corversion price and uses this discount to determine the beneficial conversion feature:

Closing Price January 22, 2007 . . ... . e e $ 0.70
Effective Conversion POCe . . ... .o e e e e e $ 0439
Discourt to Market per Share. . . .. .. ... . .. . e $ 0241
Shares Upon Conversion . ... ... .. it e 6,928,571
Beneficial Conversion Feature . . .. ... .. . . . e $1,670,000
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This beneficial conversion feature of approximately $1,670,000 was recorded as a debt discount and
resulted in a carrying value for the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes of $1,508,000 at closing. The difference
between the carrying value recorded at closing and the $4,365,000 face value of the 2007 Secured Convertible
Notes is being accreted over their 11 month term using the effective interest rate method.

When note holders convert any of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes prior to maturity, the proportionate
share of the remaining unamortized debt discount, debt issuance costs and beneficial conversion feature related
to the amount of converted principal will be charged to expense in the current period and the amount
remaining will be charged to expense over the remaining term of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes.

A summary of the 2007 Secured Convertible Notes accounting is as follows:

Proceeds at closing in January 2007 .. .. ... .. e $ 4,365,000
Less:
Fair value ascribed to the Purchaser Warrants ... ...............ccooouun... (1,187,000)
Beneficial conversion feature calculated on date of closing and recorded as debt
dISCOUNL . ...t e e e e _(1,670,000)
Carrying value at closing in January 2007 ... ... ... .. i s 1,508,000
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